Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 143 (1998) 105-193. © Springer-Verlag 1998

A Melnikov Method for Homoclinic Orbits with Many Pulses

Roberto Camassa, Gregor Kovačič & Siu-Kei Tin

Communicated by K. KIRCHGÄSSNER

Contents

1. Introduction
2. The Setup
3. The Main Result
4. The Normal Form
5. The Closeness of Tangent Spaces
6. Distance Estimates Along the Pulses
7. Distance Estimates Near the Hyperbolic Annulus
8. Estimate of the Phase Change Along a Pulse
9. Proof of the Main Result
10. Extensions
11. Application to an Atmospheric Model
12. Application to Orbits Homoclinic to Resonance Bands
13. An Example of Orbits Homoclinic to Resonance Bands
14. Conclusions
References

Abstract

We present an extension of the Melnikov method which can be used for ascertaining the existence of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits with many pulses in a class of near-integrable systems. The Melnikov function in this situation is the sum of the usual Melnikov functions evaluated with some appropriate phase delays. We show that a nonfolding condition which involves the logarithmic derivative of the Melnikov function must be satisfied in addition to the usual transversality conditions in order for homoclinic orbits with more than one pulse to exist.

1. Introduction

The intricate properties of homoclinic tangles were first known to POINCARÉ [52]. Later works of BIRKHOFF [5], CARTWRIGHT and LITTLEWOOD [8, 43, 44, 9], LEVINSON [42], SMALE [66], and MOSER [50] culminated in the discovery that homoclinic tangles are associated with a Smale horseshoe map, whereby the presence of infinitely many different periodic and aperiodic motions in a small neighborhood of the tangle can be established. In many applications, the existence of a homoclinic tangle can be ascertained by a simple regular perturbation method named after MELNIKOV [47]. Versions of this method [3, 10, 18, 19, 24–26, 41, 51, 57, 58, 74] can also be used to prove the existence of other types of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits in the context of near-integrable systems, i.e., systems that are small perturbations of completely integrable Hamiltonian systems. In each case under investigation, the Melnikov method selects the survivors under perturbation from a surface of homoclinic or heteroclinic orbits. All these orbits make one excursion away from some hyperbolic equilibrium point, periodic orbit, or invariant torus, and then return to it in infinite time.

A closer inspection of a homoclinic tangle reveals that it also contains other types of homoclinic orbits, namely, those that make more than one excursion away from their target. Such orbits are said to consist of many pulses. For most of the usual tangles associated with periodically forced planar systems, the existence of multi-pulse orbits follows almost immediately from the topology of the tangle [50]. For certain orbits homoclinic to equilibria, this existence follows from simple return-map considerations [63–65, 73, 17] However, until recently, no systematic perturbation theory in the spirit of the Melnikov method was available that would establish the existence of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits with many pulses in large classes of near-integrable systems. In this paper, we make a step in the direction of establishing just such a theory.

We present a general method for finding homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits that make several consecutive *fast* excursions away from a set of hyperbolic manifolds by constructing an extension of the Melnikov method. At the origin of our method are the ideas introduced in [6] to describe a slow manifold in an atmospheric model. We have developed these ideas into a systematic theory applicable to a large class of systems with several nonhyperbolic degrees of freedom. In particular, this theory applies to near-integrable dissipative as well as conservative systems, and to normally hyperbolic manifolds which support fast or slow dynamics. We reduce the search for multi-pulse homoclinic excursions to that of finding nondegenerate zeros of a function, $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$, of certain parameters $\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu$, which we call the *k-pulse Melnikov function*. This function is computed by a recursion procedure from the ordinary 1-pulse Melnikov function, and depends on the small perturbation parameter ε , which is at variance with the usual Melnikov method and is peculiar to the general case of fast dynamics on the hyperbolic manifold. Moreover, the dependence on ε is through a logarithmic function, which makes the calculation of the asymptotics in the small ε limit particularly delicate.

Our approach consists in tracking the evolution of the global unstable manifold of the hyperbolic manifold. After setting up a fixed neighborhood of the hyperbolic manifold, this is done by alternately following the unstable manifold outside and inside this neighborhood. We call these two alternate stages global and local tracking, respectively. In essence, our construction amounts to a rigorous matching technique, and consists mainly of careful estimates. The global tracking is similar to the well-known technique of Melnikov, but even here we can detect complications as the global unstable manifold has passed near the hyperbolic manifold several times and deformed significantly. Closeness estimates presented in Sections 4 and 5 must be used to guarantee the integrity of the leading term of the distance measurement. The local tracking is performed under a special coordinate system adapted to the hyperbolic structure. Such a normal form is implicitly contained in [13–16] and used extensively in [28-30, 32, 31, 72, 70, 71]. Our version of this normal form is a special adaptation to the Hamiltonian setting of the unperturbed vector field. The local tracking gives distance estimates for trajectories near the hyperbolic manifold. Furthermore, under the action of the center vector field, a trajectory passing near the hyperbolic manifold switches "allegiance" from one unperturbed trajectory to another. The new unperturbed orbit is selected by an estimate of the phase difference between these two unperturbed trajectories, which is one of the main objectives of the local tracking. Finally, the k-pulse Melnikov function is constructed by collecting these global and local estimates.

The local tracking is the most delicate part of the estimating process, and we had to develop a special technique for this tracking, which we present in Section 5. This technique was first introduced in [71], and its differential-geometric tools are similar to those used in the derivation of the "Exchange Lemma" in [28-31, 70, 72]. Nevertheless, there are significant differences in the geometry of the manifolds described by the Exchange Lemma and by our tracking technique, which is stated in Lemma 1. In particular, the Exchange Lemma describes the evolution of orbits that lie on a manifold which intersects transversely either the stable or the unstable manifold of a hyperbolic manifold. On the other hand, our tracking technique describes the complementary situation in which orbits evolve on a manifold that is not allowed to intersect either the stable or the unstable manifold of a hyperbolic manifold, yet these orbits enter a very small neighborhood of this hyperbolic manifold. We thus find that, if the dynamics on the hyperbolic manifold is fast, the tracked manifold can develop sharp folds as it flies by the hyperbolic manifold in this small neighborhood. We show that the position of these folds can be located by the k-pulse Melnikov function. However, once a fold develops along an orbit, it becomes an obstacle to the further tracking of the manifold nearby and hence to the calculation of the subsequent multi-pulse Melnikov functions along this orbit. This is a new development, previously unknown either in the theory of the Melnikov method or the theory of multi-pulse orbits, and leads to a new "nonfolding condition," expressed in terms of the multi-pulse Melnikov function, which the multi-pulse homoclinic orbits must satisfy.

Prior to this paper, multi-pulse homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits, not necessarily associated with homoclinic tangles or perturbation theory, have been found in various applications by very different methods, of which we mention here only a small sample. Multi-pulse homoclinic orbits and the associated chaotic dynamics in a singularly perturbed three-dimensional model of excitable membranes are described in [69]. In [53–56], variational methods are used to find single-pulse and multi-pulse homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits in periodically time-dependent Hamiltonian systems defined on multi-dimensional tori. In [1, 2], traveling-wave solutions to certain semi-parabolic systems are constructed whose wave profiles are represented by 2-pulse and 3-pulse homoclinic orbits.

Multi-pulse homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits have also recently been found with methods closely resembling the Melnikov method. In particular, a method to find 2-pulse orbits based on the so called "whisker map" was developed for planar nonautonomous systems [59], and gives a result similar to our 2-pulse Melnikov function. In systems with two degrees of freedom, homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits that make several consecutive fast excursions away from normally hyperbolic manifolds were discovered in [6, 23, 48]. The dynamics on these manifolds is fast in [6, 48], while in [23] the flow on the hyperbolic manifold is perturbed away from a manifold of equilibrium points, and thereby sustains only slow dynamics.

In a different direction, a procedure that uses the Melnikov method in the process of finding homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits with a different kind of pulses, which we henceforth call "bumps," was developed in [32] for a special class of singularly perturbed near-integrable problems with internal resonances. These multi-bump homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits make several fast excursions away from the slow hyperbolic manifolds, which are interspersed with slow segments that are close to the hyperbolic manifolds themselves.

We briefly mention applications of our extended Melnikov method to two specific problems: multi-pulse orbits in a model of the atmospheric slow manifold and orbits homoclinic to resonance bands. These problems are chosen to illustrate the different regimes in which our method can be applied, namely, the case in which the dynamics on the hyperbolic manifold is fast, as in the former, or slow, as in the latter. As mentioned above, the investigation [6] of the atmospheric slow manifold model provided the main ideas and impetus for the development of the present paper. It is within the setup of this problem that the full power of our new method is needed. In particular, the dynamics on the hyperbolic manifold in this case is fast, and the equations describing the slow manifold model can only be cast in the most general form discussed in Section 10. Moreover, k-pulse homoclinic orbits in this example exhibit another characteristic trait predicted for a large subclass of systems by our general theory, which is that cascades of (k+1)-pulse homoclinic orbits, and therefore of (k + l)-pulse homoclinic orbits for any positive integer l, accumulate on a k-pulse homoclinic orbit. As opposed to [6], where the construction of the k-pulse homoclinic orbits depends very crucially on the symmetry of the slow manifold model and on the zeros of a very specific bifurcation function, the treatment in the present paper highlights this construction as almost automatic within a much more general and conceptually simpler framework of our new method.

In the problem of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands, we use the new Melnikov method for extending the results of [37] and [36] to cover homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits with several consecutive fast pulses rather than just one. This is a typical singular perturbation problem in which there are two different time scales, and the dynamics on the hyperbolic manifold is slow. Homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits are constructed by concatenating pieces of slow-time orbits on the hyperbolic manifold and fast-time heteroclinic orbits off of this manifold. Since the motion along the hyperbolic manifold is slow in this problem, our theory simplifies considerably due to the facts that the k-pulse Melnikov function does not depend on the small parameter ε , and that the nonfolding condition is automatically satisfied and thus not needed. The k-pulse Melnikov function in this case becomes identical to the energy-phase function of [23], which, however, was derived in an entirely different fashion. Moreover, there is a conceptual difference between our approach and that of [23], which is similar to the one between the Melnikov and the Poincaré-Arnold methods in that the geometric interpretation of a signed distance measured along the normal to a homoclinic manifold replaces the estimate of the change of energy computed along unperturbed homoclinic orbits. On a more technical level, the construction of the energy-phase function developed in [23] crucially employs the details of the geometry that depends on the dynamics along the hyperbolic manifold being slow, while our derivation of the k-pulse Melnikov function avoids these details entirely at the price of the more delicate local estimates near the hyperbolic manifold. Finally, we proceed in this particular case of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands to combine our results on the k-pulse Melnikov function with those of [32], and produce criteria for ascertaining the existence of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits with several groups of consecutive pulses, interspersed with long segments that are close to the slow hyperbolic manifolds.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we discuss the setup of the problem. In Section 3 we state our main result. In Section 4 we put the system near the hyperbolic manifold in a normal form. In Section 5 we present the nonfolding condition and the resulting closeness estimates between the tangent spaces of the local unstable manifold of the normally hyperbolic manifold and the tangent spaces of manifolds of appropriate dimensions that fly near the normally hyperbolic manifold. In Section 6, we compute the distance between a manifold that exits a small neighborhood of the hyperbolic manifold and the unstable manifold of the hyperbolic manifold in terms of their distance at the exit time. In Section 7 we compute the distance between a manifold that flies through a small neighborhood of the hyperbolic manifold and the unstable manifold of the hyperbolic manifold in terms of the distance between the first manifold and the stable manifold of the hyperbolic manifold. In Section 8 we compute estimates for the phase differences experienced by trajectories flying close to the hyperbolic manifold and coming back to it after a pulse. In Section 9 we prove our main result. In Section 10 we discuss some important extensions of this result to the case of multiple normally hyperbolic manifolds connected by heteroclinic manifolds, and to the case of more that one nonhyperbolic degree of freedom. In Sections 11 through 13, we discuss the applications to multi-pulse orbits in a model of an atmospheric slow manifold and orbits homoclinic to resonance bands. Finally, conclusions are presented in Section 14.

2. The Setup

The systems we study have the form

$$\dot{x} = JD_x H(x, I) + \varepsilon g^x(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon), \qquad (2.1a)$$

$$\dot{I} = \varepsilon g^{I}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon),$$
 (2.1b)

$$\dot{\theta} = \Omega(x, I) + \varepsilon g^{\theta}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon),$$
 (2.1c)

where $x = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $I \in \mathbb{R}$, and $\theta \in S^1$. Furthermore, D_x denotes the partial derivatives with respect to x, D_I is the partial derivative with respect to I, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ is a real parameter, $\varepsilon \ll 1$ is a small parameter, and $J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. We let $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denote the usual Euclidean inner product in \mathbb{R}^n , where *n* is the dimension of the vectors in the arguments, and denote by $\|\cdot\|$ the induced Euclidean norm, as well as the corresponding matrix norm.

In the special case of a purely Hamiltonian perturbation, which arises when the entire system is derived from the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon) = H(x, I) + \varepsilon H_1(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon), \qquad (2.2)$$

the system (2.1) has the form

.

$$\dot{x} = JD_x H(x, I) + \varepsilon JD_x H_1(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon), \qquad (2.3a)$$

$$\dot{I} = -\varepsilon D_{\theta} H_1(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon), \qquad (2.3b)$$

$$\dot{\theta} = D_I H(x, I) + \varepsilon D_I H_1(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon).$$
(2.3c)

The unperturbed system is obtained by setting $\varepsilon = 0$ in the equations (2.1):

$$\dot{x} = J D_x H(x, I), \tag{2.4a}$$

$$\dot{I} = 0, \tag{2.4b}$$

$$\dot{\theta} = \Omega(x, I).$$
 (2.4c)

Equation (2.4a) is a one-parameter family of Hamiltonian systems in the variable x and can be analyzed independently of θ . Once equation (2.4a) has been solved, equation (2.4c) can be solved by quadrature.

We now make two assumptions about the unperturbed equations (2.4). The first assumption concerns their smoothness.

Assumption 1. The unperturbed Hamiltonian H(x, I) is a real-analytic function of its arguments.

This assumption is purely technical. In particular, it allows us to make the normal form estimates in the rest of the paper a bit less cumbersome. In fact, with appropriate changes in our estimates, we could use the results of [4, 11, 61, 67, 68] to get rid of this assumption altogether, and replace it by the requirement that H(x, I) has a finite number k of partial derivatives, k > 2.

The second assumption introduces the presence of homoclinic orbits in the phase space of equations (2.4):

Assumption 2. For every I with $I_1 < I < I_2$, equation (2.4a) possesses a hyperbolic equilibrium x = X(I), which varies continuously with I, and whose stable and unstable manifolds, $W^s(X(I))$ and $W^u(X(I))$, intersect along a homoclinic orbit W(X(I)) connecting the equilibrium at x = X(I) to itself.

Because of the hyperbolicity of the equilibrium x = X(I), the Jacobian $JD_x^2H(X(I), I)$ must have a pair of nonzero real eigenvalues, say $\pm\lambda(I)$. Moreover, the implicit function theorem for analytic functions immediately implies that the vector X(I) depends on the variable I analytically. Since the system (2.4a) is autonomous, all the solutions on the homoclinic orbit W(X(I)) have a representation of the form $x^h(t - t_0, I)$, and a consistent parametrization of individual orbits in the manifold W(X(I)) is obtained by setting $t_0 = 0$ and varying t.

In the full four-dimensional (x, I, θ) -phase space of the system (2.4), each equilibrium X(I) corresponds to a periodic orbit O^I parametrized by the solution

$$x = X(I), \quad I = I, \quad \theta = \Omega(X(I), I)t + \theta_0.$$
(2.5)

Each of these periodic orbits possesses two-dimensional stable and unstable manifolds, $W^s(O^I)$ and $W^u(O^I)$, that are the Cartesian products of the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(X(I))$ and $W^u(X(I))$ of the equilibrium X(I) and the angle θ . The existence of the homoclinic manifolds W(X(I)) implies that the manifolds $W^s(O^I)$ and $W^u(O^I)$ coincide along a two-dimensional homoclinic manifold $W(O^I)$.

Taking the union of the orbits O^I over all $I_1 < I < I_2$, we obtain a twodimensional invariant annulus, which we denote by \mathscr{M} ; see Figure 2.1. The annulus \mathscr{M} possesses three-dimensional stable and unstable manifolds, $W^s(\mathscr{M})$ and $W^u(\mathscr{M})$, which intersect along the three-dimensional homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$. All these manifolds are the unions of the manifolds $W^s(O^I)$, $W^u(O^I)$, and $W(O^I)$ along the interval $I_1 < I < I_2$. The homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$ is parametrized by t, I, and θ_0 in the solutions

$$x = x^h(t, I), (2.6a)$$

$$I = I, (2.6b)$$

$$\theta = \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0 = \int_0^t \Omega(x^h(s, I), I) ds + \theta_0.$$
(2.6c)

The homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ can also be represented implicitly by the equation

$$H(x, I) - H(X(I), I) = 0,$$
(2.7)



Fig. 2.1. The invariant annulus \mathcal{M} and its three-dimensional homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ are the Cartesian product of a circle with a curve segment filled with equilibria, and its two-dimensional homoclinic manifold.

which holds on the annulus \mathcal{M} at x = X(I) and, hence, also on the homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$.

As mentioned above, orbits (2.6) are homoclinic to the periodic orbits (2.5). In the course of the flight along such a homoclinic orbit, the asymptotic phase changes by the amount

$$\Delta\theta(I) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left[\Omega(x^h(s, I), I) - \Omega(X(I), I) \right] ds.$$
 (2.8)

This integral converges because $x^h(t, I)$ converges to X(I) exponentially fast as $t \to \pm \infty$.

3. The Main Result

A substantial part of the hyperbolic structure introduced in the previous section persists for small positive ε . In particular, persistence results from [13–15] show that the unperturbed annulus \mathscr{M} persists together with its *local stable and unstable manifolds*, $W_{loc}^{s}(\mathscr{M})$ and $W_{loc}^{u}(\mathscr{M})$, that is, the connected pieces of the stable and unstable manifolds $W^{s}(\mathscr{M})$ and $W^{u}(\mathscr{M})$ that are contained in some small enough neighborhood of \mathscr{M} and intersect along \mathscr{M} . This ensures the existence of an $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ close, non-unique, locally invariant annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and its local stable and unstable manifolds $W_{loc}^{s}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W_{loc}^{u}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, which are $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ close to the local manifolds $W_{loc}^{s}(\mathscr{M})$ and $W_{loc}^{u}(\mathscr{M})$. The tangent spaces of the respective manifolds are also $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close. Local invariance of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ reflects the fact that $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ may leak phase points through its boundary, and is also responsible for the nonuniqueness of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. This nonuniqueness does not present any major difficulties, since all the copies of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ must contain all the invariant sets that are contained in any one of them, thus rendering unique the objects of our interest, homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits; see [37]. In the case of equations (2.3), when the perturbation is also derived from a Hamiltonian, the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and its stable and unstable manifolds $W^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ can be made invariant, and therefore also unique; see [36].

We obtain the global stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ by evolving initial conditions in the local manifolds $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u_{loc}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ in backward and forward time, respectively; see, for instance, [19] or [74]. The manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ are also only locally invariant. The annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and the manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ vary smoothly with ε , and collapse onto their unperturbed counterparts as $\varepsilon \to 0$. In particular, the perturbed annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ can be written as a graph over the I and θ variables in the form

$$x = X_{\varepsilon}(I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon) \tag{3.1}$$

for some smooth function $X_{\varepsilon}(I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$ with $X_0(I, \theta, \mu, 0) = X(I)$.

For what is to follow, we need several definitions. First, we define the Melnikov function, $M(I, \theta_0, \mu)$, which is given by the integral

$$M(I,\theta_0,\mu) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}(\mathscr{P}^h(t)), \, \boldsymbol{g}(\mathscr{P}^h(t),\mu,0) \right\rangle dt, \qquad (3.2)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{n} = (D_x H(x, I), D_I H(x, I) - D_I H(X(I), I), 0),$$

$$\boldsymbol{g} = (g^x(x, I, \theta, \mu, 0), g^I(x, I, \theta, \mu, 0), g^\theta(x, I, \theta, \mu, 0)), \quad (3.3)$$

$$\mathscr{P}^h(t) = (x^h(t, I), I, \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0),$$

is any unperturbed homoclinic orbit given by equation (2.6) along which the integrand is evaluated; see, for instance, [74]. The vector \mathbf{n} is the normal to the homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$, and is computed from equation (2.7) as the gradient of its left-hand side.

Second, we define the signature σ of the normal n by

$$\sigma = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\langle \mathbf{n}(\mathscr{P}^{h}(t)), \dot{\mathscr{P}}^{h}(-t) \rangle}{||D_{x}H(x^{h}(t,I),I)|| ||D_{x}H(x^{h}(-t,I),I)||} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\langle D_{x}H(x^{h}(t,I),I), JD_{x}H(x^{h}(-t,I),I) \rangle}{||D_{x}H(x^{h}(t,I),I)|| ||D_{x}H(x^{h}(-t,I),I)||} .$$
(3.4)

Therefore σ is positive if the normal n to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ points in the direction of the unperturbed flow on the unstable manifold $W^{u}(\mathcal{M})$ at a point $(X(I), I, \theta)$ in \mathcal{M} , and negative otherwise. Notice that $\sigma \neq 0$ due to the transversality of the intersection between the manifolds $W^{s}(X(I))$ and $W^{u}(X(I))$ at the equilibria X(I).

We also define the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), k = 1, 2, ...,$ as

R. CAMASSA, G. KOVAČIČ & SIU-KEI TIN

$$M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} M(I, j \Delta \theta(I) + \mathscr{T}_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) + \theta_0, \mu), \qquad (3.5)$$

where

$$\mathscr{T}_{j}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \frac{\Omega(X(I), I)}{\lambda(I)} \sum_{r=1}^{j} \log \left| \frac{\varsigma(I)}{\varepsilon M_{r}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)} \right|,$$
(3.6)

for j = 1, ..., k - 1 and $\mathcal{F}_0(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = 0$. Thus, the 1-pulse Melnikov function $M_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ coincides with the standard Melnikov function $M(I, \theta_0, \mu)$ given by equation (3.2). The function $\varsigma(I)$ is defined by the Jacobian of the vector field (2.4a) at the equilibrium point x = X(I) as

$$\varsigma(I) = \frac{2(\lambda(I))^2 |A_2(I)| f_+(I) f_-(I)}{\sqrt{\left[\left(A_2(I)\right)^2 + \left(\lambda(I) - A_0(I)\right)^2\right] \left[\left(A_2(I)\right)^2 + \left(\lambda(I) + A_0(I)\right)^2\right]}},$$
(3.7)

with

$$A_{0}(I) = D_{x_{1}}D_{x_{2}}H(X(I), I), \quad A_{1}(I) = D_{x_{1}}^{2}H(X(I), I),$$

$$A_{2}(I) = D_{x_{2}}^{2}H(X(I), I),$$

$$f_{+}(I) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)}e^{\lambda(I)t} \|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|,$$

$$f_{-}(I) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)}e^{-\lambda(I)t} \|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|. \quad (3.8)$$

We remark that if for some *I* the frequency $\omega(I) = \Omega(X(I), I)$ vanishes, that is, if the periodic orbit corresponding to that *I* degenerates into a circle of equilibria, the contribution from the functions $\mathscr{T}_{I}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)$ vanishes identically.

We are now ready to state our main result:

Theorem 1. For some integer k, some constant B > 0 independent of ε , some $I = \overline{I}$, some $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and all sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ let there exist a function $\theta_0 = \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$, such that the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. The k-pulse Melnikov function has a simple zero in θ_0 , i.e., $M_k(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \overline{\mu}) = 0$, and $|D_{\theta_0}M_k(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \overline{\mu})| > B$.
- 2. $M_i(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\theta_0}(\varepsilon), \overline{\mu}) \neq 0$ for all i = 1, ..., k 1, k > 1, and is positive if the signature σ of the normal **n** is positive, and negative if σ is negative.
- 3. For all i = 1, ..., k 1, k > 1,

$$\left|\frac{1-\frac{\Omega(X(\bar{I}),\bar{I})}{\lambda(\bar{I})}D_{\theta_{0}}\log\left|M_{1}M_{2}\dots M_{i}\right|\left(\varepsilon,\bar{I},\bar{\theta}_{0}(\varepsilon),\bar{\mu}\right)}{1-\frac{\Omega(X(\bar{I}),\bar{I})}{\lambda(\bar{I})}D_{\theta_{0}}\log\left|M_{1}M_{2}\dots M_{i-1}\right|\left(\varepsilon,\bar{I},\bar{\theta}_{0}(\varepsilon),\bar{\mu}\right)}\right| > B, \quad (3.9)$$

where the denominator in (3.9) is defined to be 1 when i = 1.

114

Then for all I close to \overline{I} , all μ close to $\overline{\mu}$, and all sufficiently small ε , there exists a two-dimensional intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\overline{\theta}_{0})$ along which the stable and unstable manifolds $W^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ intersect transversely at an angle of size $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$. Moreover, outside of a small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$, the surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\overline{\theta}_{0})$ is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close to the surface spanned by the union of orbits (2.6) selected by the phase angles

$$\theta_0 = \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu) + j\Delta\theta(I) + \mathscr{T}_i(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu)$$

for j = 0, ..., k - 1, where the triple $(I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu)$ identically satisfies the equation

$$M_k(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu) = 0$$

in some neighborhood of $I = \overline{I}$ and $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and $\hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\mu}) = \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$.

The next five sections will be devoted to proving this theorem. Its extensions are presented in Section 10.

We make four remarks concerning the usage of the theorem. First, if the region enclosed by the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ is convex, the sign choice dictated by σ in the second condition of Theorem 1 is equivalent to requiring that the sign of $M_i(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \overline{\mu}) \neq 0, i = 1, ..., k - 1, k > 1$, be positive if the normal **n** to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ points into the region enclosed by this manifold, and negative if the normal points out of this region.

Second, in the general case $\Omega(X(\bar{I}), \bar{I}) \neq 0$ the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu})$ does not have a limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, and likewise the intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ does not collapse onto a limiting surface spanned by unperturbed orbits. This is in contrast to the special case of resonance, namely, $\Omega(X(\bar{I}), \bar{I}) = 0$, where the *k*-pulse Melnikov function is independent of ε and, as discussed in Section 12, the surfaces $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ do collapse onto well-defined limiting surfaces. The limit process from the general case to the case of resonance is somewhat delicate, and the details are given in Section 12.

Our third remark concerns the calculation of the zeros of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function for the specific case of a single angle $\theta \in S^1$ and a homoclinic orbit when $\Omega(X(I), I) \neq 0$. Namely, although the *k*-pulse Melnikov function constitutes the leading term of the distance between the stable and unstable manifolds, $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ only for ε sufficiently small, it should be clear from its definition that it *can be* defined for large ε , say $\varepsilon = \mathcal{O}(1)$. Because of its periodicity in the argument θ_0 for this single-angle case, the *k*-pulse Melnikov function enjoys the property that

$$M_k(\varepsilon_n, I, \theta_0, \mu) = M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \quad \varepsilon_n = \varepsilon \exp\left(-2n\pi \frac{\lambda(I)}{\Omega(X(I), I)}\right) \quad (3.10)$$

for any I, θ_0 , μ , and any integer n. This property is easily proved by induction together with the formula

$$\mathscr{T}_{k}(\varepsilon_{n}, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \mathscr{T}_{k}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) + 2kn\pi.$$
(3.11)

From (3.10), it follows that we have full knowledge of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function for any $\varepsilon > 0$ after we have analyzed it for all ε inside some compact interval, say from $\exp\left(-2\pi\lambda(\bar{I})/\Omega(X(\bar{I}),\bar{I})\right)$ to 1. In particular, if the assumptions of Theorem 1 are satisfied on this interval, they are satisfied for all $\varepsilon > 0$. Furthermore, we can see that the simple-zero requirement in the first condition of Theorem 1 and the nonfolding condition (3.9) can be replaced by the simpler conditions

$$D_{\theta_0} M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu}) \neq 0,$$
$$\frac{\Omega(X(\bar{I}), \bar{I})}{\lambda(\bar{I})} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \dots M_i| (\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu}) \neq 1,$$

respectively, for all ε in this compact interval.

Our fourth remark concerns some further interesting consequences of Theorem 1. Suppose the Melnikov function $M(I, \theta_0, \mu)$ given by equation (3.2) changes sign as θ_0 varies over a period in S^1 , and assume that a zero $\hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu) \equiv \bar{\theta}_0^{(k)}$ of the k-pulse Melnikov function given by (3.5) has been determined. Then, for the (k + 1)-pulse Melnikov function the θ -argument diverges as $\theta_0 \rightarrow \bar{\theta}_0^{(k)}$ owing to the vanishing of $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ in the definition (3.6) of the angle \mathcal{K} (where $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ appears as the argument of a logarithm). Since the k-pulse Melnikov function is periodic in the θ -argument for all k, $M_{k+1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ oscillates wildly for θ_0 in a neighborhood of $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k)}$. Hence, there exists an infinite sequence of zeros $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k+1)}$ of $M_{k+1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$, which accumulate on $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k)}$ from both sides. This argument can of course be iterated for any of the zeros $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k+1)}$, leading to an analogous conclusion for $M_{k+2}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ and so on. This suggests that whenever the existence of a certain k-pulse homoclinic orbit has been established, an entire (infinite) cascade of higher pulse homoclinic orbits in a neighborhood of this k-pulse homoclinic should also exist. However, our estimates in the proof of Theorem 1 do not allow us to treat the limit $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k+1)} \rightarrow \bar{\theta}_0^{(k)}$ and conclude that an *infinite* number of (k + 1)-pulse homoclinic orbits exist. A version of the estimates probably can be established so that this limit can be treated, but we leave this to future work. Notice that by reducing the size of ε , Theorem 1 can be applied to an increasingly large number of the zeros $\bar{\theta}_0^{(k+1)}$, and the existence of corresponding (k+1)-pulse homoclinic orbits can be established. It is also interesting to note that once a k-pulse homoclinic orbit has been detected, orbits with higher numbers of pulses can be constructed by using the Exchange Lemma [31]. The analysis of the relation between these orbits and the (k+l)-pulse orbits (l > 0) determined by the (k + l)-pulse Melnikov function will be relegated to future work.

4. The Normal Form

In this section we describe a coordinate change that brings equations (2.1) locally near the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ into a normal form, closely related to Fenichel normal form [16]. We use this normal form to derive estimates that allow us to track orbits as they enter and leave a small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. These estimates are derived in Proposition 4.2, and further refined in Sections 5 to 10. Our normal form is a more restrictive case of the Fenichel normal form, and is needed in order to successfully carry out the proof of Proposition 7.1. This proposition is crucial for connecting a certain distance estimate at the entrance of an orbit into the small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$, with a similar distance estimate at the exit of the neighborhood.

The coordinate change leading to our normal form is described in

Proposition 4.1. In a neighborhood of the perturbed annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, there exist smooth local coordinates $a_{\varepsilon} = a_{\varepsilon}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$, $b_{\varepsilon} = b_{\varepsilon}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$, $I_{\varepsilon} = I_{\varepsilon}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$, and $\psi_{\varepsilon} = \psi_{\varepsilon}(x, I, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$, with $a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\psi_{\varepsilon} \in S^1$, such that, at $\varepsilon = 0$, $a_0 \equiv a = a(x, I)$, $b_0 \equiv b = b(x, I)$, and equations (2.1) can be written in the normal form

$$\dot{a}_{\varepsilon} = \left[\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon f_a(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)\right] a_{\varepsilon}, \tag{4.1a}$$

$$\dot{b}_{\varepsilon} = \left[-\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon f_b(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)\right]b_{\varepsilon},$$
(4.1b)

$$I_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \left[f_I(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon) + g_I(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon) a_{\varepsilon} b_{\varepsilon} \right],$$
(4.1c)

$$\psi_{\varepsilon} = \omega(I_{\varepsilon}) + \Psi(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \Big[f_{\psi}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon) + g_{\psi}(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}\Big],$$
(4.1d)

where $\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) = D_{a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}}K(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon})$ for some analytic function $K(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon})$, and $\omega(I) = \Omega(X(I), I)$. The numbers $\pm \lambda(0, I)$ are, with a slight abuse of notation, the two eigenvalues of the linearization of system (2.4a) about the equilibrium x = X(I), i.e., $\lambda(0, I) = \lambda(I)$. In these local coordinates, the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is defined by $a_{\varepsilon} = b_{\varepsilon} = 0$, and its local stable and unstable manifolds $W^{s}_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^{u}_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ are defined by $a_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and $b_{\varepsilon} = 0$, respectively.

Proof. We begin by recalling the structure of the unperturbed system (2.4), in particular the fact that the equation for the *x* coordinate is decoupled from the rest of the system, and that the θ coordinate can be obtained by a quadrature. This structure suggests that we first transform the *x* coordinate in a small neighborhood of the annulus \mathcal{M} , that is, in a small neighborhood of the equilibrium at x = X(I) of the equation (2.4a). We translate this equilibrium to the origin by using the analytic (canonical) transformation u = x - X(I), $\phi = \theta - \langle u, J \frac{dX(I)}{dI} \rangle$.

Using the results of [49] and [60] (see also [62, Secs. 16, 17]), we can then make another analytic canonical coordinate change which replaces u by the two coordinates a(u, I) and b(u, I) such that the Hamiltonian H(x, I) = H(u + X(I), I)becomes $K(ab, I) = F(I) + \lambda(0, I)ab + \mathcal{O}((ab)^2)$ for F(I) = H(X(I), I)and some analytic function K of two real variables. Thus, equations (2.4) may be rewritten as

$$\dot{a} = \lambda(ab, I)a, \tag{4.2a}$$

$$\dot{b} = -\lambda(ab, I)b, \tag{4.2b}$$

R. CAMASSA, G. KOVAČIČ & SIU-KEI TIN

$$\dot{I} = 0, \tag{4.2c}$$

$$\dot{\phi} = \omega(I) + \Theta_a(a, b, I)a + \Theta_b(a, b, I)b, \qquad (4.2d)$$

where $\lambda(ab, I) = D_{ab}K(ab, I)$, and $\omega(I) = \Omega(X(I), I)$. The form of equation (4.2d) follows from the fact that $\dot{\phi} = \omega(I)$ for a = b = 0. Clearly, *ab* is a conserved quantity for equations (4.2).

We replace the angle ϕ by another angle ψ such that $\psi - \omega(I)t$ is constant along orbits in the hyperplanes a = 0 and b = 0, which implies that system (4.2) becomes

$$\dot{a} = \lambda(ab, I)a,\tag{4.3a}$$

$$\dot{b} = -\lambda(ab, I)b, \tag{4.3b}$$

$$\dot{I} = 0, \tag{4.3c}$$

$$\dot{\psi} = \omega(I) + \Psi(a, b, I)ab. \tag{4.3d}$$

This is done in a smooth fashion in the following way. On the hyperplane b = 0, equations (4.2a) and (4.2d) combine into the equation

$$\frac{d(\phi - \omega(I)t)}{da} = \frac{\Theta_a(a, 0, I)}{\lambda(0, I)},$$

so that

$$\phi = \omega(I)t + \phi_0 + \frac{1}{\lambda(0, I)} \int_0^a \Theta_a(s, 0, I) \, ds.$$

Likewise, on the hyperplane a = 0, we obtain the equation

$$\phi = \omega(I)t + \phi_0 - \frac{1}{\lambda(0, I)} \int_0^b \Theta_b(0, s, I) \, ds.$$

If we take

$$\psi = \phi - \frac{1}{\lambda(0,I)} \left[\int_0^a \Theta_a(s,0,I) \, ds - \int_0^b \Theta_b(0,s,I) \, ds \right] \equiv \mathscr{G}(x,I), \quad (4.4)$$

the angle ψ satisfies equation (4.3d).

For small nonzero ε , the results of [14] and [15] imply that we can choose in a smooth fashion new coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} a_{\varepsilon} &= a_{\varepsilon}(a, b, I, \psi, \mu, \varepsilon) = a + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \\ b_{\varepsilon} &= b_{\varepsilon}(a, b, I, \psi, \mu, \varepsilon) = b + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \\ I_{\varepsilon} &= I_{\varepsilon}(a, b, h, \psi, \mu, \varepsilon) = I + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \\ \psi_{\varepsilon} &= \psi_{\varepsilon}(a, b, I, \psi, \mu, \varepsilon) = \psi + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \end{aligned}$$

such that the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is at $a_{\varepsilon} = b_{\varepsilon} = 0$, that the local stable and unstable manifolds $W^s_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ are at $a_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and $b_{\varepsilon} = 0$, respectively, and that the equations describing the dynamics of the I_{ε} and ψ_{ε} variables in the hyperplanes $a_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and $b_{\varepsilon} = 0$ are still independent of the a_{ε} and b_{ε} variables. These requirements imply equations (4.1). \Box

Equations (4.1) are a special case of the Fenichel normal form; see [14–16] and also [23, 32, 70].

We now define the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ to be

$$U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}) = \{ (a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}) \mid |a_{\varepsilon}| < \delta, |b_{\varepsilon}| < \delta, I_{1} < I_{\varepsilon} < I_{2} \},\$$

and proceed to prove some important estimates that will be used throughout this paper:

Proposition 4.2. Let the trajectory $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(t) = (a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t), \psi_{\varepsilon}(t))$ enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at t = 0 at a distance $c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$ from the stable manifold $a_{\varepsilon} = 0$ of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$, where α and c are some positive numbers. Then there exist positive constants C, D, E, P, Q, and R, which only depend on α and c such that while this trajectory stays in the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ the following estimates hold:

1. For small enough ε , the time of flight T through the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the trajectory $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ satisfies the double inequality

$$\frac{\alpha \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log \frac{c}{\delta}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))} \left[1 - C\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \right] < T$$

$$< \frac{\alpha \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log \frac{c}{\delta}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))} \left[1 + C\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \right].$$
(4.5)

2. Let 0 < s < t < T. Then the a_{ε} and b_{ε} coordinates of the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ at times t and s satisfy the double inequalities

$$|a_{\varepsilon}(s)| \exp\left(\left[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon)\right)\right](t-s)\right) < |a_{\varepsilon}(t)|$$

$$< |a_{\varepsilon}(s)| \exp\left(\left[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon)\right)\right](t-s)\right), \quad (4.6a)$$

$$|b_{\varepsilon}(s)| \exp\left(\left[-\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon)\right)\right](t-s)\right) < |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| < |b_{\varepsilon}(s)| \exp\left(\left[-\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon)\right)\right](t-s)\right).$$
(4.6b)

3. For 0 < t < T, the I coordinate of the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ satisfies the inequality

$$|I_{\varepsilon}(t) - I_{\varepsilon}(0)| < P\varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}.$$
(4.7)

4. For 0 < t < T, the ψ coordinate of the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ satisfies the inequality

$$|\psi_{\varepsilon}(t) - \psi_{\varepsilon}(0) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon})t| < Q\varepsilon \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} + R\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}.$$
 (4.8)

We remark that $b_{\varepsilon}(0) = \delta$ and $a_{\varepsilon}(T) = \delta$ in this proposition.

Proof of Proposition 4.2. Let κ be any number that satisfies the inequality

$$\kappa < \min \left\{ \lambda(ab, I) \mid |a| < \delta, |b| < \delta, I_1 \leq I \leq I_2 \right\}.$$

Then the expression $\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon f_a(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)$ in equation (4.1a) can be bounded from below by κ for small enough ε , so that $|a_{\varepsilon}(t)|$ satisfies the exponential estimate $|a_{\varepsilon}(t)| > |a_{\varepsilon}(0)|e^{\kappa t}$. Since $|a_{\varepsilon}(0)| = c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$, we must have the estimate $T = \mathcal{O}(\log(1/\varepsilon))$. After taking the supremum on the right-hand side of equation (4.1c), we immediately conclude that the inequality (4.7) holds, which proves part 3 of the proposition.

Multiplying equation (4.1a) by b_{ε} , equation (4.1b) by a_{ε} , and adding, we conclude that

$$(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}) = \varepsilon f(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \phi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}$$

for some smooth function $f(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \phi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon)$. Taking the supremum over this function, using the fact that $T = \mathcal{O}(\log(1/\varepsilon))$, and integrating, we obtain the inequality

$$|a_{\varepsilon}(0)| |b_{\varepsilon}(0)| \varepsilon^{D\varepsilon} < |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| < |a_{\varepsilon}(0)| |b_{\varepsilon}(0)| \varepsilon^{-D\varepsilon}$$
(4.9)

for 0 < t < T. Using equations $|a_{\varepsilon}(0)| = c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$ and $|b_{\varepsilon}(0)| = \delta$, we conclude from (4.9) that

$$|a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| < c\delta\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon}.$$
(4.10)

Refining our first estimate using inequalities (4.7) and (4.10), we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) &< \lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon f_{a}(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon) \\ &< \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} -\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) &< -\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon f_{b}(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \mu, \varepsilon) \\ &< -\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \end{aligned}$$

along the entire piece of trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ that is inside the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. These two inequalities prove the estimates (4.6), and thus part 2 of the proposition.

We now let s = 0 and t = T in the first inequality in formula (4.6a), together with the equations $|a_{\varepsilon}(0)| = c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$ for some positive constant c and $|a_{\varepsilon}(T)| = \delta$, to show that

$$T < \frac{\alpha \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log \frac{c}{\delta}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)} < \frac{\alpha \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log \frac{c}{\delta}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))} \left[1 + C\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)\right],$$

120

which holds if ε is small enough. Similarly, we let s = 0 and t = T in the second inequality in formula (4.6a) to show that

$$T > \frac{\alpha \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} - \log \frac{c}{\delta}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))} \left[1 - C \left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right) \right]$$

This proves part 1 of the proposition.

To prove part 4 of the proposition, we set up the inequality

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi_{\varepsilon}(t) - \psi_{\varepsilon}(0) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0))t| \\ < \int_{0}^{T} |\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(t)) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0))| dt \\ + \int_{0}^{T} |\Psi(a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t))| |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| dt \\ + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} |f_{\psi}(I_{\varepsilon}(t), \psi_{\varepsilon}(t), \mu, \varepsilon) \\ + g_{\psi}(a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t), \psi_{\varepsilon}(t), \mu, \varepsilon) a_{\varepsilon}(t)b_{\varepsilon}(t)| dt, \end{aligned}$$
(4.11)

which follows from equation (4.1d). The first term on the right-hand side of this inequality can be estimated to be of size $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon(\log(1/\varepsilon))^2)$ by using the inequality (4.7) and the second inequality in formula (4.5) without the term $-\log(c/\delta)$. Taking suprema over the functions involved in the integrand of the last term, we likewise conclude that this term is of size $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$. The first and the last term together can therefore be bounded above by the expression $Q\varepsilon(\log(1/\varepsilon))^2$.

The middle term on the right-hand side of the inequality (4.11) is estimated by using formula (4.10), taking the supremum of the function $\Psi(a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t))$ over the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, integrating in time, and omitting the term $-\log(c/\delta)$ in the second inequality (4.5). We conclude that

$$\int_0^T |\Psi(a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t))| |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| dt < R \varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$$

Combined with the upper bound $Q\varepsilon(\log(1/\varepsilon))^2$ for the first and third terms in the inequality (4.11), this estimate yields formula (4.8), and thus proves part 4 of the proposition.

5. The Closeness of Tangent Spaces

In the following sections we will compute the distance between the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ by an extension of the Melnikov method. In particular, we will follow the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ as it winds in and out of a small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, and measure its distance from the stable manifold $W^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. In order not to confuse this winding piece of the unstable manifold with a local piece of this manifold, we denote it by \mathscr{S} . In this section, we derive a closeness estimate between the tangent spaces of the manifolds \mathscr{S} and $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and the tangent spaces of the manifolds \mathscr{S} and $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the points where the manifold \mathscr{S} enters and exits the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, respectively (see Figure 5.1).



Fig. 5.1. A portion of the manifold \mathscr{L} as it enters and leaves the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$.

We begin by deriving the equations of variation along a trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ from the equations (4.1). Here the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ is as in Proposition 4.2. Throughout this section, we omit arguments of functions to prevent formulas from becoming unwieldy. In particular, we write $\lambda(a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon})$ simply as λ . The equations of variation are

$$d\dot{a}_{\varepsilon} = (\lambda + \varepsilon f_a) da_{\varepsilon} + a_{\varepsilon} \left(D_{\zeta_{\varepsilon}} \lambda d\zeta_{\varepsilon} + D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \lambda dI_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \langle \nabla f_a, dX \rangle \right), \quad (5.1a)$$

$$d\dot{b_{\varepsilon}} = (-\lambda + \varepsilon f_b)db_{\varepsilon} + b_{\varepsilon} \left(-D_{\zeta_{\varepsilon}}\lambda d\zeta_{\varepsilon} - D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\lambda dI_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \langle \nabla f_b, dX \rangle \right), \quad (5.1b)$$

$$d\dot{I}_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \left(D_{I_{\varepsilon}} f_{I} dI_{\varepsilon} + D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} f_{I} d\psi_{\varepsilon} + g_{I} d\zeta_{\varepsilon} + \zeta_{\varepsilon} \langle \nabla g_{I}, dX \rangle \right),$$
(5.1c)

$$d\dot{\psi}_{\varepsilon} = D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\omega dI_{\varepsilon} + \Psi d\zeta_{\varepsilon} + \zeta_{\varepsilon} \left(D_{a_{\varepsilon}}\Psi da_{\varepsilon} + D_{b_{\varepsilon}}\Psi db_{\varepsilon} + D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\Psi dI_{\varepsilon} \right)$$

$$+\varepsilon \left(D_{I_{\varepsilon}} f_{\psi} dI_{\varepsilon} + D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} f_{\psi} d\psi_{\varepsilon} + g_{\psi} d\zeta_{\varepsilon} + \zeta_{\varepsilon} \langle \nabla g_{\psi}, dX \rangle \right), \qquad (5.1d)$$

where $\zeta_{\varepsilon} = a_{\varepsilon}b_{\varepsilon}$ and $dX = (da_{\varepsilon}, db_{\varepsilon}, dI_{\varepsilon}, d\psi_{\varepsilon})^{T}$. Instead of working directly with these equations, we utilize certain structures possessed by these equations. A similar strategy was used in [71] to study an atmospheric system which we will describe in Section 11.

Proposition 5.1. Let $U = da_{\varepsilon}$, $V = db_{\varepsilon}$, and $\mathbf{W} = (W_1, W_2)^T = (dI_{\varepsilon}, d\psi_{\varepsilon})^T$. Then equations (5.1) assume the form

$$\dot{U} = (\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \varphi_1)U + \varphi_3 V + \boldsymbol{A}^T \boldsymbol{W}, \qquad (5.2a)$$

$$\dot{V} = (-\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \varphi_2)V + \varphi_4 U + \boldsymbol{B}^T \boldsymbol{W},$$
(5.2b)

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{W}} = (\boldsymbol{\Theta}_0 + \boldsymbol{\Theta}_1)\boldsymbol{W} + \boldsymbol{U}\boldsymbol{H}_1 + \boldsymbol{V}\boldsymbol{H}_2, \qquad (5.2c)$$

where $\varphi_1(t, \varepsilon), \ldots, \varphi_4(t, \varepsilon)$ are scalar functions, $A(t, \varepsilon)$, $B(t, \varepsilon)$, $H_1(t, \varepsilon)$, $H_2(t, \varepsilon)$ are vectors in \mathbb{R}^2 , $\Theta_0(\varepsilon)$, $\Theta_1(t, \varepsilon)$ are 2×2 matrices, and there exist positive constants C_1, \ldots, C_9 , each independent of δ and ε , satisfying

$$|\varphi_1| \leq C_1 \left(\varepsilon + |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$
 (5.3a)

$$|\varphi_2| \leq C_2 \left(\varepsilon + |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$
 (5.3b)

$$|\varphi_3| \le C_3 |a_\varepsilon(t)|,\tag{5.3c}$$

$$|\varphi_4| \le C_4 |b_\varepsilon(t)|,\tag{5.3d}$$

$$\|A\| \le C_5 |a_{\varepsilon}(t)|, \tag{5.3e}$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{B}\| \leq C_6 |b_{\varepsilon}(t)|, \tag{5.3f}$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{H}_1\| \leq C_7 |b_{\varepsilon}(t)|, \tag{5.3g}$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{H}_2\| \leq C_8 |a_{\varepsilon}(t)|, \tag{5.3h}$$

$$\Theta_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.3i}$$

$$\|\Theta_1\| \leq C_9 \left(\varepsilon + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| |b_{\varepsilon}(t)|\right).$$
(5.3j)

Proof. We identify the terms in equations (5.2) with those in equations (5.1). First, we have

$$\varphi_1 = \lambda - \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \varepsilon f_a + a_{\varepsilon} b_{\varepsilon} D_{\zeta_{\varepsilon}} \lambda + \varepsilon a_{\varepsilon} D_{a_{\varepsilon}} f_a.$$

Using the estimate (4.7) in Proposition 4.2, we see that

$$\lambda - \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) = \mathscr{O}\left(|a_{\varepsilon}||b_{\varepsilon}| + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

The rest of the terms are clearly of the size $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon + |a_{\varepsilon}||b_{\varepsilon}|)$. The bound for $|\varphi_2|$ is similar. The bounds for $|\varphi_3|$, $|\varphi_4|$, ||A||, ||B||, $||H_1||$, $||H_2||$ are also straightforward. Finally, we identify

R. CAMASSA, G. KOVAČIČ & SIU-KEI TIN

$$\Theta_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon \left(D_{I_{\varepsilon}} f_I + \zeta_{\varepsilon} D_{I_{\varepsilon}} g_I \right) & \varepsilon \left(D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} f_I + \zeta_{\varepsilon} D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} g_I \right) \\ D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(t)) - D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \zeta_{\varepsilon} D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \Psi + \varepsilon \left(D_{I_{\varepsilon}} f_{\psi} + \zeta_{\varepsilon} D_{I_{\varepsilon}} g_{\psi} \right) & \varepsilon \left(D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} f_{\psi} + \zeta_{\varepsilon} D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} g_{\psi} \right) \end{pmatrix}$$

The same kind of consideration as for $|\varphi_1|$ gives the desired bound for $||\Theta_1||$. \Box

We now prove a technical result. Let $v_0 = (U_0, V_0, W_0^T)^T$ be a tangent vector of the manifold \mathscr{L} at the point $q_{\varepsilon}(0)$ where the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ on \mathscr{L} enters the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. Assume that the inequalities

$$|U_0| \le M_1 \varepsilon^{\alpha}, \qquad |V_0| \le M_2 \varepsilon^{\alpha}, \qquad \|W_0\| \le M_3 \tag{5.4}$$

hold, where M_1 , M_2 and M_3 are positive constants independent of ε and $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha \leq 1$. Then we can show

Proposition 5.2. Under the assumptions (5.4) on the initial conditions, for $\beta > 0$ sufficiently small and $0 < \kappa < \beta \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))/2\alpha$, the estimates

$$|U(t)| \leq \varepsilon^{\alpha - 3\beta} e^{[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa]t}, \qquad (5.5a)$$

$$|V(t)| \le \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta},\tag{5.5b}$$

$$\|\boldsymbol{W}(t)\| \leq \varepsilon^{-\beta} \tag{5.5c}$$

hold, where $0 \leq t \leq T$ and ε is sufficiently small.

Proof. By the initial conditions (5.4), the bounds (5.5) are satisfied for $0 \le t \le T_0$, where $T_0 \le T$ is some small time, and for ε sufficiently small. Our technique consists of assuming the inequalities (5.5) for $0 \le t \le T_0$ and deriving *new* bounds for the functions |U(t)|, |V(t)| and ||W(t)|| in the interval $0 \le t \le T_0$. Furthermore, these bounds show that the inequalities (5.5) are strict. It follows that we can extend the validity of (5.5) beyond the interval $0 \le t \le T_0$, say to an interval $0 \le t \le T_1$, where $T_0 < T_1 \le T$. The same argument applies to the new interval $0 \le t \le T_1$, however, and we can use an elementary connectedness argument to show that (5.5) holds on the whole interval $0 \le t \le T$.

Accordingly, we now assume that the estimates (5.5) hold for $0 \leq t \leq T_0$. For ε sufficiently small, we have the estimates

$$E\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha-D\varepsilon}+\varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)<\kappa, \quad C\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha-D\varepsilon}+\varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)<\frac{1}{2}$$

where *C*, *D*, *E* are constants in Proposition 4.2. We shrink ε further as we go along. Under these conditions, we obtain from the estimates (4.5), (4.6a), (4.6b) the further estimates

$$\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{\alpha}}\frac{\delta\sqrt{e}}{c}\right)^{\frac{1}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}} < e^{T} < \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{\alpha}}\frac{\delta e\sqrt{e}}{c}\right)^{\frac{1}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}},$$
(5.6)

$$\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa](T-t)} < |a_{\varepsilon}(t)| < \delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa](T-t)},$$
(5.7a)

$$\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} < |b_{\varepsilon}(t)| < \delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]t}.$$
(5.7b)

124

By further shrinking ε if necessary, we may also assume that

$$\kappa > C_1 \left(\varepsilon + \delta^2 e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]T} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$

so that $\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \varphi_1 \leq \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa$. Applying the Gronwall inequality and the estimate (5.7a) to equation (5.2a), we have, for $0 \leq t \leq T_0$,

$$|U(t)| \leq |U_0|e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} + \int_0^t e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa](t-\tau)} (C_3 \varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta} + C_5 \varepsilon^{-\beta}) \delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa](T-\tau)} d\tau \leq M_1 \varepsilon^{\alpha} e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} + (C_3 + C_5) \varepsilon^{-\beta} \delta e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]T} \int_0^t e^{-2\kappa\tau} d\tau.$$
(5.8)

Applying the estimate (5.6) gives

$$|U(t)| \leq M_{1}\varepsilon^{\alpha}e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} + \frac{C_{3}+C_{5}}{2\kappa}\varepsilon^{-\beta}\delta e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t} \left(\frac{\varepsilon^{\alpha}c}{\delta\sqrt{e}}\right)^{\frac{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}}$$
$$\leq \left[M_{1}\varepsilon^{3\beta} + \frac{C_{3}+C_{5}}{2\kappa}\delta\left(\frac{c}{\delta\sqrt{e}}\right)^{\frac{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}}\varepsilon^{\beta}\right]\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t}, (5.9)$$

where we have used the assumption that $\beta > 2\alpha \kappa / \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))$, so that

$$\varepsilon^{\frac{\alpha[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}} = \varepsilon^{\alpha-\frac{\alpha\kappa}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}} \leq \varepsilon^{\alpha-\frac{\beta}{2}} \leq \varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}.$$

By choosing ε sufficiently small, we have the estimate

$$M_1 \varepsilon^{3\beta} + \frac{C_3 + C_5}{2\kappa} \delta\left(\frac{c}{\delta\sqrt{e}}\right)^{\frac{\lambda(0, I_\varepsilon(0)) - \kappa}{\lambda(0, I_\varepsilon(0))}} \varepsilon^{\beta} < 1.$$

The estimate (5.9) now becomes

$$|U(t)| < \varepsilon^{\alpha - 3\beta} e^{[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa]t}.$$

Next, we derive a new estimate for |V(t)|. Again by taking ε sufficiently small, we can assume that

$$\kappa > C_2 \left(\varepsilon + \delta^2 e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]T} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$

so that $-\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \varphi_2 \leq -\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa$. Applying the Gronwall inequality and the estimate (5.7b) to equation (5.2b), we obtain

$$|V(t)| \leq |V_0| e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]t}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa](t-\tau)} (C_{4}\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]\tau} + C_{6}\varepsilon^{-\beta})\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]\tau} d\tau$$

$$\leq M_{2}\varepsilon^{\alpha}e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]t} \qquad (5.10)$$

$$+ \delta C_{4}\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]t} \frac{e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]t}}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa} + \delta C_{6}\varepsilon^{-\beta}te^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]t}$$

$$\leq M_{2}\varepsilon^{\alpha}e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]t}$$

$$+\delta\left(C_4\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}\frac{e^{2\kappa T}}{\lambda(0,\,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa}+C_6\varepsilon^{-\beta}Te^{-[\lambda(0,\,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]T}\right)$$

Using the estimate (5.6) and $2\kappa < \beta\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))/\alpha$, we have inequalities

$$e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]T} \leq \left(\frac{c}{\delta\sqrt{e}}\right)^{\frac{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))}} \varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}, \quad e^{2\kappa T} \leq \left(\frac{\delta e\sqrt{e}}{c}\right)^{\frac{\beta}{\alpha}} \varepsilon^{-\beta}, \quad T \leq \varepsilon^{-\beta}$$

if ε is sufficiently small. It follows that

$$|V(t)| \leq \left(M_2 \varepsilon^{5\beta} + \delta \frac{C_4}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa} \left(\frac{\delta e \sqrt{e}}{c} \right)^{\frac{\beta}{\alpha}} \varepsilon^{\beta} + \delta C_6 \left(\frac{c}{\delta \sqrt{e}} \right)^{\frac{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))}} \varepsilon^{2\beta} \right) \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta} < \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta},$$
(5.11)

if ε is sufficiently small.

Finally, we derive the estimate for the component ||W(t)||. First, we define the new variable $\mathbf{Z} = e^{-t\Theta_0} W$. Then equation (5.2c) takes the form

$$\dot{\mathbf{Z}} = e^{-t\Theta_0}\Theta_1 e^{t\Theta_0} \mathbf{Z} + U e^{-t\Theta_0} \mathbf{H}_1 + V e^{-t\Theta_0} \mathbf{H}_2.$$
(5.12)

.

It is easy to verify that

$$e^{t\Theta_0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ t D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and so $||e^{\pm t\Theta_0}|| \leq 1 + C_{10}t$, where $t \geq 0$ and C_{10} is some constant independent of ε . By the estimates (5.7), we see that $|a_{\varepsilon}(t)||b_{\varepsilon}(t)| \leq \delta^2 e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]T}$. Now fix $\eta > 0$ so that

$$\eta < \min\left(\frac{\beta}{3\alpha\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))}, 2\kappa\right)$$

Then

$$\|e^{-t\Theta_0}\Theta_1e^{t\Theta_0}\| \leq (1+C_{10}T)^2 C_9\left(\varepsilon+\varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}+\delta^2 e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]T}\right) \leq \eta$$

if ε is sufficiently small. We apply the Gronwall inequality and estimates (5.7) to equation (5.12), and obtain

Homoclinic Orbits with Many Pulses

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{Z}(t)\| &\leq \|\boldsymbol{W}_{0}\|e^{\eta t} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{\eta(t-\tau)}(1+C_{10}T) \\ & \left(C_{7}\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]\tau}\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa]\tau} + C_{8}\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa](T-\tau)}\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}\right)d\tau \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq M_{3}e^{\eta t} + \delta(1+C_{10}T)e^{\eta t}(C_{7}\varepsilon^{\alpha-3\beta}K_{1} + C_{8}\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa]T}K_{2}), \end{aligned}$$
(5.13)

where $K_1 = \int_0^t e^{(2\kappa - \eta)\tau} d\tau$ and $K_2 = \int_0^t e^{(\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa - \eta)\tau} d\tau$. It is easy to check that

$$K_1 \leq rac{e^{(2\kappa-\eta)T}}{2\kappa-\eta}, \quad K_2 \leq rac{e^{(\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa-\eta)T}}{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa-\eta}$$

It then follows that

$$\|\mathbf{Z}(t)\| \leq M_3 e^{\eta t} + \delta(1 + C_{10}T)e^{\eta t}$$

$$\times \left(C_7 \varepsilon^{\alpha - 3\beta} \frac{e^{(2\kappa - \eta)T}}{2\kappa - \eta} + C_8 \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta} \frac{e^{-\eta T}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa - \eta} \right) \quad (5.14)$$

$$\leq (M_3 + 1)e^{\eta t},$$

provided ε is sufficiently small. Finally,

$$\|\boldsymbol{W}(t)\| \leq (1+C_{10}t)\|\boldsymbol{Z}(t)\| \leq (M_3+1)(1+C_{10}T)e^{\eta T} \leq (M_3+1)\varepsilon^{-\frac{2}{3}\beta} < \varepsilon^{-\beta},$$

if ε is sufficiently small.

We now complete the argument: Let \mathscr{S} be the set of all times T_0 satisfying $0 \leq T_0 \leq T$ such that the inequalities (5.5) hold for $0 \leq t \leq T_0$. Since the inequalities (5.5) are not strict, the set \mathscr{S} is closed in the interval $0 \leq t \leq T$. The above calculation shows that \mathscr{S} is non-empty and open in the interval $0 \leq t \leq T$. Since the interval $0 \leq t \leq T$ is connected, the set \mathscr{S} must be this whole interval. \Box

We now improve our knowledge of the components $dI_{\varepsilon}(t)$ and $d\psi_{\varepsilon}(t)$.

Proposition 5.3. For $\beta > 0$ sufficiently small,

$$\begin{pmatrix} dI_{\varepsilon}(t) \\ d\psi_{\varepsilon}(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ t D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dI_{\varepsilon}(0) \\ d\psi_{\varepsilon}(0) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 6\beta}), \quad (5.15)$$

where $0 \leq t \leq T$ and ε is sufficiently small.

Proof. Let $W_0 = (dI_{\varepsilon}(0), d\psi_{\varepsilon}(0))^T$, and define the function P(t) in \mathbb{R}^2 by the equations

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{P}} = \Theta_0 \boldsymbol{P}, \tag{5.16a}$$

$$P(0) = W_0. (5.16b)$$

128

.

Subtracting equation (5.16a) from equation (5.2c), we obtain the equation

$$\boldsymbol{W} - \boldsymbol{P} = \Theta_0(\boldsymbol{W} - \boldsymbol{P}) + \Theta_1 \boldsymbol{W} + \boldsymbol{U} \boldsymbol{H}_1 + \boldsymbol{V} \boldsymbol{H}_2.$$
(5.17)

Applying the Gronwall inequality to equation (5.17) and using Proposition 5.2 and estimates in Proposition 5.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\boldsymbol{W}(t) - \boldsymbol{P}(t)\| \\ &= \left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{(t-\tau)\Theta_{0}} \left(\Theta_{1}(\tau) \boldsymbol{W}(\tau) + \boldsymbol{U}(\tau) \boldsymbol{H}_{1}(\tau) + \boldsymbol{V}(\tau) \boldsymbol{H}_{2}(\tau) \right) d\tau \right\| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \left[1 + C_{10}(t-\tau) \right] \left[C_{9} \left(\varepsilon + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \delta^{2} e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]T} \right) \varepsilon^{-\beta} \right. \\ &\left. + \varepsilon^{\alpha - 3\beta} e^{[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa]\tau} C_{7} \delta e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]\tau} \right] (5.18) \\ &\left. + \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta} C_{8} \delta e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa](T-\tau)} \right] d\tau \\ &\leq \left(1 + C_{10}T \right) \left[C_{9} \varepsilon^{\alpha - 2\beta} T + \frac{\delta C_{7}}{2\kappa} \varepsilon^{\alpha - 4\beta} + \frac{\delta C_{8}}{\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa} \varepsilon^{\alpha - 5\beta} \right] \\ &\leq \varepsilon^{\alpha - 6\beta} \end{split}$$

if ε is sufficiently small. The proof is now completed by noting that $P(t) = e^{t\Theta_0} W_0$ and

$$e^{t\Theta_0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ tD_{I_{\varepsilon}}\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) & 1 \end{pmatrix}. \quad \Box$$

Recall that we are interested in the evolution of the tangent space of the manifold \mathscr{L} along the trajectory $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ as this trajectory passes through the small neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the hyperbolic annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. The tangent space at the point $q_{\varepsilon}(0)$, where $q_{\varepsilon}(t)$ enters $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, is spanned by three tangent vectors, one of which can always be chosen to be the vector field itself. For the other two vectors, we can make use of the fact that the tangent space of the manifold \mathscr{L} is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to the local stable manifold near the point $q_{\varepsilon}(0)$. This gives two other tangent vectors at $q_{\varepsilon}(0)$, which are of the form

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{I}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ 1 + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{v}_{\psi}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \\ 1 + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.19a,b)

We also write $v_t(0)$ for the vector field at $q_{\varepsilon}(0)$, and write $v_t(t)$, $v_I(t)$, and $v_{\psi}(t)$ for the solutions of the variational equations (5.1) with initial conditions $v_t(0)$, $v_I(0)$, and $v_{\psi}(0)$ respectively.

At the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(T)$, where the trajectory $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(t)$ exits the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, the vector $\boldsymbol{v}_t(T)$ is simply the vector field at $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(T)$. Using equation $a_{\varepsilon}(T) = (\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T)) \delta$ and the estimate $|b_{\varepsilon}(T)| \leq \delta e^{-[\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \kappa]T}$, we obtain Homoclinic Orbits with Many Pulses

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{t}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} (\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T)) \,\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))\delta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \\ \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.20)

Using Propositions 5.2 and 5.3, we also obtain

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{I}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{-4\beta}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}) \\ 1 + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \\ D_{I_{\varepsilon}}\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) \cdot T + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.21a)$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{-4\beta}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{\psi}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}) \\ \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \\ 1 + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.21b)

In order to conclude that the tangent space of the manifold \mathscr{L} at the point $q_{\varepsilon}(T)$ is close to that of the local unstable manifold $W^{u}_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, we need to know the leading term of the da_{ε} -component of the vector $v_{\psi}(T)$. Write

$$a_{\varepsilon}(0) = A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon).$$
(5.22)

The Fenichel coordinate $a_{\varepsilon}(0)$ of the initial point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(0)$ depends on the variables I_{ε} and ψ_{ε} through some function $A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$ for the following reason. Near the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(0)$, we assume that the manifold \mathscr{L} is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to the manifold $W^{s}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, and that the corresponding tangent spaces are also close. In the Fenichel coordinates, the manifold $W^{s}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is given by the equation $a_{\varepsilon} = 0$ and parametrized by the coordinates b_{ε} , I_{ε} , and ψ_{ε} . Since the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(0)$ is chosen among points with $|b_{\varepsilon}| = \delta$, the coordinate $a_{\varepsilon}(0)$ depends on the remaining variables I_{ε} and ψ_{ε} . From equations (4.5) and (5.22), we have the following leading term expansion for $e^{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))T}$.

$$e^{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))T} = \frac{\delta}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|} \left(1 + \mathscr{O}\left(\log\frac{\delta}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \right).$$
(5.23)

Now for the vector $v_{\psi}(0)$, we have $dI_{\varepsilon}(0) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$. Also, from equation (5.22), we obtain the equation

$$da_{\varepsilon}(0) = D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}a_{\varepsilon}(0) = D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon).$$
(5.24)

We have to obtain the leading term of the differential $da_{\varepsilon}(T)$ for the vector $v_{\psi}(T)$. To do so, we go back to equation (5.1a). For the present purpose, write this equation as

$$d\dot{a}_{\varepsilon} = \lambda da_{\varepsilon} + \left(\varepsilon f_{a} + a_{\varepsilon} b_{\varepsilon} D_{\zeta_{\varepsilon}} \lambda\right) da_{\varepsilon} + a_{\varepsilon}^{2} D_{\zeta_{\varepsilon}} \lambda db_{\varepsilon} + a_{\varepsilon} D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \lambda dI_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon a_{\varepsilon} \langle \nabla f_{a}, dX \rangle.$$
(5.25)

129

Using Proposition 5.2 and equation (5.1c), we easily show that $|dI_{\varepsilon}(t)| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-6\beta}) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta})$. We apply this fact and Proposition 5.2 to equation (5.25) to see that equation (5.25) takes the form

$$d\dot{a}_{\varepsilon} = [\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \chi_1(t)]da_{\varepsilon} + \chi_2(t), \qquad (5.26)$$

where $|\chi_1(t)| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta})$ and $|\chi_2(t)| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}|a_{\varepsilon}(t)|)$. Direct integration gives

$$da_{\varepsilon}(T) = da_{\varepsilon}(0)e^{\int_{0}^{T}\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\chi_{1}(\tau)d\tau} + \int_{0}^{T}e^{\int_{\tau}^{T}\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\chi_{1}(s)ds}\chi_{2}(\tau)d\tau.$$
(5.27)

The second term above can be estimated in the usual way. Choose ε sufficiently small so that $\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \chi_1(t) \leq \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \kappa$. Then the second term is bounded above by the expression

$$\mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}\int_{0}^{T}e^{[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))+\kappa](T-\tau)}\delta e^{-[\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))-\kappa](T-\tau)}d\tau\right) = \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}\frac{e^{2\kappa T}}{2\kappa}\right)$$
$$= \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-7\beta}).$$

The first term in equation (5.27) is $da_{\varepsilon}(0)e^{\lambda(0,I_{\varepsilon}(0))T} (1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-2\beta}))$. Using equations (5.23) and (5.24), we finally obtain

$$da_{\varepsilon}(T) = \delta \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)}{|A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)|} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 2\beta})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 7\beta}).$$
(5.28)

We can now show our closeness result in

Lemma 1. Let the manifold \mathscr{L} be $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to the local stable manifold $W^s_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(0) = (a_{\varepsilon}(0), \delta, I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0))$, where $a_{\varepsilon}(0) = A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon) = \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, and let the corresponding tangent spaces also be $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close. Let $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(t) = (a_{\varepsilon}(t), b_{\varepsilon}(t), I_{\varepsilon}(t), \psi_{\varepsilon}(t))$ be the trajectory passing through the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(0)$, and let T be the time when this trajectory exits the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Let there exist a constant B > 0, independent of ε , such that the inequality

$$\left|\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)}{A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)}\right| > B$$
(5.29)

holds. Then the tangent space of the manifold \mathscr{L} at the point $\boldsymbol{q}_{\varepsilon}(T)$ is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta})$ close to the tangent space of the local unstable manifold $W^{u}_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, where the number β can be made arbitrarily small.

Proof. We consider the linear subspace in \mathbb{R}^4 formed by the vectors $v_t(T)$, $v_I(T)$, $v_{\psi}(T)$. By equations (5.20), (5.21) and (5.28), we see that the matrix formed by these vectors has the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} (\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T))\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))\delta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-4\beta}) & \frac{\delta}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|} D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} a_{\varepsilon}(0) \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-2\beta})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-7\beta}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-5\beta}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) & 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \\ \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) & D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) \cdot T + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) & 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(5.30)$$

The quantity $db_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}$ is defined as the subdeterminant obtained by removing the first row. Geometrically, $db_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}$ is the (signed) volume of the projection of the parallelepiped formed by $v_t(T)$, $v_I(T)$ and $v_{\psi}(T)$ onto the $(b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ plane. The other projections $da_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}$, $da_{\varepsilon} \wedge db_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon}$, and $da_{\varepsilon} \wedge db_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}$ $d\psi_{\varepsilon}$ are defined similarly. (These projections are known to differential geometers as Plücker coordinates on the Grassmannian; see [31].) To show that the linear subspace spanned by the vectors $v_t(T)$, $v_I(T)$ and $v_{\psi}(T)$ is close to the subspace $b_{\varepsilon} = 0$, it suffices to prove that $|da_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}|$ dominates

$$\left\{ |db_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + |da_{\varepsilon} \wedge db_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon}|^{2} + |da_{\varepsilon} \wedge db_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}|^{2} \right\}^{1/2}$$
(5.31)

for ε sufficiently small. It is clear from the matrix (5.30) that the expression (5.31) is of order $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-9\beta})$. On the other hand, the projection $da_{\varepsilon} \wedge dI_{\varepsilon} \wedge d\psi_{\varepsilon}$ is the determinant

$$\left| \begin{array}{cc} (\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T))\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0))\delta + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-4\beta}) & \frac{\delta}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|} D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} a_{\varepsilon}(0) \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-2\beta})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-7\beta}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) & 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) & \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \\ \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-\beta}) & D_{I_{\varepsilon}} \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) \cdot T + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) & 1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha-6\beta}) \end{array} \right| ,$$

which, upon expansion, is

$$\delta\left((\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T))\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0))\frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}a_{\varepsilon}(0)}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|}\left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 2\beta})\right)\right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 10\beta}).$$
(5.32)

Since $a_{\varepsilon}(t)$ does not change sign during the passage, we must have

$$\operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(T) = \operatorname{sign} a_{\varepsilon}(0) = \frac{a_{\varepsilon}(0)}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|}.$$
(5.33)

Expression (5.32) now becomes

$$\delta \frac{a_{\varepsilon}(0)}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|} \left(\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} a_{\varepsilon}(0)}{|a_{\varepsilon}(0)|} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 2\beta}) \right) \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha - 10\beta})$$

Condition (5.29) guarantees that this coordinate is of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$, and the desired conclusion on closeness follows. \Box

Condition (5.29) reflects the geometric fact that the manifold \mathscr{L} may emerge from the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ having folds due to the nearly linear motion of the angle ψ_{ε} , which can be immediately verified for simple linear examples (see Figure 5.2). If $\omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)) = 0$, condition (5.29) is automatically satisfied, that is, no folds can develop in the case of slow dynamics on the normally hyperbolic manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$.



Fig. 5.2. An example of the folds that the manifold \mathscr{L} can develop as it flies by $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ in $a - \psi - b$ coordinates. The surface is actually generated by integration of a linear equation, given by the vector field $\dot{a} = \lambda a$, $\dot{b} = -\lambda b$, $\dot{\psi} = \omega + \psi_0$, with $\lambda = 1$, $\omega = \pi/3$, b(0) = 1, $a(0) = \epsilon(1 - \frac{4}{5}\operatorname{sech}\psi_0)$, and $\epsilon = 0.2$. This demonstrates how the creation of sharp folds in \mathscr{L} is governed by the linearized dynamics in the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$.

The method of proof used in Lemma 1 can be adapted easily to the case of a multi-dimensional action and angle variable. In general, if $I \in \mathbb{R}^m$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the manifold \mathscr{L} we are tracking is of dimension m + n + 1. In exactly the same manner as above, we can follow tangent vectors complementary to the vector field, of which *m* vectors are along the *I* directions, and *n* are along the θ directions. All the estimates go through verbatim to give the following higher-dimensional generalization of condition (5.29):

$$\left|\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) - \left\langle \omega(I_{\varepsilon}(0)), \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)}{|A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi_{\varepsilon}(0), \varepsilon)|} \right\rangle \right| > B.$$
(5.34)

6. Distance Estimates Along the Pulses

Recall the manifold \mathscr{L} defined at the beginning of the previous section as the winding piece of the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. As stated there, the manifold \mathscr{L} returns several times to the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and then leaves it again. Upon leaving $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$, the manifold \mathscr{L} follows the local piece of the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. In this section, we compute the distance between these two manifolds in terms of their distance upon exiting the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. For simplicity, we carry out the calculation only for the case when system (2.4) is Hamiltonian. The ideas involved in the general case are the same.

We introduce streamlined notation $q(t) = (x(t), I(t), \theta(t))$, and rewrite equation (2.1) as

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{q}} = J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{q}) + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{q}) + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^2), \qquad (6.1)$$

where $\nabla = (D_x, D_I, D_\theta)$, g(q) = g(q, 0) and J now stands for the 4 × 4 matrix

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Consider some point $p^h(0)$ on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$, where this manifold leaves the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. Attach the normal $n(p^{h}(0))$, given by formula (3.3), at this point. This normal intersects the manifold \mathscr{L} in at least one point and the local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ in precisely one point, say $q^{u}(0)$. From among the intersection points of the normal $n(p^{h}(0))$ with the manifold \mathscr{L} we choose the point $q^{l}(0)$ to be the point whose backwards-time trajectory takes the least amount of time flying along \mathscr{L} to reach some portion of the local unstable manifold $W^u_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. We assume that the points $q^l(0)$ and $q^u(0)$ are at a distance $c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$ away from each other for some positive c and $\alpha > \frac{1}{2}$. We consider now the trajectories $p^{h}(t)$, $q^{l}(t)$ and $q^{u}(t)$ passing through the points $p^{h}(0)$, $q^{l}(0)$, and $q^{u}(0)$. We require that the point $p^{h}(0)$ be chosen in such a way that the trajectory $q^{l}(t)$ does not lie near a fold of the manifold \mathscr{L} . This can be verified a posteriori by requiring that the nonfolding condition (3.9) is satisfied for the unperturbed trajectories approximating $q^{l}(t)$. Note that the trajectory $p^{h}(t)$ evolves under the unperturbed dynamics, and is therefore of the form (2.6), i.e., $p^{h}(t) = (x^{h}(t - t_0, I), I, \theta^{h}(t - t_0, I) + \theta_0)$, while the trajectories $q^{l}(t)$ and $q^{u}(t)$ evolve under the perturbed dynamics. By Gronwall-type estimates, the trajectories $q^{l}(t)$ and $q^{u}(t)$ are a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ apart for all finite times t.

Any perturbed trajectory q(t) can be Taylor expanded as

$$\boldsymbol{q}(t) = \boldsymbol{p}(t) + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{r}(t) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \tag{6.2}$$

where p(t) is some unperturbed trajectory. This expansion is valid for finite values of time t. The first correction r(t) satisfies the first variational equation

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{r}} = J\nabla^2 H(\boldsymbol{p})\boldsymbol{r} + \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}). \tag{6.3}$$

In particular, for the trajectories $q^{l}(t)$ and $q^{u}(t)$, expansion (6.2) yields

$$\boldsymbol{q}^{l}(t) = \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t) + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t) + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{2}), \qquad (6.4a)$$

$$\boldsymbol{q}^{u}(t) = \boldsymbol{p}^{u}(t) + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{r}^{u}(t) + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{2}) = \boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t) + \varepsilon \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t) + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{2}), \qquad (6.4b)$$

since we can set $p^{u}(t) \equiv p^{h}(t)$, and therefore rename $r^{u}(t) \equiv r^{h}(t)$. The distance between the unperturbed trajectories $p^{l}(t)$ and $p^{h}(t)$ is of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$.

The validity of the Taylor expansions (6.4a) and (6.4b), and Lemma 1 show that the signed distance between the points at which the normal $n(p^h(t))$ pierces the manifolds \mathscr{L} and $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is equal to

R. CAMASSA, G. KOVAČIČ & SIU-KEI TIN

$$d^{l,u}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^l(t) - \boldsymbol{q}^u(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))\|} + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)^{2-\beta}),$$

where β can be taken as small as we please, provided that $q^{l}(t)$ stays away from any folds of the manifold \mathscr{L} (see Figure 6.1). Using expansions (6.4a) and (6.4b), we obtain the formula

$$d^{l,u}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t) - \boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))\|} + \varepsilon \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t) - \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))\|}$$
(6.5)
+ $\mathcal{O}((\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)^{2-\beta}).$



Fig. 6.1. The signed distance between the points at which the normal $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))$ pierces the manifold \mathscr{L} and $W^u(\mathscr{M})_{\varepsilon}$ is equal to the component of the distance between the points $\boldsymbol{q}^l(t)$ and $\boldsymbol{q}^u(t)$ along the normal $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))$, plus higher order terms, away from folds of the manifold \mathscr{L} .

We now show

Proposition 6.1. The signed distance $d^{l,u}(p^h(t))$ between the points at which the normal $n(p^h(t))$ pierces the manifolds \mathcal{L} and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is equal to

$$d^{l,u}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(0), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0)) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))\|} + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)^{2-\beta}), \tag{6.6}$$

where β can be taken as small as desired.

134

Proof. The first term in formula (6.5) can be evaluated as follows. Set H(X(I), I) = F(I); then

$$\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) = \nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))].$$
(6.7)

Then

$$\begin{split} \langle p^{l}(t) - p^{h}(t), n(p^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle p^{l}(t) - p^{h}(t), \nabla [H(p^{h}(t)) - F(I(p^{h}(t)))] \rangle \\ &= [H(p^{l}(t)) - F(I(p^{l}(t)))] - [H(p^{h}(t)) - F(I(p^{h}(t)))] \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(\|p^{l}(t) - p^{h}(t)\|^{2}) \\ &= [H(p^{l}(t)) - F(I(p^{l}(t)))] - [H(p^{h}(t)) - F(I(p^{h}(t)))] + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})^{2}) \end{split}$$

Since $H(\mathbf{p}(t)) - F(I(\mathbf{p}(t)))$ is a conserved quantity for system (2.4), we must have

$$[H(p^{l}(t)) - F(I(p^{l}(t)))] - [H(p^{h}(t)) - F(I(p^{h}(t)))]$$

=
$$[H(p^{l}(0)) - F(I(p^{l}(0)))] - [H(p^{h}(0)) - F(I(p^{h}(0)))].$$

Therefore,

$$\langle \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t) - \boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle$$

= $[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0)))] - [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0)))] + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})^{2})$
= $\langle \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0)) \rangle + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})^{2}).$ (6.8)

To estimate the second term in formula (6.5), we set up a differential equation for the expression

$$\Delta(t) = \Delta^{l}(t) - \Delta^{h}(t) = \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle - \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle.$$
(6.9)

This differential equation consists of two parts:

$$\dot{\Delta}^{l}(t) = \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{r}}^{l}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle + \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{n}}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle,$$
$$\dot{\Delta}^{h}(t) = \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{r}}^{h}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle + \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \dot{\boldsymbol{n}}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle.$$

From equation (6.7) we obtain

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{n}}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) = \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))]\dot{\boldsymbol{p}}^{h}(t)$$
$$= \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))]J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)).$$

Together with equation (6.3), this implies that

$$\begin{split} \dot{\Delta}^{l}(t) &= \langle J \nabla^{2} H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)) \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t) + \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2} [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle J \nabla^{2} H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)) \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t) + \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)), \nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2} [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle - \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2} H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)) J \nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2} [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle, \quad (6.10a) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \dot{\Delta}^{h}(t) &= \langle J\nabla^{2}H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))\boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t) + \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle J\nabla^{2}H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))\boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t) + \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)), \nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle - \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \nabla^{2}H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) J\nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &= \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle \\ &+ \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{h}(t), \nabla^{2}H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) J\nabla F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))) - \nabla^{2}F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))) J\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle. \end{split}$$

$$(6.10b)$$

However, in the last term of equation (6.10b), we have

$$\nabla^2 H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) J \nabla F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))) - \nabla^2 F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))) J \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) = 0$$
(6.11)

because

$$\begin{split} \nabla^2 H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) J \nabla F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))) &- \nabla^2 F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))) J \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) \\ &= \nabla \langle \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)), J \nabla F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))) \rangle \\ &= \nabla \left[\frac{d F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)))}{dI} \langle \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)), J \nabla I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) \rangle \right], \end{split}$$

and the expression $\langle \nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)), J \nabla I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) \rangle$ vanishes identically since only the first three components of the vector $\nabla H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t))$ are nonzero, and $J \nabla I(\boldsymbol{p}^h(t)) = (0, 0, 0, 1)$. Therefore, equation (6.10b) simplifies to

$$\dot{\Delta}^{h}(t) = \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle.$$
(6.12)

136

Furthermore, using equation (6.11), we can collect the terms in equation (6.10a) to become

$$\dot{\Delta}^{l}(t) = \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle + \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t))] J \nabla [H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - F(I(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)))] \rangle = \langle \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle + \langle \boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) - H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t))] J \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle.$$
(6.13)

By using equations (6.12) and (6.13), the differential equation for the expression (6.9) becomes

$$\dot{\Delta}(t) = \langle [\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)) - \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))] + J\nabla^{2}[H(\boldsymbol{p}^{l}(t)) - H(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))]\boldsymbol{r}^{l}(t), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t)) \rangle,$$

which implies that

$$\Delta(t) = \Delta(0) + \int_0^t \langle [\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^l(s)) - \boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(s))] + J\nabla^2 [H(\boldsymbol{p}^l(s)) - H(\boldsymbol{p}^h(s))] \boldsymbol{r}^l(s), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^h(s)) \rangle \, ds.$$

The integrand on the right-hand side of this equation is of the order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)$, therefore we obtain the estimate

$$\Delta(t) = \Delta(0) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon).$$
(6.14)

Combining equation (6.8), the definition (6.9) and equation (6.14) with equation (6.5), we finally obtain the estimate (6.6). \Box

For future purposes, it will be more convenient to estimate the distance between the manifolds \mathscr{S} and $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at a point $\tilde{p}^h(t)$, defined as the point on $W(\mathscr{M})$ at which the normal to $W(\mathscr{M})$ passing through $q^l(t)$ intersects $W(\mathscr{M})$ itself. For this we need a little corollary to Proposition 6.1 to modify the result (6.6).

Proposition 6.2. The signed distance $d^{l,u}(\tilde{p}^h(t))$ between the points at which the normal $n(\tilde{p}^h(t))$ pierces the manifolds \mathcal{L} and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is equal to

$$d^{l,u}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{p}}^{h}(t)) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(0), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(0)) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\tilde{\boldsymbol{p}}^{h}(t))\|} + \mathcal{O}((\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)^{2-\beta}), \tag{6.15}$$

where β can be taken as small as desired.

Proof. This follows simply by the triangle inequality

$$\|\tilde{p}^{h}(t) - p^{h}(t)\| = \|\tilde{p}^{h}(t) - q^{l}(t) + q^{l}(t) - p^{h}(t)\|$$
$$\leq \|\tilde{p}^{h}(t) - q^{l}(t)\| + \|q^{l}(t) - p^{h}(t)\|$$
$$\leq \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon),$$

where Gronwall-type estimates are used in the last inequality. This implies that $n(\tilde{p}^h(t)) = n(p^h(t)) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha} + \varepsilon)$, which together with equation (6.6) yields equation (6.15). \Box

7. Distance Estimates Near the Hyperbolic Annulus

In this section, we examine how the distance between the manifolds \mathscr{L} and $W^{s}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ transforms into the distance between \mathscr{L} and $W^{u}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ as \mathscr{L} flies by the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. (We recall here that the manifold \mathscr{L} is defined as the winding piece of the unstable manifold $W^{u}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$.) The result is given by

Proposition 7.1. In the perturbed problem (2.1), let some trajectory $q^l(t)$ enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ a distance $c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$ away from the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ at the time t = 0, and let this trajectory leave the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the time t = T. Let $\mathbf{n}_q(0)$ be the normal to the unperturbed local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M})$ that passes through the point $q^l(0)$, and let this normal intersect the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ in the point $q^s(0)$. Also, let $\mathbf{n}_q(T)$ be the normal to the unperturbed local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M})$ that passes through the point $q^l(T)$, and let this normal intersect the local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ in the point $q^u(T)$. Then

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(0), \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}(0) \right\rangle$$

= $\left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(T), \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1 + \alpha} \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right).$ (7.1)



Fig. 7.1. The definition of the exit points $q^{l}(T)$ and $q^{u}(T)$. The unperturbed stable and unstable manifolds are represented by dashed lines.

Figure 7.1 gives a sketch of the geometry to which this proposition applies. The proof of Proposition (7.1) is given below in two steps, the first step of which is

Proposition 7.2. In the unperturbed problem (2.4), let some trajectory $p^{l}(t)$ enter some small neighborhood of the annulus \mathcal{M} at the time t = 0, and leave



Fig. 7.2. An illustration of Propositions 7.2 and 7.3.

this neighborhood at the time t = T. Let $\mathbf{n}_p(0) = \mathbf{n}(\mathbf{p}^s(0))$ be the normal to the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point $\mathbf{p}^l(0)$, and let $\mathbf{n}_p(T) = \mathbf{n}(\mathbf{p}^u(T))$ be the normal to the local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point $\mathbf{p}^l(T)$. Then

$$\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(0), \, \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{p}^{s}(0) \rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\| \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{p}^{s}(0) \|^{2} \right) \\ = \langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(T), \, \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{p}^{u}(T) \rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\| \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{p}^{u}(T) \|^{2} \right).$$
(7.2)

Proof. The proof of this proposition is almost identical to the first part of the proof of Proposition 6.1, except that the value of the function H(x, I) - F(I), where F(I) = H(X(I), I), must be the same on the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M})$ (see Figure 7.2). \Box

The second step and main technical result used in proving Proposition 7.1 is contained in

Proposition 7.3. In the perturbed problem (2.1), let some trajectory $q^l(t)$ enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at a distance ε^{α} away from the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ at the time t = 0, and let this trajectory leave the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the time t = T. Let $n_q(0)$ be the normal to the unperturbed local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M})$ that passes through the point $q^l(0)$, and let this normal intersect the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ in the point $q^s(0)$. Also, let $n_q(T)$ be the normal to the unperturbed local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M})$ that passes through the point $q^l(T)$, and let this normal intersect the local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the point $q^u(T)$. Let $p^l(t)$ be an unperturbed trajectory whose initial point $p^l(0)$ has the (a, b, I, ψ) coordinates identical to the $(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ coordinates of the point $q^l(0)$, that is, $(\varepsilon\varepsilon^{\alpha}, \delta, I^l_{\varepsilon}(0), \psi^l_{\varepsilon}(0))$. Let $n_p(0) = n(p^s(0))$ be the normal to the unperturbed local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point $p^l(0)$. Let $n_p(T) = n(p^u(T))$ be the normal to the unperturbed local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point $p^l(T)$. Then

$$\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(0), \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}(0) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(0), \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(0) - \boldsymbol{p}^{s}(0) \rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1+\alpha} \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right),$$

$$(7.3a)$$

 $\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(T), \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(T) \rangle$

$$= \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(T), \, \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{p}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1+\alpha} \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right).$$
(7.3b)

Proof. From equations (4.1) we compute that

$$a^{l}(T) = a^{l}(0)e^{\lambda(c\delta\varepsilon^{\alpha}, I_{\varepsilon}(0))T}, \quad b^{l}(T) = b^{l}(0)e^{-\lambda(c\delta\varepsilon^{\alpha}, I_{\varepsilon}(0))T}.$$

Since $\lambda(c\delta\varepsilon^{\alpha}, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) = \lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}(0)) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, we conclude from inequalities (4.5) and (4.6a) that

$$a_{\varepsilon}^{l}(T) = a^{l}(T) \left[1 + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right) \right].$$
(7.4a)

Likewise, we conclude from inequalities (4.5) and (4.6b) that

$$b_{\varepsilon}^{l}(T) = b^{l}(T) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right) \right].$$
(7.4b)

By inequality (4.7), we have

$$|I_{\varepsilon}(T) - I(T)| = |I_{\varepsilon}(T) - I_{\varepsilon}(0)| = \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \tag{7.5}$$

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}(T) - \psi(T) = \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right).$$
(7.6)

Since the difference between the $(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ and (a, b, I, ψ) coordinates is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$, we have the estimate

$$q^{l}(T) = \mathbf{p}^{l}(T) + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon\left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right),$$

and therefore

$$\boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(T) = \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(T) + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon\left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right)$$

in any of the three coordinate systems.

140
Now, the vectors $q^l(T) - q^u(T)$ and $p^l(T) - p^u(T)$ are proportional to the normals $n_q(T)$ and $n_p(T)$, respectively, so that all their components must be proportional to 1. The easiest component to compute is the *b* component, which is just equal to $b_{\varepsilon}^l(T)$ for the vector $q^l(T) - q^u(T)$ and equal to $b^l(T)$ for the vector $p^l(T) - p^u(T)$. By the estimate (7.4b), and since $b^l(T) = c\varepsilon^{\alpha}$, we have the estimate

$$b_{\varepsilon}^{l}(T) = b^{l}(T) + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1+\alpha}\left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right).$$

It is in order to establish this estimate that we need our stronger version of the Fenichel normal form and the subsequent Proposition 4.2. This proposition, in turn, implies the crucial estimate (7.4b). The usual Fenichel normal form is not refined enough to provide this estimate, since then the expression in square brackets in (7.4b) would be replaced by the term $\varepsilon^{\text{const.}\delta}$, where δ is the size of the neighborhood in which the Fenichel normal form is valid and the constant can be either positive or negative.

In what follows, we let the lower case letters p and q denote the positions of unperturbed and perturbed trajectories in the (x, I, θ) coordinates, and the upper case letters P and Q the positions of these same trajectories in the (a, b, I, ψ) and $(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ coordinates, respectively. By the discussion in the previous paragraph, we thus have

$$\boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) = \boldsymbol{P}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1+\alpha}\left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right),$$
(7.7)

and so

$$\boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}), \quad \boldsymbol{P}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T) = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha}).$$
 (7.8)

Consider the function $N(a, b, I) = N_{\varepsilon}(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}) = H(x, I) - F(I)$, where F(I) = H(X(I), I). Then, by slight abuse of notation,

$$\left\langle \nabla N_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T)), \, \boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\| \boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) \|^{2} \right)$$
$$= \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(T), \, \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}\left(\| \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(T) \|^{2} \right),$$

since both expressions are the differentials of the same function in different coordinate systems. By equation (7.8), we obtain

$$\left\langle \nabla N_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T)), \, \boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle = \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{q}}(T), \, \boldsymbol{q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2\alpha}).$$
(7.9)

Now

$$\nabla N_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T)) = \nabla N(\boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T)) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon\left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{2}\right)$$

in any coordinate system, and because of equation (7.7) we obtain

R. CAMASSA, G. KOVAČIČ & SIU-KEI TIN

$$\left\langle \nabla N_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T)), \, \boldsymbol{Q}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{Q}^{u}(T) \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \nabla N(\boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T)), \, \boldsymbol{P}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T) \right\rangle$$

$$+ \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2\alpha - D\varepsilon} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{1+\alpha} \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right)^{2} \right).$$

$$(7.10)$$

By equation (7.8), we also have

$$\left\langle \nabla N(\boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T)), \boldsymbol{P}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{P}^{u}(T) \right\rangle = \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{p}}(T), \boldsymbol{p}^{l}(T) - \boldsymbol{p}^{u}(T) \right\rangle + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2\alpha}).$$
 (7.11)

Combining equations (7.9)–(7.11) finally yields equation (7.3b).

The proof of equation (7.3a) is similar to the last part of this proof.

8. Estimate of the Phase Change Along a Pulse

Recall the definition of the manifold \mathscr{S} as the winding piece of the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. As discussed in Section 6, away from a small neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, a perturbed orbit on the manifold \mathscr{S} can be approximated by unperturbed orbits that lie on the homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$. Each of these unperturbed orbits is parametrized by one of the solutions (2.6), i.e., $x = x^h(t, I), \theta = \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0$, but they all have different values of the phase θ_0 , in general. In this section, we compute how this phase changes between two consecutive approximating unperturbed homoclinic orbits. This is straightforward in the "slow" case when the frequency $\Omega(X(I), I)$ of the underlying unperturbed periodic orbit on the annulus \mathscr{M} vanishes, but for the general "fast" case considerable care is required for the estimate of the phase change. This estimate is the result of Proposition 8.1.

In order to compute the phase change described in the previous paragraph, we consider an orbit O^l that lies on the manifold \mathscr{L} . In particular, let us concentrate on the segment of the orbit O^l along its *j*-th and (j + 1)-st excursions away from the small neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Let the orbit O^l enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ through the point q^l from its *j*-th excursion away from $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Let p^s be the point such that the normal $n(p^s)$ to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$ at the point p^s pierces the manifold \mathscr{L} at the point q^l , see Figure 8.1. Moreover, let q^s be the point where the normal $n(p^s)$ intersects the local stable manifold $W_{loc}^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. For the time being, we assume that the points q^s and q^l are $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close. Note that from their definitions, the points q^s and q^l are connected by the relation

$$\boldsymbol{q}^{l} = \boldsymbol{q}^{s} + \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})\|} \frac{\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})\|}.$$
(8.1)

Let the unperturbed homoclinic orbit through the point p^s be parametrized by the unperturbed trajectory

$$\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t) = \left(x^{h}(t, I), I, \theta^{h}(t, I) + \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon)\right), \tag{8.2}$$



Fig. 8.1. The geometry of Proposition 8.1.

and let this trajectory pass through the point p^s at the time $t = t_{+}^{\varepsilon}$, that is,

$$\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(\boldsymbol{t}_{\perp}^{\varepsilon}) = \boldsymbol{p}^{s} \,. \tag{8.3}$$

Moreover, let $q^l(t)$ be the trajectory on the orbit O^l that passes through the point q^l at the same time $t = t_+^{\varepsilon}$, so that $q^l(t_+^{\varepsilon}) = q^l$. As in Section 6, Gronwall-type estimates ensure that the trajectories $q^l(t)$ and $p^h(t)$ remain $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to each other during their whole flight away from the neighborhood U_{δ} all the way back to the boundary of U_{δ} .

The estimate (4.8) can be used to determine the phase increment of the trajectory $q^{l}(t)$ during its flight through the neighborhood U_{δ} . Upon exiting U_{δ} again, at the point \hat{q}^{l} and after a time *T* say, the normal to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point \hat{q}^{l} defines a new point p^{u} on $W(\mathcal{M})$ (see Figure 8.1), which is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to \hat{q}^{l} by the estimates of Section 7. The point p^{u} in turn defines a new unperturbed trajectory,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^{h}(t) = \left(x^{h}(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon), \theta^{h}(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)) + \theta_{j}(\varepsilon)\right),$$

for some $\theta_j(\varepsilon)$. Let $t = -t_-^{\varepsilon}$ be the time at which the new unperturbed trajectory passes through p^u , i.e.,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}^h(-\boldsymbol{t}_-^\varepsilon) = \boldsymbol{p}^u \,. \tag{8.4}$$

Once again, Gronwall-type estimates ensure that the trajectory $\hat{p}^{h}(t)$ follows the trajectory $q^{l}(t)$ on to its whole flight outside the neighborhood U_{δ} along its (j+1)-st excursion. Since $|\hat{I}(\varepsilon) - I| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$ by formula (4.7), we then see that the segment of the orbit O^{l} along this excursion can be approximated by the solution $(x^{h}(t, I), I, \theta^{h}(t, I) + \theta_{j}(\varepsilon))$, and the relation between $\theta_{j}(\varepsilon)$ and $\theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon)$ is all we need to compute in order to select the new unperturbed trajectory $\hat{p}^{h}(t)$. The explicit expression for the phase increment $\theta_{j}(\varepsilon) - \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon)$ is provided by

Proposition 8.1. The exit point p^u belongs to the orbit $(x^h(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \theta^h(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)) + \theta_j(\varepsilon))$, where

$$\theta_{j}(\varepsilon) = \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) + \Delta\theta(I) + \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \mathcal{Q}(X(I), I) \log \left| \frac{\varsigma(I)}{\langle q^{l} - q^{s}, n(p^{s}) \rangle} \right|$$

$$+ \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$
(8.5)

 $\zeta(I)$ is a function that depends on the entries of the Jacobian $D_x^2 H(X(I), I)$,

$$\varsigma(I) = \frac{2(\lambda(I))^2 |A_2(I)| f_+(I) f_-(I)}{\sqrt{\left[\left(A_2(I)\right)^2 + \left(\lambda(I) - A_0(I)\right)^2\right] \left[\left(A_2(I)\right)^2 + \left(\lambda(I) + A_0(I)\right)^2\right]}}$$
(8.6)

with

$$A_0(I) = D_{x_1} D_{x_2} H(X(I), I), \quad A_1(I) = D_{x_1}^2 H(X(I), I),$$
$$A_2(I) = D_{x_2}^2 H(X(I), I),$$

$$f_{+}(I) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} e^{\lambda(I)t} \|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|,$$

$$f_{-}(I) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} e^{-\lambda(I)t} \|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|.$$
(8.7)

Recall that $\lambda(I)$ is the positive eigenvalue of the matrix $JD_x^2 H(X(I), I)$, and that the phase difference $\Delta \theta(I)$ is given by formula (2.8).

A large part of the difficulty in proving this proposition stems from the fact that we must work in two coordinate systems: the (x, I, θ) coordinates away from the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and the $(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ coordinates near $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Thus, before the actual proof of Proposition 8.1, we prove two results that address this issue. The first is a technical proposition:

Proposition 8.2. Let q^s and p^s be points on the manifolds $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ respectively, such that the normal to the unperturbed local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$ at p^s pierces the perturbed local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at q^s . Then

$$\frac{\langle \nabla a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{s}), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})\|^{2}} = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$

Proof. First of all, we have $\nabla a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^s) = \nabla a(\boldsymbol{p}^s) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$. From the expression for $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^s)$, viz., expression (3.3), and the fact that \boldsymbol{p}^s is a point on the unperturbed local stable manifold $W_{\text{loc}}^s(\mathcal{M})$, i.e., $a(\boldsymbol{p}^s) = 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) &= \nabla \left(H(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) - H(X(I), I) \right) \\ &= \nabla \left(K(a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}), I) - K(0, I) \right) \\ &= D_{ab} K(0, I) \left[b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \nabla a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) + a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \nabla b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \right] \\ &+ D_{I} K \left(a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}), I \right) \nabla I - D_{I} K(0, I) \nabla I \\ &= \lambda(I) b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \nabla a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}), \end{split}$$
(8.8)

where we have used the shorthand notation $I \equiv I(p^s)$. It follows that

$$\nabla a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})}\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}), \qquad (8.9)$$

so that

$$\frac{\langle \nabla a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{s}), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})\|^{2}} = \frac{\langle \nabla a(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}), \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})\|^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon),$$

as desired. \Box

We remark that had we chosen a point p^u contained in the unperturbed local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$, then the above argument would have yielded $n(p^u) = \lambda(I)a(p^u)\nabla b(p^u)$.

Proposition 8.2 allows us to find an expression for the coordinate $a_{\varepsilon}(q^l)$ of the point q^l at which the orbit O^l enters the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. As defined in the second paragraph of this section, let the normal $n(p^s)$ to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$ that passes through the point q^l also pass through the point p^s on $W(\mathscr{M})$, and let this normal pierce the local stable manifold $W_{loc}^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ at the point q^s . Recall that we have assumed the points q^l and q^s to be at most a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ apart, and so the points q^l and p^s are at most a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ apart. By using the result of Proposition 8.2, we obtain

Proposition 8.3. The a_{ε} coordinate of the point q^{l} is given by the expression

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) = \operatorname{sign} b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\lambda(I)\delta} + \mathscr{O}\left((\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})^{2}\right).$$

Proof. At the point q^s , the coordinate $a_{\varepsilon}(q^s)$ vanishes. Therefore, since we assumed that the points q^l and q^s are at most a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ apart,

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) = a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) - a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{s}) = \langle \nabla a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{s}), \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s} \rangle + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{2\alpha}).$$

Using equation (8.1) and Proposition 8.2, we obtain

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) = \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\lambda(I)b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s})} + \mathscr{O}\left((\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})^{2}\right).$$

If we use $|b(\mathbf{p}^s)| = \delta$, the conclusion follows. \Box

We are now in the position to give the

Proof of Proposition 8.1. Recall the parametrization of the unperturbed homoclinic orbit $p^h(t)$, given by equation (8.2), which approximates to $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ the trajectory $q^l(t)$ during its *j*-th excursion away from the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Recall also that the times t_+^{ε} and t_-^{ε} , introduced by formulas (8.3) and (8.4), are defined in terms of the perturbed Fenichel coordinates by the equations

$$\delta = |a_{\varepsilon}(\hat{q}^{l})| = \left|a_{\varepsilon}\left(\hat{p}^{h}(-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})\right)\right|$$

$$= |a(x^{h}(-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}, I), I)| + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha}),$$

$$\delta = |b_{\varepsilon}(q^{l})| = \left|b_{\varepsilon}\left(p^{h}(+t_{+}^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})\right)\right|$$

$$= |b(x^{h}(+t_{+}^{\varepsilon}, I), I)| + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha}).$$

These equations in turn define two times t^0_+ and t^0_- which are $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$ -close to t^{ε}_+ and t^{ε}_- by

$$|a(x^{h}(-t_{-}^{0}, I), I)| = \delta, \quad |b(x^{h}(t_{+}^{0}, I), I)| = \delta.$$
(8.10)

At the time $t = t_{+}^{\varepsilon}$, the angle component of the trajectory $p^{h}(t)$ is

$$\theta^{h}(t_{+}^{\varepsilon}) = \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) + \Omega(X(I), I)t_{+}^{\varepsilon} + \int_{0}^{t_{+}^{\varepsilon}} \left(\Omega(x^{h}(t, I), I) - \Omega(X(I), I)\right) dt,$$
(8.11)

and similarly the angle component of the trajectory $\hat{p}^{h}(t)$ at the time $t = -t^{\varepsilon}_{-}$ is

$$\theta^{h}(-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}) = \theta_{j}(\varepsilon) - \Omega\left(X(\hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon)\right) t_{-}^{\varepsilon} - \int_{-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}}^{0} \left(\Omega\left(x^{h}(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon)\right) - \Omega\left(X(\hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon)\right)\right) dt.$$
(8.12)

In order to use the estimate (4.8), we need to find the angle component $\psi_{+}^{h} \equiv \psi^{h}(t_{+}^{\varepsilon}) \equiv \psi\left(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{\varepsilon})\right)$ for the point $\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{\varepsilon})$ in the Fenichel coordinates. Recall that the Fenichel transformation for the angle component takes the form

$$\psi = \theta + \mathscr{G}(x, I)$$

for some function $\mathscr{G}(x, I)$, given by equation (4.4), which satisfies the identity

$$\mathscr{G}(X(I), I) \equiv 0 \tag{8.13}$$

for all I. By the condition (8.13), we have

$$\psi_+^h - \theta^h(t_+^\varepsilon) = -\int_{t_+^\varepsilon}^\infty \left(\dot{\psi}^h(t) - \dot{\theta}^h(t) \right) dt.$$

Since the trajectory $p^h(t)$ lies on the local stable manifold $W^s_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{M})$ for t sufficiently large, we have $a(p^h(t), I) = 0$ and $\dot{\psi}^h = \Omega(X(I), I)$. It follows that

$$\psi^h_+ - \theta^h(t^\varepsilon_+) = -\int_{t^\varepsilon_+}^\infty \left(\Omega(X(I), I) - \Omega(x^h(t, I), I) \right) dt.$$
(8.14)

By combining this with equation (8.11), we find

$$\psi_+^h = \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) + \Omega(X(I), I)t_+^\varepsilon + \Delta\theta_+(I),$$

where we have defined

$$\Delta\theta_{+}(I) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\mathcal{Q}(x^{h}(t, I), I) - \mathcal{Q}(X(I), I) \right) dt.$$
(8.15)

The result of the previous paragraph, estimate (4.8), and the choice $q^l(t_+^{\varepsilon}) = q^l$ show that at the time when the trajectory $q^l(t)$ leaves the neighborhood U_{δ} again, that is, at $t = T + t_+^{\varepsilon}$, the phase angle of $q^l(t)$ in the Fenichel coordinates is

$$\psi_{+}^{h} + \Omega(X(I), I)T + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)$$
$$= \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) + \Omega(X(I), I)(t_{+}^{\varepsilon} + T) + \Delta\theta_{+}(I) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) (8.16)$$

where *T* is estimated by formula (4.5). Now, by the definition of the exit point \hat{q}^l , this phase angle can also be approximated by the formula $\hat{\psi}^h_- - \theta^h(-t^\varepsilon_-)$ where $\hat{\psi}^h_- \equiv \hat{\psi}^h(-t^\varepsilon_-) \equiv \psi(\hat{p}^h(-t^\varepsilon_-))$. By analogy with formula (8.14), we have

$$\hat{\psi}_{-}^{h} - \theta^{h}(-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}) = \int_{-\infty}^{-t_{-}^{\varepsilon}} \left(\Omega\left(X(\hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon) \right) - \Omega\left(x^{h}(t, \hat{I}(\varepsilon)), \hat{I}(\varepsilon) \right) \right) dt, \quad (8.17)$$

which combined with equation (8.12) and the approximation $|\hat{I}(\varepsilon) - I| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$ by (4.7) yields

$$\hat{\psi}_{-}^{h} = \theta_{j}(\varepsilon) - \Omega(X(I), I)t_{-}^{\varepsilon} - \Delta\theta_{-}(I) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \quad (8.18)$$

where

$$\Delta\theta_{-}(I) \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{0} \left(\Omega(x^{h}(s,I),I) - \Omega(X(I),I) \right) ds.$$
(8.19)

Since $q^l(T + t_+^{\varepsilon}) = \hat{q}^l$, the two phases (8.16) and (8.18) must be equal, so that

$$\hat{\psi}^{h}_{-} = \psi^{h}_{+} + \Omega(X(I), I)T + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

This equation, together with equations (8.16) and (8.18), finally gives the total phase difference as

$$\theta_{j}(\varepsilon) - \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) = \Delta \theta(I) + \omega(I)(t_{+}^{\varepsilon} + t_{-}^{\varepsilon} + T) + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \quad (8.20)$$

where $\Delta \theta(I) = \Delta \theta_+(I) + \Delta \theta_-(I)$ is the same as that given by formula (2.8), and, as usual, $\omega(I) \equiv \Omega(X(I), I)$.

From the estimate (4.5) we easily compute that the time *T* of flight through the neighborhood U_{δ} of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ equals

$$T = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \log \left| \frac{\delta}{a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{I})} \right| + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right),$$

and Proposition 8.3 implies that

$$T = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \log \left| \frac{\delta^2 \lambda(I)}{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^l - \boldsymbol{q}^s, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^s) \rangle} \right| + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right).$$

The times t^0_+ and t^0_- defined by equation (8.10), which approximate t^{ε}_+ and t^{ε}_- with an error of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \varepsilon^{\alpha})$, can be expressed in terms of the size δ of the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. Thinking of δ as a function of t^0_+ via $\delta = |b(\mathbf{p}^h(t^0_+))|$, we have

$$\frac{d\delta}{dt_{+}^{0}} = \left(\operatorname{sign} b(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{0})) \right) \dot{b}(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{0})) = -\lambda(0, I) |b(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{0}))| = -\lambda(I)\delta,$$

where we have used equation (4.2b) at $a(\mathbf{p}^{h}(t_{+}^{0})) = 0$. Integrating yields

$$t^0_+ = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \log \frac{C_+(I)}{\delta} \,,$$

where $C_+(I)$ is the constant of integration which is given by

$$C_{+}(I) = \lim_{t \to \infty} |b(\mathbf{p}^{h}(t))| e^{\lambda(I)t}.$$
(8.21)

An analogous argument for t_{-}^{0} yields

$$t_{-}^{0} = \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \log \frac{C_{-}(I)}{\delta}$$

where

$$C_{-}(I) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} |a(\boldsymbol{p}^{h}(t))| e^{-\lambda(I)t}, \qquad (8.22)$$

so that the total phase difference evaluates to

$$\theta_{j}(\varepsilon) - \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon) = \Delta\theta + \frac{\omega(I)}{\lambda(I)} \log \left| \frac{\lambda(I)C_{+}(I)C_{-}(I)}{\langle q^{I} - q^{s}, n(p^{s}) \rangle} \right| + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\alpha - D\varepsilon} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$
(8.23)

The expressions (8.21) and (8.22) for the functions $C_+(I)$ and $C_-(I)$ still involve the Fenichel coordinates *b* and *a* respectively, and so $C_+(I)$ and $C_-(I)$ cannot be computed explicitly without knowing the explicit form of the functions a(x, I) and b(x, I). We therefore need to determine an expression of $C_+(I)$ and $C_-(I)$ which does not refer to the Fenichel coordinates. This can be done in terms of the linearization of the vector field (2.4a) at x = X(I), as follows. By the L'Hospital rule,

$$C_{+}(I) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \left| \langle D_{x}b(p^{h}(t)), JD_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I) \rangle \right| e^{\lambda(I)t}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \left| \langle D_{x}b(X(I), I), JD_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I) \rangle \right| e^{\lambda(I)t}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\| e^{\lambda(I)t}$$

$$\times \left| \left| \langle D_{x}b(X(I), I), \frac{JD_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)}{\|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|} \right| \right|$$

$$= f_{+}(I) \left| \left| \langle D_{x}b(X(I), I), \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{JD_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)}{\|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|} \right| \right|,$$
(8.24)

where we have defined, as in equation (8.7),

$$f_+(I) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} e^{\lambda(I)t} \|D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)\|.$$

Similarly we have (cf. equation (8.7))

$$C_{-}(I) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} \left| \langle D_{x}a(X(I), I), J D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I) \rangle \right| e^{-\lambda(I)t}$$

= $f_{-}(I) \left| \left\langle D_{x}b(X(I), I), \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{J D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)}{\|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|} \right\rangle \right|,$ (8.25)

with

$$f_{-}(I) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(I)} e^{-\lambda(I)t} \|D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)\|.$$

The unit vectors

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{\pm\lambda} \equiv \mp \lim_{t \to \pm\infty} \frac{J D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)}{\|D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)\|}$$
(8.26)

span the tangent spaces of the unstable and stable manifolds $W^u(X(I))$ and $W^s(X(I))$ of the equilibrium point X(I), respectively. Since b(x, I) = 0 defines the unstable manifold $W^u(X(I))$ in the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M})$, the vector $D_x b(X(I), I)$ is normal to $W^u(X(I))$ at x = X(I), and so

$$D_x b(X(I), I) = \kappa_b \lim_{t \to -\infty} \frac{D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)}{\|D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)\|}$$
(8.27)

for some proportionality constant κ_b . Likewise, the vector $D_x a(X(I), I)$ normal to $W^s(X(I))$ at x = X(I) is

$$D_{x}a(X(I), I) = \kappa_{a} \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)}{\|D_{x}H(x^{h}(t, I), I)\|}$$
(8.28)

for some other proportionality constant κ_a (see Figure 8.2 for a sketch of the geometry).



Fig. 8.2. Sketch of the geometry of the vectors normal and tangent to the stable manifold $W^{s}(X(I))$ and unstable manifold $W^{u}(X(I))$ at X(I).

The condition that the $x \mapsto (a, b)$ part of the Fenichel transformation be canonical is easily seen to be $|\langle D_x a(X(I), I), J D_x b(X(I), I) \rangle| = 1$. Inserting expressions (8.28) and (8.27) into this condition yields an equation for the constants κ_a and κ_b

$$\begin{aligned} |\kappa_a \kappa_b| \lim_{t \to \infty} \left| \left\langle \frac{D_x H(x^h(-t, I), I)}{\|D_x H(x^h(-t, I), I)\|}, \frac{J D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)}{\|D_x H(x^h(t, I), I)\|} \right\rangle \right| \\ &= |\kappa_a \kappa_b| \left| \langle J \boldsymbol{e}_{+\lambda}, \boldsymbol{e}_{-\lambda} \rangle \right| = |\kappa_a \kappa_b \sigma| = 1, \end{aligned}$$
(8.29)

where we have used the definitions (8.26) for the second equality and the definition (3.4) of the signature σ for the last equality. Combining equations (8.24), (8.25) with the expressions (8.27), (8.28) and the definitions (8.26) finally yields

$$C_{+}(I)C_{-}(I) = |\kappa_{a}\kappa_{b}|f_{+}(I)f_{-}(I)|\langle J e_{+\lambda}, e_{-\lambda}\rangle|^{2}$$

= $f_{+}(I)f_{-}(I)|\langle J e_{+\lambda}, e_{-\lambda}\rangle| = |\sigma|f_{+}(I)f_{-}(I),$ (8.30)

where we have used condition (8.29) in the last equality.

Let us introduce the following notation for the entries of the Hessian of the Hamiltonian H(x, I) at x = X(I),

$$A_0(I) = D_{x_1} D_{x_2} H(X(I), I), \quad A_1(I) = D_{x_1}^2 H(X(I), I),$$

 $A_2(I) = D_{x_2}^2 H(X(I), I),$

so that $\lambda(I) = \sqrt{A_0^2(I) - A_1(I)A_2(I)}$. When $A_2(I) \neq 0$, a simple calculation shows that the vectors $\boldsymbol{e}_{\pm\lambda}$ are the eigenvectors of the Hessian $JD_x^2H(X(I), I)$,

$$e_{\pm\lambda} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(A_2(I))^2 + (\lambda(I) \pm A_0(I))^2}} \begin{pmatrix} A_2(I) \\ -(A_0(I) \pm \lambda(I)) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using this expression in (8.30) to compute $|\sigma| = |\langle J \boldsymbol{e}_{+\lambda}, \boldsymbol{e}_{-\lambda} \rangle|$ then gives

$$C_{+}(I)C_{-}(I) = \frac{2\lambda(I)|A_{2}(I)|f_{+}(I)f_{-}(I)}{\sqrt{\left[\left(A_{2}(I)\right)^{2} + \left(\lambda(I) - A_{0}(I)\right)^{2}\right]\left[\left(A_{2}(I)\right)^{2} + \left(\lambda(I) + A_{0}(I)\right)^{2}\right]}}.$$
(8.31)

When $A_2(I) = 0$, a similar calculation shows that

П

$$C_{+}(I)C_{-}(I) = \frac{2\lambda(I)f_{+}(I)f_{-}(I)}{\sqrt{4(\lambda(I))^{2} + (A_{1}(I))^{2}}}$$

which coincides with the limit of (8.31) when $A_2(I) \rightarrow 0$, and hence we can take (8.31) as the representative of the general case. Setting

$$\varsigma(I) = \lambda(I)C_+(I)C_-(I)$$

proves the proposition.

9. Proof of the Main Result

In this section we finally tie the results of the previous sections into a proof of Theorem 1. We will obtain this proof in three steps by following an orbit O^l that is contained in the manifold \mathscr{G} , the piece of the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ whose properties we have discussed in the previous four sections. In the first of the three steps, we compute the distance between any point on the orbit O^l and the stable manifold $W^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ in terms of the *j*-pulse Melnikov function, provided that the orbit O^l does not lie on any of the folds of the manifold \mathscr{G} . The second step is Proposition 9.2, which expresses the nonfolding condition of Lemma 1 in terms of the logarithmic derivative of the *j*-pulse Melnikov function. The third step is the actual proof of Theorem 1.

We remark that at every step the exponent α we have used in all previous estimates turns out to be $\alpha = 1$.

The first step is given by

Proposition 9.1. Let O^l be an orbit on the manifold \mathscr{L} and let no part of this orbit lie on a fold of the manifold \mathscr{L} . Let q_j be any point on the *j*-th pulse of the orbit O^l , and let p_j be the point on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$ such that the normal $n(p_j)$ to $W(\mathscr{M})$ at the point p_j passes through the point q_j . Then the signed distance $d^{l,s}(p_j)$ between the point q_j and the manifold $W^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ along the normal $n(p_j)$ equals

$$d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_j) = \varepsilon \frac{M_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_j)\|} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-\beta}\right), \qquad (9.1)$$

where β can be taken arbitrarily small by decreasing ε . Here the *j*-pulse Melnikov function $M_i(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ is defined recursively as

$$M_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} M(I, \theta_0 + i\Delta\theta + \mathscr{F}_i(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \mu),$$

with

$$\mathscr{T}_{i}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \frac{\Omega(X(I), I)}{\lambda(I)} \sum_{r=1}^{i} \log \left| \frac{\varsigma(I)}{\varepsilon M_{r}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)} \right|,$$

and $\mathscr{H}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = 0$. The function $\varsigma(I)$ is defined in terms of the entries of the Hessian $JD_x^2 H(X(I), I)$ by equation (8.6).

Proof. The first excursion or pulse of the orbit O^l away from the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ can be approximated to order $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ by the solution

$$\boldsymbol{p}_1^h(t) \equiv \mathscr{P}(t) = \left(x^h(t, I), I, \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0 \right).$$

Let q_1 be any point on this pulse, and let p_1 be the $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close point on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ such that the normal $n(p_1)$ to $W(\mathcal{M})$ at the point p_1 passes through the point q_1 . The standard Melnikov method shows that the signed distance along the normal $n(p_1)$ between the point q_1 and the stable manifold $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ equals

$$d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_1) = \varepsilon \frac{M(I,\theta_0,\mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_1)\|} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$
(9.2)

Let us now consider the second pulse of the orbit O^l . Lemma 1 and Propositions 7.1 and 6.2 with $\alpha = 1$ show that after its exiting the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$, the distance between the orbit O^l and the unstable manifold $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at any point q_2 along the second pulse of O^l equals

$$d^{l,u}(\boldsymbol{p}_2) = \varepsilon \frac{M(I,\theta_0,\mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_2)\|} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right), \quad (9.3)$$

where the point p_2 is related to the point q_2 in the same way as p_1 is related to q_1 , and β can be taken as small as we please when we decrease ε .

From equation (9.3) and estimate (4.7) in Proposition 4.2, it follows that the second pulse of the orbit O^l is approximated to $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ by the solution

$$p_2^h(t) = \left(x^h(t, I_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)), I_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \\ \theta^h(t, I_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)) + \theta_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)\right),$$

where $|I_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) - I| = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$, and the new phase $\theta_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ is given by formula (8.5), $\theta_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) \equiv \theta_1(\varepsilon)$, with $q^l = q_1$ and $p^s = p_1$, so that $n(p^s) = n(p_1)$. We thus conclude that the signed distance between the manifolds

 $W^u_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ along the normal $n(p_2)$ to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ at the point p_2 equals

$$d^{u,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_2) = \varepsilon \frac{M(I, \theta_1(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_2)\|} + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^2 \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$
(9.4)

From equations (9.3) and (9.4), it thus follows that the signed distance between the point q_2 on the orbit O^l and the manifold $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ along the normal $n(p_2)$ equals

$$d^{l,s}(\mathbf{p}_2) = \varepsilon \frac{M(I,\theta_0,\mu) + M(I,\theta_1(\varepsilon, I,\theta_0,\mu),\mu)}{\|\mathbf{n}(\mathbf{p}_2)\|} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right).$$
(9.5)

Now, from equation (9.2) it follows that if q_1^s is the point where the normal $n(p_1)$ intersects the local stable manifold $W_{loc}^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$, we must have

$$\langle \boldsymbol{q}_1 - \boldsymbol{q}_1^s, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_1) \rangle = d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_1) \| \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_1) \| = \varepsilon M(I, \theta_0, \mu) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2).$$

Therefore, equation (8.5), with $q^l = q_1$, $p^s = p_1$, and $q^s = q_1^s$, implies that the phase $\theta_1(I, \theta_0, \mu, \varepsilon)$ is given by the expression

$$\theta_1(I,\theta_0,\mu,\varepsilon) = \theta_0 + \Delta\theta(I) + \mathscr{T}(\varepsilon,I,\theta_0,\mu) + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-\beta} + \varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

where

$$\mathscr{T}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = \frac{\Omega(X(I), I)}{\lambda(I)} \log\left(\frac{\varsigma(I)}{\varepsilon M(I, \theta_0, \mu)}\right)$$

We conclude that the distance $d^{l,s}(\mathbf{p}_2)$ is given by the quantity

$$d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_2) = \varepsilon \frac{M_2(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_2)\|} + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right).$$
(9.6)

Here the 2-pulse Melnikov function $M_2(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ is defined as

$$M_2(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = M(I, \theta_0, \mu) + M(I, \theta_0 + \Delta\theta + \mathscr{T}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \mu).$$

We can get rid of the term $\mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^2 \left(\log(1/\varepsilon)\right)^2\right)$ in equation (9.6) by decreasing ε while keeping β fixed.

We proceed by using finite induction along the subsequent pulses of the orbit O^l . Let q_{j-1} be a point along the (j - 1)-st pulse of the orbit O^l , with j > 1, and assume that its distance from the stable manifold $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is given by an expression analogous to equation (9.5),

$$d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_{j-1}) = \varepsilon \frac{M_{j-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_{j-1})\|} + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-(j-2)\beta}\right),$$

where the point p_{j-1} on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ is such that the normal $n(p_j)$ to $W(\mathcal{M})$ passes through the point q_{j-1} .

For the *j*-th pulse, we use $\alpha = 1 - (j - 2)\beta$ in Lemma 1, to ensure that the tangent space of the winding manifold \mathscr{L} exits the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at least as close as order $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{1-(j-1)\beta})$ to the tangent space of the local unstable manifold $W^{u}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. We then refine the estimate of the distance between the orbit O^{l} in \mathscr{L} and the local unstable manifold $W^{u}_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ by using Proposition 7.1 with $\alpha = 1$, to ensure that when exiting the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ the leading order of this distance is again $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$. Using Proposition 6.2 with $\alpha = 1$ again shows that the distance between the orbit O^{l} and the unstable manifold $W^{u}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at any point q_{j} along the *j*-th pulse of O^{l} equals

$$d^{l,u}(\boldsymbol{p}_j) = \varepsilon \frac{M_{j-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_j)\|} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-(j-1)\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right),$$

where the point p_j is again related to the point q_j by the fact that the normal $n(p_j)$ to $W(\mathcal{M})$ at p_j passes through the point q_j , and β can be taken as small as we please when we decrease ε . Just as for j = 2, we then compute that the signed distance $d^{l,s}(p_j)$ between the point q_j and the manifold $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ along the normal $n(p_j)$ is equal to

$$\begin{split} d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_j) &= \varepsilon \frac{M_{j-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) + M(I, \theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_j)\|} \\ &+ \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-(j-1)\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right) \\ &= \varepsilon \frac{M_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_j)\|} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-(j-1)\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \left(\log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right), \end{split}$$

where β can again be taken arbitrarily small, and the phase angle $\theta_{j-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ can be computed recursively by using formula (8.5) and the distance $d^{l,s}(\mathbf{p}_{j-1})$. Renaming $(j-1)\beta \equiv \beta$ and reducing ε so that we get rid of the $\mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^2 \left(\log(1/\varepsilon)\right)^2\right)$ term concludes the proof. \Box

Before we finally prove our main result, Theorem 1, we need to rephrase the nonfolding condition (5.29) in terms of the original (x, I, θ) coordinates, in particular, in terms of the derivatives of the *j*-pulse Melnikov functions $M_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$. This is expressed by

Proposition 9.2. Let the manifold \mathscr{L} be approaching the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ for the k-th time, k > 0, and let the trajectory $\mathbf{q}^l(t)$ on \mathscr{L} enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the point \mathbf{q}^l . Then, at \mathbf{q}^l , the nonfolding condition (5.29) is equivalent to the inequality

$$\left|\frac{1-\frac{\Omega(X(I),I)}{\lambda(I)}D_{\theta_0}\log|M_1M_2\cdots M_k|(\varepsilon,I,\theta_0,\mu)}{1-\frac{\Omega(X(I),I)}{\lambda(I)}D_{\theta_0}\log|M_1M_2\cdots M_{k-1}|(\varepsilon,I,\theta_0,\mu)}\right| > B,$$
(9.7)

holding for some constant B > 0 independent of ε and all ε sufficiently small. When k = 1, the denominator of the left-hand side of the inequality (9.7) is taken to be 1.

We remark that for the case of only one angle θ_0 and a homoclinic orbit for the unperturbed *x*-system, it is possible to obtain a simplified condition by using the fact that the Melnikov function is periodic in θ_0 , as in the third remark made after Theorem 1. In particular, the inequality (9.7) can be replaced by the simpler inequalities

$$\frac{\Omega(X(I), I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \cdots M_{k-1}| (\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) \neq 1,$$
(9.8)

$$\frac{\Omega(X(I), I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \cdots M_k| (\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) \neq 1,$$
(9.9)

where we assume that $\Omega(X(I), I) \neq 0$.

Proof of Proposition 9.2. After the *k*-th pulse, Proposition 9.1 shows that the manifold \mathscr{L} returns to the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ close to the local stable manifold $W_{loc}^{s}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ at the point q^{l} , whose $a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}$ coordinates are $(A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon), \delta, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$. Furthermore, a repeated use of Lemma 1 shows that the corresponding tangent spaces are $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta})$ -close for any small $\beta > 0$, just as long as we take ε small enough, and the orbit $q^{l}(t)$ that passes through the point q^{l} does not lie on a fold of the manifold \mathscr{L} . As the orbit $q^{l}(t)$ flies through the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, the conclusion of Lemma 1 holds if the inequality (5.29), i.e.,

$$\left|\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}) - \omega(I_{\varepsilon}) \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)}{|A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)|}\right| > B$$

holds for some constant B > 0 independent of ε . Here $\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon}) \equiv \lambda(I_{\varepsilon})$ is the positive eigenvalue of the matrix $JD_x^2 H(X(I_{\varepsilon}), I_{\varepsilon})$, and $\omega(I_{\varepsilon}) = \Omega(X(I_{\varepsilon}), I_{\varepsilon})$.

In order to prove Proposition 9.2, we need to express all the quantities in inequality (5.29) in terms of the arguments I and θ_0 of the k-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$. This is easy for $\lambda(0, I_{\varepsilon})$ and $\omega(I_{\varepsilon}) = \Omega(X(I_{\varepsilon}), I_{\varepsilon})$, because they do not depend on the angle ψ_{ε} . Also, for the point q^I , the Fenichel coordinate I_{ε} , introduced in Proposition 4.1, is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close to its I-coordinate, and furthermore, I_{ε} is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$ -close to the argument I of the k-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ by the inequality (4.7). Computing the logarithmic derivative of the function $A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)$ with respect to ψ_{ε} is therefore the main task of this proof.

First, by Proposition 8.3 and the inequality (4.7), we find that

$$A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon},\psi_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon) \equiv a_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) = \operatorname{sign} b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \frac{\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle}{\lambda(I)\delta} + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right),$$

where *I* is now the argument of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$. We recall here that p^s and q^s are the points where the normal $n(p^s)$ to the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ that passes through the point q^l intersects $W(\mathcal{M})$

and the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathcal{M})$, respectively. Furthermore, Proposition 9.1 implies that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{q}^{l} - \boldsymbol{q}^{s}, \boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \rangle = \varepsilon M_{k}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{2-\beta}),$$

and so

$$A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon},\psi_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon) = \operatorname{sign} b(\boldsymbol{p}^{s}) \frac{\varepsilon M_{k}(\varepsilon,I,\theta_{0},\mu)}{\lambda(I)\delta} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-\beta} + \varepsilon^{2}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right),$$

where the neglected terms must vary smoothly with all of their arguments including ε by the results of Sections 4 and 5. Since $D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}I = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon \log(1/\varepsilon))$, we must have

$$D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} \log |A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)| = D_{\theta_0} \log |M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)| D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} \theta_0 + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{2-2\beta} + \varepsilon^{2-\beta} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right),$$
(9.10)

where the additional β appears in the exponent of the remainder estimate because the differentiation on ψ_{ε} involves the tangent space of the manifold \mathscr{S} at the point q^l , at which the manifold \mathscr{S} reenters the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ for the *k*-th time, and there this tangent space is only $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta})$ -close to the corresponding tangent space of local unstable manifold $W^s_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. Equation (9.10) shows that in order to complete this proof, we must now compute the derivative $D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}\theta_0$.

This can be done as follows. From the proof of Proposition 4.1, we see that

$$\psi_{\varepsilon} = \theta(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) + \mathscr{G}(\boldsymbol{x}(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}), I(\boldsymbol{q}^{l})) + \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon),$$

for some function $\mathscr{G}(x, I)$, whose exact form is unimportant here. Helped by repeated applications of Propositions 8.1 and 9.1, we compute $\theta(q^l)$ as

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(\boldsymbol{q}^{l}) &= \theta_{0} + (k-1)\Delta\theta(I) + \mathscr{T}_{k-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) + \theta^{h}(t^{0}_{+}(I), I) \\ &+ \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-\beta} + \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where the time $t^0_+(I)$ is defined by $|b(x^h(t^0_+(I), I), I)| = \delta$ (see equation (8.10) at the beginning of the proof of Proposition 8.1), and *I* is the value of the argument of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$. Thus, the angles ψ_{ε} and θ_0 are connected by the relation

$$\psi_{\varepsilon} = \theta_0 + (k-1)\Delta\theta(I) + \mathscr{T}_{k-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) + \theta^h(t^0_+(I), I) + \mathscr{G}(x(q^l), I(q^l)) + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-\beta} + \varepsilon \log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right),$$
(9.11)

where the neglected terms again vary smoothly with both angles ψ_{ε} and θ_0 , as well as with ε , by the results of Sections 4 and 5. Since $D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}x(q^l) = \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ and $D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}I(q^l) = \mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ by the construction of the $(a_{\varepsilon}, b_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon})$ coordinates in the proof of Proposition 4.1, we obtain by implicit differentiation in the equation (9.11) that

$$D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}\theta_{0} = \frac{1}{\left(1 + D_{\theta_{0}}\mathscr{T}_{k-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)\right)} + \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-2\beta} + \varepsilon^{1-\beta}\log\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

Directly from the definition (3.6) of the angle $\mathscr{T}_{j}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)$, we can compute its derivative with respect to θ_{0} :

$$D_{\theta_0}\mathscr{T}_{k-1}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = -\frac{\omega(I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \dots M_{k-1}|(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu),$$

and therefore we finally find

$$D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}}\theta_{0} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\omega(I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_{0}} \log |M_{1}M_{2}\dots M_{k-1}|(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-2\beta} + \varepsilon^{1-\beta} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right).$$

$$(9.12)$$

We now combine equation (9.12), equation (9.10), and a calculation of the derivative $D_{\theta_0} M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ directly from the definition by formula (3.5), to obtain

$$\begin{split} \lambda(I_{\varepsilon}) &- \omega(I_{\varepsilon}) \frac{D_{\psi_{\varepsilon}} A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)}{|A_{\varepsilon}(I_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon)|} \\ &= \lambda(I) \frac{1 - \frac{\omega(I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \dots M_k| (\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)}{1 - \frac{\omega(I)}{\lambda(I)} D_{\theta_0} \log |M_1 M_2 \dots M_{k-1}| (\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)} \\ &+ \mathscr{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1-2\beta} + \varepsilon^{1-\beta} \log \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \end{split}$$

where the number $\beta > 0$ can be taken as small as we please if we keep decreasing ε . This proves Proposition 9.2. \Box

Finally, we are ready to carry out the

Proof of Theorem 1. Consider again an orbit O^l on the manifold \mathscr{L} . For $j = 1, \ldots, k-1$, we show recursively using Proposition 9.1 that if the second condition of Theorem 1 is met, then, after completing the *j*-th pulse, the orbit O^l exits the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ along the correct branch of the local unstable manifold $W_{loc}^{l}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, so that its (j+1)-st pulse can again follow an orbit on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$. Furthermore, we show recursively at the same time by using Proposition 9.2 and Lemma 1 that if the nonfolding condition of Theorem 1 is met, then the orbit O^l does not lie on any of the folds of the manifold \mathscr{L} . Combined with Proposition 9.1, this shows that the orbit O^l has at least *k* pulses that follow the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathscr{M})$ along excursions away from the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, and that the distance $d^{l,s}(p_k)$ from any point q_k along the *k*-th pulse of the orbit O^l to the stable manifold $W^s(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is given by formula (9.1) with j = k. In this formula, as always, p_k

is the point on the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M})$ such that the normal $n(p_k)$ to $W(\mathcal{M})$ at the point p_k passes through the point q_k . By continuity, the same statements are also true for all nearby orbits on the manifold \mathcal{S} , which correspond to values of the variables I and θ_0 close to those that correspond to the orbit O^l .

Now, let us fix $I = \overline{I}$, $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and divide the distance $d^{l,s}(\mathbf{p}_k)$ by ε , so that

$$\frac{d^{l,s}(\boldsymbol{p}_k)}{\varepsilon} = \frac{M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \theta_0, \bar{\mu})}{\|\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{p}_k)\|} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta}).$$
(9.13)

By the first condition of our main theorem (Theorem 1), there exists a curve $\bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$ such that

$$M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu}) = 0.$$

By the third condition of the same theorem, the graph of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \theta_0, \bar{\mu})$ as a function of θ_0 intersects the θ_0 -axis transversely at $\bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$. Because the graph of the left-hand side of (9.13) is, together with the respective tangent spaces, $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta})$ -close to the graph of $M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \theta_0, \bar{\mu})/||\mathbf{n}(\mathbf{p}_k)||$ by the results of Sections 4 and 5, the distance $d^{l,s}(\mathbf{p}_k)$ vanishes on a nearby curve $\bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$ which is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta})$ -close to $\bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$.

Now for ε considered as fixed, a straightforward application of the Implicit Function Theorem ensures the existence of the function $\hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu)$ in a neighborhood of $I = \overline{I}$ and $\mu = \overline{\mu}$ such that $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu) = 0$. This, in turn, implies the existence of the two-dimensional surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\overline{\theta}_0)$ which is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{1-\beta})$ -close to the surfaces spanned by the union of unperturbed homoclinic orbits $\mathscr{P}^h(t) = (x^h(t, I), I, \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0)$ determined by the sequence of phase angles $\theta_0 = \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu) + j\Delta\theta(I) + \mathscr{F}_j(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu)$ for $j = 0, 1, \ldots, k-1$. \Box

Notice a curious fact about this proof. Since the angle increments $\mathcal{F}_{I}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)$ grow like $\mathcal{O}(\Omega(X(I), I) \log(1/\varepsilon))$ when ε decreases, the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_{k}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)$ does not have a limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ unless $\Omega(X(I), I) = 0$. Nevertheless, the *k*-pulse intersection orbit between the manifolds $W^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$, which is determined by a simple zero in θ_{0} of this function, is better and better approximated by the corresponding segments of the unperturbed homoclinic orbits as ε becomes smaller and smaller.

10. Extensions

In this section, we present some simple but important extensions of Theorem 1. The first extension concerns substituting heteroclinic orbits for homoclinic orbits in Assumption 2. This extension also covers the case when the unperturbed annulus \mathcal{M} is connected to itself by a pair of homoclinic manifolds. The second extension is to higher dimensional I and θ .

First, we consider the extension to heteroclinic manifolds connecting several normally hyperbolic annuli. In this case, we replace Assumption 2 by

Assumption 3. For every I with $I_1 < I < I_2$, and some integer k, equation (2.4a) possesses k + 1 hyperbolic equilibria $x = X_j(I)$, j = 0, ..., k, which vary continuously with I. The unstable and stable manifolds, $W^u(X_j(I))$ and $W^s(X_{j+1}(I))$, intersect along a heteroclinic orbit, $W_j(I)$, connecting the equilibrium at $x = X_j(I)$ to the equilibrium at $x = X_{j+1}(I)$, for j = 0, ..., k.

In the full four-dimensional (x, I, θ) -phase space of the system (2.4), the equilibria $x = X_j(I)$ correspond to annuli \mathcal{M}_j filled with periodic orbits O_j^I , which are parametrized by the solutions

$$x = X_j(I), \quad I = I, \quad \theta = \Omega(X_j(I), I)t + \theta_0 \equiv \omega_j(I)t + \theta_0.$$
(10.1)

The heteroclinic orbits $W_j(I)$ correspond to three-dimensional heteroclinic manifolds W_j , parametrized by t, I, and θ_0 in the solutions

$$x = x_j^h(t, I), (10.2a)$$

$$I = I, \tag{10.2b}$$

$$\theta = \theta_j^h(t, I) + \theta_0 = \int_0^t \mathcal{Q}(x_j^h(s, I), I)ds + \theta_0.$$
(10.2c)

The heteroclinic manifolds W_i can be represented implicitly by the equations

$$H(x, I) - H(X_{j-1}(I), I) = H(x, I) - H(X_j(I), I) = 0.$$
 (10.3)

Notice that the two expressions in this formula are the same because, by continuity, all the expressions $H(X_j(I), I)$, with j = 0, ..., k, must be equal. The case of one or more homoclinic or heteroclinic cycles is easily included in this notation by letting some of the equilibria coincide, i.e., by letting $X_i(I) = X_j(I)$ for some $i \neq j$.

We define the Melnikov functions $M^{(j)}(I, \theta_0, \mu)$, with j = 0, ..., k in the usual way by

$$M^{(j)}(I,\theta_0,\mu) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left\langle \boldsymbol{n}(\mathscr{P}_j^h(t)), \, \boldsymbol{g}(\mathscr{P}_j^h(t),\mu,0) \right\rangle dt, \qquad (10.4)$$

where

$$\mathscr{P}_j^h(t) = (x_j^h(t, I), I, \theta_j^h(t, I) + \theta_0),$$

$$n(\mathscr{P}_{j}^{h}(t)) = \left(D_{x}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I), D_{I}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I) - D_{I}H(X_{j-1}(I),I), 0 \right) \quad (10.5)$$
$$= \left(D_{x}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I), D_{I}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I) - D_{I}H(X_{j}(I),I), 0 \right).$$

By analogy with (3.4), we define the signatures σ_j of the normals **n** to the unperturbed heteroclinic manifolds W_j by

$$\sigma_{j} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\left\langle \boldsymbol{n}(\mathscr{P}_{j}^{h}(t)), \dot{\mathscr{P}}_{j+1}^{h}(-t) \right\rangle}{||D_{x}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I)|| \, ||D_{x}H(x_{j+1}^{h}(-t,I),I)||}$$

$$= \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\left\langle D_{x}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I), J D_{x}H(x_{j+1}^{h}(-t,I),I) \right\rangle}{||D_{x}H(x_{j}^{h}(t,I),I)|| \, ||D_{x}H(x_{j+1}^{h}(-t,I),I)||},$$
(10.6)

so that σ_j is positive if the normal n to W_j points in the direction of the unperturbed flow on the heteroclinic manifold $W_{j+1}(I)$ at a point $(X_j(I), I, \theta)$ in the annulus \mathcal{M}_j .

The main difference introduced by the heteroclinic case in the form of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ lies in the phase jumps $\Delta \theta$, which now depend on the heteroclinic orbit along which they are computed. Specifically, we define the *k*-pulse Melnikov function as

$$M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} M^{(j)} \left(I, \theta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^j \Delta \theta_i(I) + \mathscr{T}_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu), \mu \right), \quad (10.7)$$

where

$$\Delta \theta_i(I) = \int_0^{+\infty} \left(\Omega(x_{i-1}^h(t), I) - \Omega(X_i(I), I) \right) dt$$

$$+ \int_{-\infty}^0 \left(\Omega(x_i^h(t), I) - \Omega(X_i(I), I) \right) dt,$$
(10.8)

and the sum of the phase jumps is absent if j = 0. Here

$$\mathscr{T}_{j}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \sum_{r=1}^{j} \frac{\omega_{r}(I)}{\lambda_{r}(I)} \log \left| \frac{\varsigma_{r}(I)}{\varepsilon M_{r}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu)} \right|,$$
(10.9)

 $\mathscr{T}_{0}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = 0, \omega_{r}(I) = \Omega(X_{r}(I), I)$, and the functions $\varsigma_{r}(I)$ are defined in the same way as equation (8.6) at each equilibrium point $X_{r}(I)$.

Theorem 1 now becomes

Theorem 2. For some integer k, some constant B > 0 independent of ε , some $I = \overline{I}$, some $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and all sufficiently small $0 < \varepsilon$ let there exist a function $\theta_0 = \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$ such that the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. The k-pulse Melnikov function has a simple zero in θ_0 , that is, $M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu}) = 0$, and $|D_{\theta_0}M_k(\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu})| > B$.
- 2. $M_i(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \overline{\mu}) \neq 0$ for all i = 1, ..., k 1, k > 1, and is positive if the signature σ_i for the unperturbed heteroclinic manifold W_i is positive, and negative if σ_i is negative.

3. For all
$$i = 1, ..., k - 1, k > 1$$
,

$$\left| \frac{1 - \lambda_i(\bar{I}) D_{\theta_0} \log \prod_{j=1}^i |M_j|^{\frac{\Omega(X_j(\bar{I}),\bar{I})}{\lambda_j(\bar{I})}} (\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu})}{1 - \lambda_i(\bar{I}) D_{\theta_0} \log \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} |M_j|^{\frac{\Omega(X_j(\bar{I}),\bar{I})}{\lambda_j(\bar{I})}} (\varepsilon, \bar{I}, \bar{\theta}_0(\varepsilon), \bar{\mu})} \right| > B, \quad (10.10)$$

where $\pm \lambda_i(I)$ are the two eigenvalues of the linearization of system (2.4) at the equilibrium $x = X_i(I)$, and the denominator in (10.10) is defined to be 1 when i = 1.

Then for all I close to \overline{I} , all μ close to $\overline{\mu}$, and all sufficiently small ε , there exists a two-dimensional intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\overline{\theta}_{0})$ along which the stable and unstable manifolds $W^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{k,\varepsilon})$ and $W^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{0,\varepsilon})$ of the perturbed annuli $\mathcal{M}_{k,\varepsilon}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{0,\varepsilon}$ intersect transversely at an angle of size $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$. Moreover, outside of some small neighborhoods of the perturbed annuli $\mathcal{M}_{i,\varepsilon}$, $i = 0, \ldots, k$, the surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\overline{\theta}_{0})$ is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close to the union of surfaces spanned by the orbits (10.2) selected by the phase angles

$$\theta_0 = \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu) + \sum_{i=0}^j \Delta \theta_j(I) + \mathscr{F}_j(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu),$$

j = 0, ..., k - 1, where the triple $(I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu)$ identically satisfies the equation

$$M_k(\varepsilon, I, \hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, I, \mu), \mu) = 0$$

in some neighborhood of $I = \overline{I}$ and $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and $\hat{\theta}_0(\varepsilon, \overline{I}, \overline{\mu}) = \overline{\theta}_0(\varepsilon)$.

Proof. The proof of this theorem is almost identical to the proof of Theorem 1. \Box

Notice that the case of multiple homoclinic orbits for a single equilibrium point X(I) can be treated by this extension of Theorem 1 with an obvious adaptation of the notation.

We now briefly discuss an extension of our results to higher-dimensional I and θ variables. Extending Theorems 1 and 2 to the case when $I \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and $\theta \in T^n$, where T^n is the *n*-dimensional torus, is immediate for all positive integers *m* and *n*, including m = 0. We remark, however, that when system (2.1) is Hamiltonian, the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is almost everywhere filled with Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser tori. In this case, a question that arises is whether the stable and unstable manifolds of these tori, as opposed to those of the whole annulus, intersect. In the case of a single action-angle pair (I, θ) our Theorems 1 and 2, combined with the observation that the Hamiltonian surfaces intersect the surfaces $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ transversely, provide an affirmative answer. In the case when I and θ are multi-dimensional one needs to compute additional Melnikov functions. We suspect that results similar to the ones presented here can be obtained in this case of multi-dimensional action-angle pairs;

however, the details are beyond the scope of the present paper and are left to future work.

A more interesting case occurs when we can write $\theta = (\theta_1, \theta_2)$, with $\theta_1 \in T^p$ and $\theta_2 \in \mathbb{R}^q$ for some nonnegative integers p and q with p + q = n. We can then replace the unperturbed equations (2.4c) for θ by

$$\dot{\theta}_1 = \Omega_1(x, I) + \tilde{\Omega}_1(x, I, \theta), \qquad (10.11a)$$

$$\dot{\theta}_2 = \tilde{\Omega}_2(x, I, \theta). \tag{10.11b}$$

To extend the previous results to this situation we must assume that the equations (10.11a) and (10.11b) can be integrated by quadratures, so that a solution $\theta(t, \theta_0)$ of system (10.11) corresponding to some initial condition θ_0 can be computed explicitly. We must also assume the inequality

$$\left\|\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \tilde{\Omega}_s\left(x_i^h(t,I),\theta(t,\theta_0),I\right) dt\right\| < \infty$$
(10.12)

for s = 1, 2 and all j = 1, ..., k. This inequality of course implies that $\tilde{\Omega}_s(X_j(I), \theta, I) = 0$ for s = 1, 2 and all j = 0, ..., k. Notice that the solutions of equations (10.11) define a mapping more general than $\theta_0 \to \theta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{j} \Delta \theta_j(I)$ in the θ -argument of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function (10.7); the analog of the increments $\Delta \theta_j(I)$ of the "angles" θ do not simply depend on *I* only, since the values at the previous mapping, $\theta = \theta^{(j-1)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ say, determine the initial conditions for (10.11) in computing these increments. The *k*-pulse Melnikov function is now defined recursively by

$$M_{k}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} M^{(j)} \Big(I, \theta^{(j)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu), \mu \Big),$$
(10.13)

where the vector $\theta^{(j)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ is defined implicitly by

$$\theta_{1}^{(j)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) = \theta_{1}^{(j-1)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) + \Delta \theta_{j}(I) + \mathscr{F}_{j}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_{0}, \mu) + \int_{0}^{+\infty} \tilde{\Omega}_{1} \Big(x_{j}^{h}(t, I), \theta(t, \theta^{(j-1)}) \Big) dt + \int_{-\infty}^{0} \tilde{\Omega}_{1} \Big(x_{j+1}^{h}(t, I), \theta(t, \theta^{(j)}) \Big) dt,$$
(10.14)

$$\begin{split} \theta_2^{(j)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) &= \theta_2^{(j-1)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) + \int_0^{+\infty} \tilde{\Omega}_2 \Big(x_j^h(t, I), \theta(t, \theta^{(j-1)}) \Big) dt \\ &+ \int_{-\infty}^0 \tilde{\Omega}_2 \Big(x_{j+1}^h(t, I), \theta(t, \theta^{(j)}) \Big) dt, \end{split}$$

for j = 1, ..., k, with $\Delta \theta_j(I)$ and $\mathcal{F}_j(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ computed as in (10.8) and (10.9), with $\Omega(x_j^h(t, I), I)$ and $\omega_j(I)$ replaced by $\Omega_1(x_j^h(t, I), I)$ by $\Omega_1(X_j(I), I)$, respectively, and with $\theta^{(0)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu) = \theta_0$. Notice that we have suppressed the

arguments of the functions $\theta^{(j)}(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$ on the right-hand side of equations (10.14) for ease of notation.

After these modifications and additional assumptions we can proceed as before and obtain the same results. However, notice that the properties of the *k*-pulse Melnikov functions expressed by formulas (3.10) and (3.11) in the third remark following Theorem 1 depend crucially on the fact that the ordinary Melnikov function $M(I, \theta_0, \mu)$ is periodic in θ_0 , i.e., θ_0 lives on S^1 . Properties (3.10) and (3.11) do not apply, in general, when the angle variables θ live on a torus T^m , m > 1. An exception is offered by equation (10.11) because of the condition (10.12). As a consequence of this condition, we have $\dot{\theta}_1 = \Omega_1(X(I), I)$, $\dot{\theta}_2 = 0$ on the unperturbed annulus \mathcal{M} . In this case, it is easy to see that the properties (3.10) and (3.11) apply with $\varepsilon_n = \varepsilon \exp(-2n\pi\lambda(I)/\Omega_1(X(I), I))$. An example for this particular extension of Theorem 1 is discussed in the next section.

11. Application to an Atmospheric Model

The following example was introduced by E. LORENZ to describe the coupling between wave motions in the atmosphere occurring on fast and slow time scales. After a reduction and rescaling (see [6]), the original five-equation model [46] assumes the form

$$\dot{q} = p - \varepsilon z, \tag{11.1a}$$

$$\dot{p} = -R^2 \sin q, \qquad (11.1b)$$

$$\dot{y} = -z, \tag{11.1c}$$

$$\dot{z} = y + R^2 \sin q, \qquad (11.1d)$$

with $(q, p, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^4$. Here *R* is a reduction parameter which is bounded away from zero. This system has an integral of motion

$$E = \frac{1}{2}p^2 - R^2 \cos q + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon(y^2 + z^2).$$
(11.2)

The unperturbed system at $\varepsilon = 0$,

$$\dot{q} = p, \tag{11.3a}$$

$$\dot{p} = -R^2 \sin q, \qquad (11.3b)$$

$$\dot{y} = -z, \tag{11.3c}$$

$$\dot{z} = y + R^2 \sin q, \tag{11.3d}$$

represents a pendulum acting as external forcing on a harmonic oscillator. The parameter *R* gives the eigenvalue of the hyperbolic equilibrium point of the pendulum at $(q, p) = (\pm \pi, 0)$. System (11.3) has the integral of motion

$$E_0 = \frac{1}{2}p^2 - R^2 \cos q. \tag{11.4}$$

The flow generated by (11.3) does not take place on intersections of the level sets of two integrals of motion, although it is still solvable, i.e., integrable by quadratures. In particular, the plane of the harmonic oscillator $\mathcal{M} = \{q, p, y, z \mid q = \pm \pi, p = 0\}$ is a normally hyperbolic manifold, connected to itself by three-dimensional homoclinic manifolds W_{\pm} , defined implicitly by fixing the value of the constant E_0 to be that of the hyperbolic equilibrium point of the pendulum,

$$E_0 = R^2. (11.5)$$

As usual, for the unperturbed system (11.3) the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s_{\pm}(\mathcal{M})$ and $W^u_{\pm}(\mathcal{M})$ coincide along the homoclinic manifolds W_{\pm} . However, system (11.3) has the peculiarity that level surfaces of the constant of motion E_0 do not intersect the plane \mathcal{M} transversely in the four-dimensional phase space. Thus, the periodic orbits $O^{\rho_0} = \{y, z \mid y^2 + z^2 = \rho_0^2\}$ are not normally hyperbolic in the lower-dimensional space of a constant of motion level set. As a consequence, periodic orbits with different ρ_0 's on \mathcal{M} can be connected via heteroclinic excursions.

A parametrization of the manifolds W_{\pm} can be obtained by integrating the unperturbed system (11.3) using the homoclinic solution for the separatrix of the pendulum component. We have

$$W_{\pm} = \{(q, p, y, z) | q = q^{h}(t), \ p = p^{h}(t), y = y^{h}(t; \rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}), \ z = z^{h}(t; \rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0})\},$$
(11.6)

where

164

$$q^{h}(t) = \pm 2 \arcsin\left[\tanh(Rt)\right], \quad p^{h}(t) = \pm 2R \operatorname{sech}(Rt), \quad (11.7)$$

$$y^{h}(t; \rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}) = \rho_{0} \cos(t + \vartheta_{0}) \pm S(t, R) \cos t \pm A(t, R) \sin t,$$

$$z^{h}(t; \rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}) = \rho_{0} \sin(t + \vartheta_{0}) \mp 2R \operatorname{sech}(Rt) \qquad (11.8)$$

$$\pm S(t, R) \sin t \mp A(t, R) \cos t,$$

with $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $\rho_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $\vartheta_0 \in (-\pi, \pi]$ being three parameters. The functions S(t, R), A(t, R) are

$$S(t, R) \equiv 2R \int_{-\infty}^{t} \operatorname{sech}(Rt') \cos t' \, dt',$$

$$A(t, R) \equiv 2R \int_{-\infty}^{t} \operatorname{sech}(Rt') \sin t' \, dt'.$$
(11.9)

Alternatively, for a given ρ_0 , equations (11.7) and (11.8) can be viewed as a parametrization of the two-dimensional stable and unstable manifolds, $W^s(O^{\rho_0})$ and $W^u(O^{\rho_0})$, of the periodic orbit O^{ρ_0} .

The expression (11.8) shows that a given periodic orbit O^{ρ_0} has a one-parameter (ϑ_0) family of heteroclinic connections to other periodic orbits,

$$y = \tilde{\rho}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0) \cos\left[t + \tilde{\theta}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0)\right],$$

$$z = \tilde{\rho}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0) \sin\left[t + \tilde{\theta}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0)\right]$$
(11.10)

in an annulus

$$\rho_0 - S_\infty| < \rho < |\rho_0 + S_\infty|.$$

Here we denote by S_{∞} the value of S(t, R) for $t \to +\infty$, i.e.,

$$S_{\infty} = 2R \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \operatorname{sech}(Rt) \cos t \, dt = 2\pi \, \operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{\pi}{2R}\right), \qquad (11.11)$$

the phase $\tilde{\theta}_{\pm}$ is determined by

$$\tilde{\theta}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0) = \arctan\left(\frac{\rho_0 \sin \vartheta_0}{\rho_0 \cos \vartheta_0 \pm S_{\infty}}\right),\tag{11.12}$$

and the asymptotic radius is

$$\tilde{\rho}_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0) = \left(\rho_0^2 + S_{\infty}^2 \pm 2\rho_0 S_{\infty} \cos \vartheta_0\right)^{1/2}.$$
(11.13)

Among the heteroclinic connections there are four homoclinic ones, corresponding to the two solutions ϑ_0 of

$$\cos\vartheta_0 = \mp \frac{S_\infty}{2\rho_0}.\tag{11.14}$$

We see that for the periodic orbits within the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R) \equiv \{\rho_0 | \rho_0 < \frac{1}{2}S_\infty\}$ no homoclinic connection can exist, $\rho_0 = \frac{1}{2}S_\infty$ being the limiting case when only two homoclinic connections are possible. Since the minimum radius of the annulus is $\tilde{\rho}^2(\rho_0, \pi) = (\rho_0 - S_\infty)^2$, periodic orbits *inside* the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$ can only have heteroclinic excursions, which connect to periodic orbits *outside* $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$.

The geometric interpretation of the above parametrization of the homoclinic manifolds W_{\pm} is particularly simple when viewed in a rotating frame for the *y*, *z* space; see Figure 11.1. In this frame (when the frequency of rotation is the same as that of the harmonic oscillator) the center manifold \mathscr{M} is foliated by circles of equilibrium points O^{ρ_0} , whose two-dimensional stable and unstable manifolds $W_{\pm}^s(O^{\rho_0})$, $W_{\pm}^u(O^{\rho_0})$ are cylinders. The orbits homoclinic (in forward and backward time) to O^{ρ_0} trace the cylinders, and project the circles of equilibrium points O^{ρ_0} back onto the plane \mathscr{M} as a displaced circle of the same radius ρ_0 centered at $x = S_{\infty}$, z = 0. Thus, the stable manifold $W_{\pm}^s(O^{\rho_0})$ and the unstable manifold $W_{\pm}^u(O^{\rho_0})$ intersect *transversely* in the homoclinic manifold W_{+} , and do so along a pair of orbits connecting the equilibrium circle O^{ρ_0} to itself provided that $\rho_0 > \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$. Only at $\rho_0 = \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$, the intersection between the stable manifold $W_{\pm}^s(O^{\rho_0})$ and the unstable manifold $W_{\pm}^u(O^{\rho_0})$ is nontransverse (a tangency occurs here). For $\rho_0 < \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$, the stable manifold $W_{\pm}^s(O^{\rho_0})$ and the unstable manifold $W_{\pm}^u(O^{\rho_0})$ miss each other.



Fig. 11.1. The heteroclinic connections for the rescaled unperturbed problem (11.3) in a rotating frame, for a periodic orbit with $\rho_0 > \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$.

When the perturbation is switched on, the manifold \mathscr{M} deforms into a nearby manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. It can be shown that level surfaces of *E* now intersect $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ transversely in the four-dimensional phase space and the intersection curves are periodic orbits $O_{\varepsilon}^{\rho_0}$ close to O^{ρ_0} .

The distance along the normal to the unperturbed homoclinic manifolds W_{\pm} between the unstable manifold $W_{\pm}^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and the stable manifold $W_{\pm}^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is measured by the Melnikov function, which can be computed explicitly,

$$M_{+}(\rho_{0},\vartheta_{0},R) = -S_{\infty}\left(\rho_{0}\cos\vartheta_{0} + \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}\right),\qquad(11.15)$$

for the distance between the manifolds $W^s_+(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u_+(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, and

$$M_{-}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) = -S_{\infty} \left(-\rho_0 \cos \vartheta_0 + \frac{1}{2} S_{\infty} \right), \qquad (11.16)$$

for the distance between the manifolds $W^s_-(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u_-(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$, respectively. Notice that we have simple zeros of the functions $M_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ at the parameter values for homoclinic orbits, as determined by (11.14).

Of the two-parameter (ρ_0 and ϑ_0) family of heteroclinic connections (11.7) and (11.8) for the unperturbed problem only the *homoclinic* connections survive after perturbation. This is in accord with the fact that, as soon as $\varepsilon \neq 0$, *E* rather than E_0 is a constant of motion. In particular, the stable and unstable manifolds of the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$ miss each other, as the Melnikov function $M_{\pm}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ are bounded

away from zero if $\rho_0 < \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$. However, periodic orbits inside the disk can still be connected by multi-pulse homoclinic orbits, as an application of Theorem 2 will now show.

Let the variable θ in Theorem 2 be two-dimensional, $\theta = (\theta_1, \theta_2) = (\vartheta, \rho) \in S^1 \times \mathbb{R}$, and satisfy the equations

$$\dot{\vartheta} = 1 + \frac{R^2}{\rho} \sin q \cos \vartheta,$$
 (11.17a)

$$\dot{\rho} = R^2 \sin q \sin \vartheta, \qquad (11.17b)$$

as implied by the last two equations in (11.1) for $y = \rho \cos \vartheta$ and $z = \rho \sin \vartheta$. Let the variable *I* be absent. By using the asymptotic values (ϑ_0, ρ_0) of (ϑ, ρ) for $t \to -\infty$, we can write the *k*-pulse Melnikov function (10.13) in the present case as

$$M_k(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} M^{(j)}(\rho^{(j)}, \vartheta^{(j)}, R), \qquad (11.18)$$

where

$$M^{(j)}(\rho^{(j)}, \vartheta^{(j)}, R) = -S_{\infty}\left((-1)^{s_j}\rho^{(j)}\cos\vartheta^{(j)} + \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}\right),$$
(11.19)

$$\rho^{(j)} = \tilde{\rho}\Big(\rho^{(j-1)}, \vartheta^{(j-1)}, s_{j-1}\Big), \quad \vartheta^{(j)} = \mathscr{T}_j + \tilde{\theta}\Big(\rho^{(j-1)}, \vartheta^{(j-1)}, s_{j-1}\Big),$$

$$\mathscr{F}_{j} = \frac{1}{R} \log \left(\frac{32R}{\varepsilon |\sum_{i=0}^{j-1} M^{(i)}|} \right), \tag{11.21}$$

for all j = 1, ..., k - 1, with $(\vartheta^{(0)}, \rho^{(0)}) = (\vartheta_0, \rho_0)$. (In these definitions and some of the following formulas we suppress the arguments $(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ of \mathscr{T}_j , etc. for ease of notation.) Here we have defined the index s_j to be 0 or 1 according to whether the Melnikov function is computed for the upper or lower separatrix of the pendulum, equations (11.15) and (11.16), respectively. Accordingly, the mapping $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\rho})(\cdot, \cdot, s_j)$ is defined as $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\rho})(\cdot, \cdot, s_j) = (\tilde{\theta}_+, \tilde{\rho}_+)(\cdot, \cdot)$ if $s_j = 0$ and $(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\rho})(\cdot, \cdot, s_j) = (\tilde{\theta}_-, \tilde{\rho}_-)(\cdot, \cdot)$ if $s_j = 1$.

Theorem 2 now implies

Proposition 11.1. If for some integer k, some constant B > 0 independent of ε , some $R = \overline{R}$, some $\rho = \overline{\rho}$, all $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small and some function $\vartheta = \overline{\vartheta}(\varepsilon)$ the k-pulse Melnikov function (11.18) satisfies the three conditions of Theorem 2 for $j = 1, \ldots, k - 1$, then the stable and unstable manifolds of the periodic orbit $O_{\varepsilon}^{\overline{\rho}}$ of (11.1) intersect transversely along a homoclinic orbit, which outside of a small neighborhood of the normally hyperbolic invariant manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close to the sequence of heteroclinic orbits selected by $\{\vartheta^{(j)}, \rho^{(j)}\}, j = 0, 1 \ldots, k - 1$.



Fig. 11.2. Sketch of a 2-pulse homoclinic orbit as it leaves a periodic orbit $O_{\varepsilon}^{\rho_0}$ on the perturbed manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ inside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$, approaches a different periodic orbit flying by the manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, leaves the neighborhood of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and follows an unperturbed homoclinic solution back to $O_{\varepsilon}^{\rho_0}$. The intersection with the manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is an artifact caused by the suppression of the *p* coordinate.

In particular, this proposition and expressions (11.18)–(11.21) for k = 2 show that a periodic orbit inside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$ can be connected to itself by a 2-pulse homoclinic orbit when the corresponding radius ρ_0 approaches $\frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$ from below. This is because the 1-pulse Melnikov function is negative for $\rho_0 < \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$ and the 2-pulse Melnikov function, with $(s_0, s_1) = (0, 1)$, can be written as

$$M_{2}(\varepsilon, \rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}, R) = M_{+}(\rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}, R) + M_{-}(\tilde{\rho}_{+}(\rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}), \tilde{\theta}_{+}(\rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}) + \mathscr{F}_{1}, R),$$
(11.22)
= $-2S_{\infty} \tilde{\rho}_{+}(\rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}) \left[\sin\left(\frac{\mathscr{F}_{1}}{2}\right) \sin\left(\tilde{\theta}_{+}(\rho_{0}, \vartheta_{0}) + \frac{\mathscr{F}_{1}}{2}\right) \right].$

Since the variation of the phase delay $\mathscr{T}_1(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ between its maximum at $\vartheta_0 = \pi$ and its minimum at $\vartheta_0 = 0$ becomes unbounded as $\rho_0 \uparrow \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$, a nondegenerate zero of the right-hand side of equation (11.22) certainly occurs at some ϑ_0 in $[0, 2\pi)$. Figure 11.2 provides a sketch of a 2-pulse orbit homoclinic to a periodic orbit inside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$.

We remark that Proposition 11.1 applies indifferently to periodic orbits inside or outside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$ (where the Melnikov function itself can have simple zeros). System (11.1) is reversible, i.e., if p(t) = (q(t), p(t), y(t), z(t)) is a solution of system (11.1), then both

$$(\mathscr{R}_1 \mathbf{p})(t) = (q(-t), -p(-t), y(-t), -z(-t))$$

and



Fig. 11.3. Plot of the 1-pulse Melnikov function $M_1(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) \equiv M_{\mathcal{C}}(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ (dotted line) and of the 2-pulse Melnikov function $M_2(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ (solid and dashed lines) vs. $\vartheta_0 \in [0, 2\pi)$, with $\rho = \frac{2}{3}S_{\infty}$ and R = 0.33. The zero crossings of the solid line determine 2-pulse homoclinic orbits whose (q, p) coordinates make an excursion following first the upper and then the lower separatrix of the pendulum (+ and – sign choice, respectively, in equation (11.7)). The zero crossings of the dashed line determine 2-pulse homoclinic orbits whose (q, p) coordinates follow twice the upper separatrix of the pendulum.

$$(\mathscr{R}_2 \mathbf{p})(t) = (-q(-t), p(-t), -y(-t), z(-t))$$

are solutions. Accordingly, some of the multi-pulse orbits whose existence is implied by the proposition possess a reversibility symmetry. We can group these orbits in two different classes with respect to their symmetry. For the first class of multipulse orbits, there exists a time, which can always be taken to be zero since (11.1) is autonomous, such that, if p(0) = 0 and z(0) = 0, then p(t) is a homoclinic orbit. Orbits in this class are discussed in detail in [6]. Because the Melnikov function $M_+(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ is negative-definite for periodic orbits inside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$, this type of symmetry is the only one possible for the 2-pulse homoclinic orbits, 2 being the minimum number of pulses required for the existence of orbits homoclinic to periodic orbits inside $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$.

The second class of multi-pulse orbits is in the fixed set of the second reversibility symmetry, that is, p(t) is such that $q(0) = 0 \mod \pi$ and y(0) = 0. The ordinary 1-pulse homoclinic orbits are of this type. Zeros of $M_2(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ with $M_+(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) > 0$ and $(s_0, s_1) = (0, 0)$ determine 2-pulse homoclinic orbits of the second symmetry type outside $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$. These occur along with 2-pulse homoclinic orbits of the first symmetry type, when $M_+(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) < 0$ and $(s_0, s_1) = (0, 1)$. Figure 11.3 shows plots of the 1- and 2-pulse Melnikov functions $M_1(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R) \equiv M_+(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ and $M_2(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$, as ϑ_0 varies in the period $[0, 2\pi)$, when the periodic orbit determined by ρ_0 is outside of the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$, so that the Melnikov function $M_+(\rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ defined by equation (11.15) has two zeros in $[0, 2\pi)$. The accumulation of zeros of $M_2(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ onto the zeros of $M_1(\varepsilon, \rho_0, \vartheta_0, R)$ mentioned in the fourth remark after Theorem 1 can be clearly seen.

Looking for solutions $R = \overline{R}$, $\rho = \overline{\rho}$, $\vartheta = \overline{\vartheta}(\varepsilon)$ as in Proposition 11.1 shows that a phenomenon similar to that of the disappearance of 1-pulse homoclinic orbits when moving from periodic orbits outside the disk $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$ to orbits within this disk is repeated, with higher-pulse homoclinic orbits of a certain symmetry type, for a sequence of nested disks $\mathscr{D}_1(R, \varepsilon)$, $\mathscr{D}_2(R, \varepsilon)$, etc., whose radii depend on ε and R. Notice that unlike the radius which defines $\mathscr{D}_0(R)$, $\rho_0 = \frac{1}{2}S_{\infty}$, the radii of $D_k(R, \varepsilon)$, k > 0, depend on ε and may all vanish at particular values of ε , $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_n(R)$, n = 1, 2, ..., with $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. At these values of ε the fixed point $(q, p, y, z) = (\pm \pi, 0, 0, 0)$ is connected to itself by a multipulse homoclinic orbit; see [6].

12. Application to Orbits Homoclinic to Resonance Bands

In this section, we apply Theorem 1 and its extension Theorem 2 to the phenomenon of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands. Various aspects of this phenomenon were discovered in [22, 23, 32, 34–37, 39, 75]. This phenomenon contains a bounty of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits, and occurs if, in addition to Assumptions 1 and 2, we also make

Assumption 4. For some $I = I_0$ with $I_1 < I_0 < I_2$, the frequency $\omega(I) = \Omega(X(I), I)$ passes through a simple zero, that is,

$$\omega(I_0) = 0, \quad \frac{d\omega}{dI}(I_0) \neq 0.$$

This phenomenon also occurs if we make Assumption 4 in conjunction with setting k = 2 and $X_0(I) = X_1(I) = X_2(I)$ in Assumption 3. In this second case, we have two not necessarily symmetric manifolds of orbits homoclinic to the annulus \mathcal{M} . In what is to follow, for the sake of definiteness we only consider the first of these two situations, with the understanding that the results for the second are almost identical.

Assumption 4 implies that one of the periodic orbits on the annulus \mathcal{M} is really not a periodic orbit but a circle of equilibria. One can easily see from equation (2.8) that pairs of equilibria on this circle that are a distance

$$\Delta\theta(I_0) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Omega(x^h(s, I_0), I_0) \, ds \tag{12.1}$$

apart, are connected to each other by heteroclinic orbits parametrized by equations (2.6) with $I = I_0$ (see Figure 12.1).

The circle of equilibria that exists on the unperturbed annulus \mathscr{M} breaks up under perturbation into a resonance band that lies on the perturbed annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. This resonance band is described as follows. We first restrict the dynamics of equations (2.1) to the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ using formula (3.1). Following a standard procedure,



Fig. 12.1. Geometry of manifolds homoclinic to periodic orbits and the circle of equilibria at $I = I_0$. Only one orbit is shown from each such manifold. All the other orbits on the same homoclinic manifold are obtained by translating those shown in the picture along the θ -axis. Orbits on the manifold homoclinic to the circle of equilibria at $I = I_0$ are heteroclinic orbits connecting pairs of points on that circle that are $\Delta \theta$ apart.

described for instance in [19], we "blow up" the region near $I = I_0$ using the transformation $I = I_0 + \sqrt{\varepsilon} h$, rescale time using $\tau = \sqrt{\varepsilon} t$, and Taylor expand the restricted equations (2.1) in $\sqrt{\varepsilon}$, to obtain the equations

$$h' = g^{I}(X(I_{0}), I_{0}, \theta, \mu) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon}), \quad \theta' = \frac{d\Omega}{dI}(X(I_{0}), I_{0}) \ h + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon}), \quad (12.2)$$

with $' = \frac{d}{d\tau}$. Higher-order terms in these equations can be computed from the Taylor expansion of formula (3.1) in powers of $\sqrt{\varepsilon}$, which can be obtained in terms of algebraic operations and differentiations alone, as shown in [37].

In the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, we obtain the *outer system*

$$h' = g^{I}(X(I_{0}), I_{0}, \theta, \mu), \quad \theta' = \frac{d\Omega}{dI}(X(I_{0}), I_{0}) h, \quad (12.3)$$

which can be derived from the outer Hamiltonian

$$\mathscr{H}(h,\theta,\mu) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\Omega}{dI} (X(I_0), I_0) h^2 + V(\theta,\mu), \qquad (12.4)$$

with the potential

$$V(\theta,\mu) = -\int_0^\theta g^I(X(I_0), I_0, s, \mu) ds,$$

via the canonical formulas

$$h' = -D_{\theta} \mathscr{H}(h, \theta, \mu), \quad \theta' = D_h \mathscr{H}(h, \theta, \mu).$$



Fig. 12.2. Typical phase portraits of the outer systems (12.2) and (12.3) for $\varepsilon = 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, respectively. Figures 12.2a (for $\varepsilon = 0$) and 12.2b (for $\varepsilon = 0$) display the dissipative case, and Figure 12.2c displays the Hamiltonian case (for both $\varepsilon = 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$). All the points whose θ coordinates differ by a multiple of 2π must be identified.

In the case when the perturbed vector field (2.1) is derived from the Hamiltonian (2.2), that is, when equations (2.1) are replaced by equations (2.3), the outer Hamiltonian becomes

$$\mathscr{H}(h,\theta,\mu) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{dD_I H}{dI} (X(I_0), I_0) h^2 + H_1(X(I_0), I_0, \theta, \mu, 0),$$

and the expression

$$\mathcal{H}_{\varepsilon}(h,\theta,\mu,\varepsilon) = \frac{\hat{H}|_{\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}}(I_0 + \sqrt{\varepsilon}h,\theta,\mu,\varepsilon) - H(X(I_0),I_0)}{\varepsilon}$$
$$= \mathcal{H}(h,\theta,\mu) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon}), \qquad (12.5)$$

where $\hat{H}|_{\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}}(I_0 + \sqrt{\varepsilon}h, \theta, \mu, \varepsilon)$ is the restriction of the Hamiltonian (2.2) to the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ via the formula (3.1), is a conserved quantity which reduces smoothly to the outer Hamiltonian as $\varepsilon \to 0$. System (12.2) can be investigated with the help of system (12.3) by a combination of phase-plane and perturbation techniques, as described for instance in [37] and [36] (see Figure 12.2).

In order to investigate the phase-space structure off of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ in the full (x, I, θ) phase space, in particular, orbits homoclinic or heteroclinic to possible equilibria and periodic orbits of equations (12.2), we set $I = I_0 + \sqrt{\varepsilon}h$ in equations (2.1) and let $\varepsilon \to 0$. In this way, we obtain the *inner system*

$$\dot{x} = J D_x H(x, I_0),$$
 (12.6a)

$$h = 0,$$
 (12.6b)

$$\dot{\theta} = \Omega (x, I_0).$$
 (12.6c)

In this system, the structure of every slice h = constant is the same as the structure of the slice $I = I_0$ in the unperturbed system (2.4). In particular, the circle of equilibria in the phase space of the unperturbed equations (2.4) at $I = I_0$, $x = X(I_0)$, $0 \le \theta \le 2\pi$ has been "blown up" to cover a whole cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 of equilibria, with $x = X(I_0)$, $0 \le \theta \le 2\pi$ and arbitrary h in the phase space of the inner equations (12.6). Moreover, pairs of points on this cylinder with equal h coordinates and θ coordinates a distance $\Delta \theta(I_0)$ apart are connected by heteroclinic orbits given by equations (2.6) with $I = I_0$. The cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 of equilibria is thus connected to itself by a three-dimensional manifold of heteroclinic orbits. As in [22, 23, 32, 34–37, 39], we combine the information obtained from systems (12.6) and (12.3) to obtain information about orbits homoclinic to the resonance band on the perturbed annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ at $I = I_0$ in the phase space of system (2.1).

We can use Theorem 1 in the original (x, I, θ) coordinates to ascertain the existence of a possible surviving *k*-pulse homoclinic intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0})$. Note that in this case, for any integer *k*, the *k*-pulse Melnikov function at the resonance $I = I_{0}$ is equal to

$$M_k(I_0, \theta_0, \mu) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} M(I_0, \theta_0 + j\Delta\theta(I_0), \mu),$$
(12.7)

where the Melnikov function $M(I_0, \theta_0, \mu)$ is given by formula (3.2) with $I = I_0$, and the angle difference $\Delta \theta(I_0)$ is given by formula (12.1). Moreover, one can show along the same lines as in [36] or [22] that in the case when the perturbed vector field (2.1) is derived from the Hamiltonian (2.2), we have

$$M_k(I_0, \theta_0, \mu) = H_1(X(I_0), I, \theta_0 - \Delta \theta_-(I_0), \mu, 0) -H_1(X(I_0), I, \theta_0 + (k-1)\Delta \theta(I_0) + \Delta \theta_+(I_0), \mu, 0).$$
(12.8)

Notice that the *k*-pulse Melnikov function (12.7) in the particular case of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands does not depend on ε . This is because, at most a distance $\mathscr{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon})$ away from $I = I_0$, the angle increment $\mathscr{T}_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$, given by formula (3.6), is of the size $\mathscr{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon} \log(1/\varepsilon))$, and $\mathscr{T}_k(\varepsilon, I_0, \theta_0, \mu) = 0$. It is also clear that the nonfolding condition (3.9) is always fulfilled at $I = I_0$ and also for *I*-values that are $\mathscr{O}(\sqrt{\varepsilon})$ distance away because of Assumption 4, and can therefore be dropped from the hypotheses of Theorem 1. Theorem 1 thus becomes

Proposition 12.1. For some integer k, $\theta_0 = \overline{\theta}_0$, and $\mu = \overline{\mu}$ let the following conditions be satisfied:

1. The k-pulse Melnikov function has a simple zero in θ_0 , that is,

$$M_k(I_0, \theta_0, \bar{\mu}) = 0, \quad D_{\theta_0}M_k(I_0, \theta_0, \bar{\mu}) \neq 0.$$

2. $M_i(I_0, \bar{\theta}_0, \bar{\mu}) \neq 0$ for all i = 1, ..., k-1, k > 1, and is positive if the signature σ , defined by equation (3.4), of the normal **n** is positive, and negative if σ is negative.

Then for all I close to I_0 , and all μ close to $\bar{\mu}$, there exists a two-dimensional intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ along which the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ intersect transversely at an angle of size $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$. In the outer (x, h, θ) variables, outside of a small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$, the surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ collapses smoothly onto the union $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ of surfaces spanned by the orbits parametrized by formulas (2.6) with $I = I_0$, $\theta_0 = \bar{\theta}_0(\mu) + j\Delta\theta(I_0), \ j = 0, \ldots, k-1$, and with arbitrary h. Here $\bar{\theta}_0(\mu)$ is the corresponding simple zero of the k-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(I_0, \theta_0, \mu)$. The surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ takes off from the cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 along the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_0(\mu) - \Delta\theta_-(I_0)$ and eventually lands back on it along the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_0(\mu) + (k-1)\Delta\theta(I_0) + \Delta\theta_+(I_0)$, where the phase differences $\Delta\theta_-(I_0)$ and $\Delta\theta_+(I_0)$ are defined as

$$\Delta\theta_{+}(I_{0}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \Omega(x^{h}(s, I_{0}), I_{0}) \, ds, \quad \Delta\theta_{-}(I_{0}) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \Omega(x^{h}(s, I_{0}), I_{0}) \, ds.$$
(12.9)

Recall that the signature σ need not be computed if the region enclosed by the unperturbed homoclinic manifold $W(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ is convex, as explained in the first remark after Theorem 1. Recall also that the definition of the angle differences $\Delta \theta_+(I_0)$ and $\Delta \theta_-(I_0)$ is consistent with the analogous definitions in Section 8 given by formulas (8.15) and (8.19). We call the limiting (nonsmooth) surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\tilde{\theta}_0)$ a *singular homoclinic intersection surface*; see Figure 12.3. We remark that Proposition 12.1 is equivalent to the result obtained in [23]. We combine Proposition 12.1 with the results of [32] to further enlarge the class of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands that can be constructed with the *k*-pulse Melnikov method.



Fig. 12.3. The singular intersection surface with two pulses $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ connects equilibria that lie on the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_0 - \Delta \theta_-(I_0)$ to those that lie on the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_0 + 2\Delta \theta(I_0) + \Delta \theta_C(I_0)$ on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$. Gray curves on $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ represent the orbit structure on this annulus under the outer system (12.3).

Gronwall-type estimates, a rescaled version of the estimates given in Proposition 4.2, and KAPLUN's extension theorem [40] now imply

Proposition 12.2. Let q(t) be an orbit on the homoclinic intersection surface $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0})$. Let Γ be the union of the orbits (2.6) with $I = I_{0}, \theta = \bar{\theta}_{0}(\mu) + j \Delta \theta(I_{0})$, for $j = 0, \ldots, k - 1$, and $h = h_{0}$, the h coordinate of the point q(0). Then there exists a function $\delta(\varepsilon)$ such that $\delta(\varepsilon) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$ and that, in the (x, h, θ) coordinates, the orbit q(t) stays $\mathcal{O}(\delta(\varepsilon))$ -close to the union Γ from the time the orbit q(t) first leaves a small neighborhood of the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ until the time it last returns to it.

As we describe below, this estimate immediately allows us to conclude that all the theorems of references [37, 36, 32] remain valid if we substitute a multipulse singular homoclinic intersection surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_0)$ as discussed above for any 1-pulse singular homoclinic intersection surface as discussed in those references. In particular, we can show the existence of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands that have several groups of consecutive pulses interspersed with slow stretches near the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$. We call such groups of pulses *bumps*.

In order to describe multi-bump orbits homoclinic to resonance bands, we must first make two assumptions. The first is

Assumption 5. There exists a positive integer N, and N positive integers K_i , with i = 1, ..., N, such that the K_i -pulse Melnikov functions $M_{K_i}(I_0, \theta_0, \mu)$ at the resonance have simple zeros at the points $\theta_0 = \overline{\theta}_{0,i}$, for some $\mu = \overline{\mu}$. That is, $M_{K_i}(I_0, \overline{\theta}_{0,i}, \overline{\mu}) = 0$ and $D_{\theta_0}M_{K_i}(I_0, \overline{\theta}_{0,i}, \overline{\mu}) \neq 0$ for each i = 1, ..., N.

Under this assumption, Theorem 1 implies that there exist N individual, not necessarily disjoint, K_i -pulse homoclinic intersection surfaces $\Sigma_{\varepsilon}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,i})$, $i = 1, \ldots, N$, for all μ close to $\bar{\mu}$ that limit onto the surfaces $\Sigma_{0}^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,i})$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. The second assumption is

Assumption 6. There exist N - 1 orbit segments $O_i(\bar{\mu})$, i = 2, ..., N, on the annulus \mathcal{M}_0 with endpoints $d_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $c_i(\bar{\mu})$, respectively. The trajectories of the outer system (12.3) on the segment $O_i(\bar{\mu})$ flow from $d_i(\bar{\mu})$ to $c_i(\bar{\mu})$ in forward time. Moreover, one of the following two statements holds:

- 1. The line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,i}(\overline{\mu}) \Delta \theta_{-}(I_0)$ intersects the segment $O_i(\overline{\mu})$ transversely at the point $c_i(\overline{\mu})$ for i = 2, ..., N, and the line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,i}(\overline{\mu}) + (K_i 1)\Delta \theta(I_0) + \Delta \theta_{+}(I_0)$ intersects the segment $O_{i+1}(\overline{\mu})$ transversely at the point $d_{i+1}(\overline{\mu})$ for i = 1, ..., N 1.
- 2. The line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,i}(\overline{\mu}) \Delta \theta_{-}(I_0)$ intersects the segment $O_i(\overline{\mu})$ transversely at the point $c_i(\overline{\mu})$ for i = 2, ..., N, and the line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,i}(\overline{\mu}) + (K_i 1)\Delta \theta(I_0) + \Delta \theta_{+}(I_0)$ intersects the segment $O_{i+1}(\overline{\mu})$ transversely at the point $d_{i+1}(\overline{\mu})$ for i = 2, ..., N 1. The h coordinate of the point $d_2(\overline{\mu})$ is equal to zero.

Finally, for all i = 2, ..., N - 1, the difference in the h coordinates of the two points $c_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{i+1}(\bar{\mu})$ is equal to zero.

Note that the difference in the *h* coordinates of the two points $c_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{i+1}(\bar{\mu})$ can be computed from equation (12.4), and that the *h* coordinates of the points $c_i(\bar{\mu})$



Fig. 12.4. An *N*-transition orbit in the case N = 3 (the argument I_0 of the functions $\Delta\theta(I_0), \Delta\theta_{\pm}(I_0)$ has been suppressed in the figure). This "orbit" is composed of three heteroclinic orbits Γ_1, Γ_2 , and Γ_3 of the inner system (12.6), connected by two orbit segments $O_1(\bar{\mu})$ and $O_2(\bar{\mu})$ of the outer system (12.3). The time scales of the inner and outer systems are incompatible.

and $d_i(\bar{\mu})$ cannot be equal to zero when the intersections of the orbit segments $O_i(\bar{\mu})$ with the lines $\theta = \bar{\theta}_{0,i}(I_0, \bar{\mu}) - \Delta \theta_-(I_0)$ and $\theta = \bar{\theta}_{0,i}(I_0, \bar{\mu}) + (K_i - 1)\Delta \theta(I_0) + \Delta \theta_+(I_0)$ are transverse.

Assumption 6 implies that, for each i = 2, ..., N-1, a string of K_i heteroclinic orbits, which we label Γ_i , contained in the surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,i})$ at $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, connects the two intersection points $c_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{i+1}(\bar{\mu})$. Moreover, a string Γ_1 on the surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,1})$ consisting of K_1 heteroclinic orbits connects some point $c_1(\bar{\mu})$ on the annulus \mathscr{M}_0 to the point $d_2(\bar{\mu})$ on the segment $O_2(\bar{\mu})$, and a string Γ_N on the surface $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,N})$ consisting of K_N heteroclinic orbits connects the point $c_N(\bar{\mu})$ on the segment $O_N(\bar{\mu})$ to some point $d_{N+1}(\bar{\mu})$ on the annulus \mathscr{M}_0 . In this case, we say that there exists an *N*-bump singular transition orbit or a modified *N*-bump singular transition orbit, depending on whether statement 1 or statement 2 in Assumption 6 holds. This *N*-bump singular transition orbit, denoted by Γ , is a continuous broken curve, which consists of the heteroclinic strings Γ_i on the surfaces $\Sigma_0^{\mu}(\bar{\theta}_{0,i})$ for $\mu = \bar{\mu}$ that connect the points $c_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{i+1}(\bar{\mu})$, for each i = 1, ..., N and the parts of the orbit segments $O_i(\bar{\mu})$ between $d_i(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_i(\bar{\mu})$, for each i = 2, ..., N(see Figure 12.4). We call the points $c_1(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{N+1}(\bar{\mu})$ the takeoff and landing points, respectively, of the singular orbit Γ .

One can easily verify (see [32]) that an *N*-bump singular transition orbit implies the existence of a continuous, two-parameter family of such orbits, the parameters being *h* and μ . Likewise, a modified *N*-bump singular transition orbit implies the existence of a continuous, one-parameter family of such orbits, the parameter being μ . In other words, a unique *N*-bump modified singular transition orbit $\Gamma(\mu)$ exists at most a distance $\mathscr{O}(\mu - \bar{\mu})$ away from the original *N*-bump modified singular transition orbit Γ for any μ close enough to $\bar{\mu}$.


Fig. 12.5. (a) An illustration of Proposition 12.3, showing a two-bump connection between a saddle and an unstable limit cycle on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. The first and second bump consist of two pulses. (b) The singular transition orbits $\mathscr{M}_{1,0}(\mu)$ and $\mathscr{M}_{NC1,0}(\mu)$ pass through each other transversely as μ passes through $\bar{\mu}$.

We are now ready to state four propositions that extend the results of [32] to cover homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits whose bumps are groups of consecutive pulses, rather than single pulses. First, we consider the existence of a heteroclinic connection between either a stable periodic orbit or a saddle of the outer system to either an unstable periodic orbit or another saddle of the outer system.

Proposition 12.3. For μ near $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, let the curve $O_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ be either a stable periodic orbit for the restricted system (12.2) on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ or a (restricted) unstable manifold of a saddle $s_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ for this system, and let the curve $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ be either an unstable periodic orbit for the restricted system (12.2) on $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ or a (restricted) stable manifold of a saddle $s_{N+1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ for this system. Let the line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,1}(\mu) - \Delta \theta_{-}(I_0)$ intersect the curve $O_{1,0}(\mu)$ transversely at the point $c_1(\mu)$, and let the line $\theta = \overline{\theta}_{0,N}(\mu) + (K_N - 1)\Delta\theta(I_0) + \Delta\theta_+(I_0)$ intersect the curve $O_{N+1,0}(\mu)$ transversely at the point $d_{N+1}(\mu)$. At $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, let the points $c_1(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{N+1}(\bar{\mu})$ be connected by a singular transition orbit Γ . For μ near $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, let $\mathscr{A}_{1,0}(\mu)$ be the singular transition orbit whose takeoff point is $c_1(\mu)$, and let $\mathcal{A}_{N+1,0}(\mu)$ be the singular transition orbit whose landing point is $d_{N+1}(\mu)$. Furthermore, assume that the singular transition orbits $\mathcal{A}_{1,0}(\mu)$ and $\mathcal{A}_{N+1,0}(\mu)$ pass through each other (and Γ) transversely as μ passes through $\bar{\mu}$. Then, for all small enough ε and for some $\mu = \mu(\varepsilon)$ with $\mu(0) = \overline{\mu}$, there exists a heteroclinic orbit connecting either the periodic orbit $O_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu(\varepsilon))$ or the saddle $s_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ to either the periodic orbit $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}(\mu(\varepsilon))$ or the saddle $s_{N+1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$. (See Figure 12.5.)



Fig. 12.6. An illustration of Proposition 12.4, showing a two-bump connection between a sink and a stable limit cycle on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$.

Next, we describe heteroclinic orbits between either two equilibria that are sinks for the restricted system (12.2), or between a sink and a stable periodic orbit for that system; see Figure 12.6.

Proposition 12.4. Let $c_{1,0}(\mu)$ be a center for the outer system (12.3), and at $\mu = \overline{\mu}$ let it be located at

$$(h(c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})), \theta(c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu}))) = (0, \bar{\theta}_{0,1}(\bar{\mu}) - \Delta\theta_{-}(I_0)),$$

with

$$\frac{d}{d\mu} \left[\theta(c_{1,0}(\mu)) - \bar{\theta}_{0,1}(\mu) + \Delta \theta_{-}(I_0) \right] \neq 0$$

at $\mu = \bar{\mu}$. Let the corresponding perturbed equilibrium $c_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ be a sink for the restricted system (12.2) for all small enough ε and all μ close enough to $\mu = \bar{\mu}$. Let the restricted system (12.2) on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ possess either another sink $c_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ or a stable limit cycle $O_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$, and denote the associated basin of attraction by $\mathscr{B}_{\varepsilon}$. Moreover, let there exist a modified singular transition orbit connecting the point $c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ to a point $d_{N+1}(\bar{\mu})$, and assume that the point $d_{N+1}(\bar{\mu})$ lies in a compact domain \mathscr{R} that is all contained in an open region \mathscr{B} , the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ of the basin of attraction $\mathscr{B}_{\varepsilon}$. Then, for small $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a function $\mu = \mu(\varepsilon)$ with $\mu(0) = \bar{\mu}$ and a heteroclinic orbit connecting the equilibrium $c_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu(\varepsilon))$ to either the equilibrium $c_{\varepsilon}(\mu(\varepsilon))$, or the periodic orbit $O_{\varepsilon}(\mu(\varepsilon))$.

Next, we find heteroclinic connections between a saddle or a stable limit cycle on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and a sink or another stable limit cycle on $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, such as the one shown in Figure 12.7.

Proposition 12.5. Let the curve $O_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ be either a stable periodic orbit on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, or the (restricted) unstable manifold of a saddle $s_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ for all μ near $\mu = \overline{\mu}$, and all small enough positive ε . Let the restricted system



Fig. 12.7. An illustration of Proposition 12.5, showing a two-bump connection between a saddle and a stable limit cycle on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$.

(12.2) on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ also possess either a sink $c_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ or a stable limit cycle $O_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$, and denote the associated basin of attraction by $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$. At $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, let the curve $O_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ and the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_0(\mu) - \Delta \theta_-(I_0)$ intersect transversely at the point $c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$. Let the point $c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ be connected via a singular transition orbit Γ to the point $d_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$. Moreover, let the point $d_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ lie in a compact domain \mathcal{R} that is all contained in an open region \mathcal{B} , the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ of the basin of attraction $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$. Then, for all small enough positive ε and all μ close enough to $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, there exists a heteroclinic orbit connecting either the periodic orbit $O_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu)$ or the saddle $s_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ to either the equilibrium $c_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$ or the periodic orbit $O_{\varepsilon}(\mu)$. Moreover, the intersection of the unstable manifolds $W^u(O_{1,\varepsilon}(\mu))$ or $W^u(s_{\varepsilon}(\mu))$ with the stable manifolds $W^s(c_{\varepsilon}(\mu))$ or $W^s(O_{\varepsilon}(\mu))$ is transverse along that heteroclinic orbit.

We note that, as in [37, 32], we can describe still other heteroclinic connections by inverting the time flow in Propositions 12.4 and 12.5.

Finally, we look at the case when the perturbed vector field (2.1) is derived from the Hamiltonian (2.2), i.e., when equations (2.1) are replaced by equations (2.3). In this case, an easy argument given in [32] shows that the end points of each *N*-bump singular transition orbit must be at the same values of the outer Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}(h, \theta, \mu)$. Furthermore, if Γ is a singular transition orbit that connects a pair of slow-time periodic orbits $O_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ and $O_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$, then there exists a pair of two-parameter families,

$$\left\{ O_{1,0}^{\nu}(\mu) \mid \nu_1(\mu) < \nu < \nu_2(\mu), \mu \text{ near } \bar{\mu} \right\},\$$
$$\left\{ O_{N+1,0}^{\nu}(\mu) \mid \nu_1(\mu) < \nu < \nu_2(\mu), \mu \text{ near } \bar{\mu} \right\},\$$



Fig. 12.8. An illustration of Proposition 12.6, showing a three-bump connection between two periodic orbits on the annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ in the Hamiltonian case.

of slow-time periodic orbits near $O_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ and $O_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$, such that each pair $O_{1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ is connected by an *N*-bump singular transition orbit $\Gamma^{\nu}(\mu)$. Here the parameter ν is the value of the outer Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}(h, \theta, \mu)$ along the orbits $O_{1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$.

For small positive ε , we now conclude:

Proposition 12.6. At $\mu = \bar{\mu}$, assume that the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_{0,1}(\bar{\mu}) - \Delta \theta_{-}(I_0)$ transversely intersects a periodic orbit $O_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ at the point $c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$. Assume also that the line $\theta = \bar{\theta}_{0,N}(\bar{\mu}) + (K_N - 1)\Delta\theta(I_0) + \Delta\theta_{+}(I_0)$ transversely intersects a periodic orbit $O_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ at the point $d_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$. Furthermore, assume that the points $c_{1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ and $d_{N+1,0}(\bar{\mu})$ are connected to each other by a singular transition orbit Γ . Then for each μ near $\bar{\mu}$, there exist a function $\eta(\varepsilon)$, with $\eta(\varepsilon) \to 0$ with $\varepsilon \to 0$, and two continuous families of periodic orbits,

$$\left\{ O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu) \mid v_{1}(\mu) + \eta(\varepsilon) < \nu < v_{2}(\mu) - \eta(\varepsilon), \mu \text{ near } \bar{\mu} \right\},\$$
$$\left\{ O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu) \mid v_{1}(\mu) + \eta(\varepsilon) < \nu < v_{2}(\mu) - \eta(\varepsilon), \mu \text{ near } \bar{\mu} \right\},\$$

such that each pair $O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ is connected by an N-bump heteroclinic orbit. The value of the parameter ν along the orbits $O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ is equal to the value of the constant $\mathscr{H}_{\varepsilon}(h, \theta, \mu)$, given by equation (12.5), along these orbits, and also to the value of the outer Hamiltonian $\mathscr{H}(h, \theta, \mu)$ along the orbits $O_{1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$. As $\varepsilon \to 0$, the union of the orbits $O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and the connecting heteroclinic orbit collapses onto the union of the curves $O_{1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,0}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and the singular transition orbit $\Gamma^{\nu}(\mu)$. Moreover the intersection of the unstable manifold $W^{u}(O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu))$ with the stable manifold $W^{s}(O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu))$ along the heteroclinic orbit that connects the orbits $O_{1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ and $O_{N+1,\varepsilon}^{\nu}(\mu)$ is transverse inside the corresponding level surface of the perturbed Hamiltonian (2.2). (See Figure 12.8.)

The proofs of Propositions 12.3–12.6 proceed with the help of Proposition 12.2 exactly as the proofs of the corresponding theorems in [32].

13. An Example of Orbits Homoclinic to Resonance Bands

The example of a Duffing oscillator coupled into an anharmonic oscillator,

$$\dot{p} = \eta^2 q (I - q^2) - \varepsilon \alpha p, \qquad (13.1a)$$

$$\dot{q} = p, \tag{13.1b}$$

$$\dot{I} = -\varepsilon I \sin \theta - \varepsilon \beta I - \varepsilon \gamma p^2, \qquad (13.1c)$$

$$\dot{\theta} = I - 1 - \frac{1}{2}\eta^2 q^2 - \varepsilon \cos\theta, \qquad (13.1d)$$

was used in [34–37] to illustrate various types of one-bump and multi-bump orbits homoclinic to resonance bands. In this example $\varepsilon \ll 1$, η , α , β , and γ are positive parameters. System (13.1) has the form (2.1) for nonzero α , β and γ , and the form (2.3) with the Hamiltonian

$$\begin{aligned} \ddot{H}(p,q,I,\theta) &= H(p,q,I) + \varepsilon H_1(p,q,I,\theta) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}I^2 - I + \frac{1}{2}p^2 - \frac{1}{2}\eta^2 q^2 (I - \frac{1}{2}q^2) - \varepsilon I \cos\theta, \end{aligned}$$
(13.2)

for $\alpha = \beta = \gamma = 0$.

.

The phase-space structure of system (13.1) with zero ε is as follows. An unstable invariant annulus, \mathcal{M} , with (p, q) = (0, 0) and I between any I_1 and I_2 , such that $0 < I_1 < 1 < I_2$, is foliated by periodic orbits p = q = 0, I = constant, $\theta = (I-1)t + \theta_0$. The annulus \mathcal{M} is connected to itself by a pair of three-dimensional homoclinic manifolds, $W_+(\mathcal{M})$ and $W_-(\mathcal{M})$, which are parametrized by t, I and θ_0 in the homoclinic solutions (see Figure 13.1)

$$p = p^{h}(t, I) = \mp \sqrt{2\eta I} \operatorname{sech}(\eta \sqrt{It}) \tanh(\eta \sqrt{It}), \qquad (13.3a)$$

$$q = q^{h}(t, I) = \pm \sqrt{2I} \operatorname{sech}(\eta \sqrt{I}t), \qquad (13.3b)$$

$$I = I, \tag{13.3c}$$

$$\theta = \theta^h(t, I) + \theta_0 = (I - 1)t - \eta \sqrt{I} \tanh(\eta \sqrt{I}t) + \theta_0.$$
(13.3d)

The phase difference $\Delta \theta(I)$, defined by equation (2.8), between the end points of any heteroclinic orbit (13.3) is $\Delta \theta(I) = -2\eta \sqrt{I}$, which follows immediately from equation (13.3d).

The frequency I - 1 of the periodic orbits on the annulus \mathcal{M} passes through zero transversely at I = 1, so that the orbit at I = 1 is a circle of equilibria, which



Fig. 13.1. The annulus \mathcal{M} and the homoclinic manifolds $W_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathcal{M})$ and $W_{-}(\mathcal{M})$ for the example of Section 13.

gives rise to a resonance band for $\varepsilon > 0$. Pairs of points on this circle of equilibria that are $\Delta \theta(1) = -2\eta$ apart are connected by heteroclinic orbits, obtained by inserting the value I = 1 into the solutions (13.3).

Since the set p = q = 0 is invariant even for nonzero ε , we can take the perturbed annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ to be the same as the annulus \mathscr{M} . Thus, we immediately calculate the restricted system (12.2) to be

$$h' = -(1 + \sqrt{\varepsilon}h)\sin\theta - \beta(1 + \sqrt{\varepsilon}), \qquad \theta' = h - \sqrt{\varepsilon}\cos\theta.$$
(13.4)

The limiting outer system and the outer Hamiltonian are

$$h' = -\sin\theta - \beta, \qquad \theta' = h, \tag{13.5}$$

$$\mathscr{H}(h,\theta) = \frac{1}{2}h^2 - \cos\theta + \beta\theta, \qquad (13.6)$$

respectively.

When $0 < \beta < 1$, there are two equilibria on the $h - \theta$ cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 , a center c_0 at $(h, \theta) = (0, -\arcsin \beta)$ and a saddle s_0 , at $(h, \theta) = (0, -\pi + \arcsin \beta)$. The two branches of the stable and unstable manifolds $\mathcal{W}^s(s_0)$ and $\mathcal{W}^u(s_0)$ to the right of the saddle s_0 coincide to form a separatrix that encloses a family of periodic orbits nested around the center. The two branches of the manifolds $\mathcal{W}^s(s_0)$ and $\mathcal{W}^u(s_0)$ to the left of the saddle s_0 wind around the cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 towards $h = +\infty$ and $h = -\infty$, respectively. For small positive $\sqrt{\varepsilon}$, the saddle s_0 persists as a saddle s_{ε} , the center c_0 becomes a sink c_{ε} , and the separatrix breaks. The top branch of the unstable manifold $\mathcal{W}^u(s_{\varepsilon})$ of the perturbed saddle s_{ε} falls into the sink c_{ε} . No periodic orbits are left in this system, and all the points that lie in any compact domain, that is, all contained inside the unperturbed separatrix asymptote to the sink c_{ε} (see Figure 13.2).



Fig. 13.2. The phase portrait for the outer system in the dissipative case.

The inner system (12.6) for this example is

$$\dot{p} = \eta^2 q (1 - q^2),$$
 (13.7a)

$$\dot{q} = p, \tag{13.7b}$$

$$\dot{h} = 0, \tag{13.7c}$$

$$\dot{\theta} = -\frac{1}{2}\eta^2 q^2. \tag{13.7d}$$

In references [35, 37, 32] we computed that, at the resonance I = 1, the Melnikov function $M(I, \theta_0, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ on both homoclinic manifolds $W_+(\mathcal{M})$ and $W_-(\mathcal{M})$ is equal to

$$M(1, \theta_0, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma) = \cos(\theta_0 - \eta) - \cos(\theta_0 + \eta) - \frac{4}{3}\alpha\eta + 2\beta\eta + \frac{8}{15}\gamma\eta^3.$$
(13.8)

Likewise, the k-pulse Melnikov function equals

$$M_k(1,\theta_0,\eta,\alpha,\beta,\gamma) = \cos(\theta_0 - (2k-1)\eta) - \cos(\theta_0 + \eta) - \frac{4}{3}k\alpha\eta + 2k\beta\eta + \frac{8}{15}k\gamma\eta^3.$$
(13.9)

If we set $\theta_{k-1} = \theta_0 - (k-1)\eta$, this formula can be rewritten as

183

$$M_{k}(1, \theta_{0}, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma) = M_{k}(1, \theta_{k-1} + (k-1)\eta, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma) = \cos(\theta_{k-1} - k\eta) - \cos(\theta_{k-1} + k\eta) - \frac{4}{3}k\alpha\eta + 2k\beta\eta + \frac{8}{15}k\gamma\eta^{3}$$

$$= 2\sin k\eta \sin \theta_{k-1} - \frac{4}{3}k\alpha\eta + 2k\beta\eta + \frac{8}{15}k\gamma\eta^{3}.$$
(13.10)

If $k\eta$ is not a multiple of π and if

$$\left|\frac{k\eta}{\sin k\eta} \left(\frac{2}{3}\alpha - \beta - \frac{4}{15}\gamma\eta^2\right)\right| < 1, \tag{13.11}$$

then the *k*-pulse Melnikov function (13.10) has simple zeros in θ_{k-1} at some $\theta_{k-1} = \overline{\theta}_{k-1,1}$ and $\theta_{k-1} = \overline{\theta}_{k-1,2} = \pi - \overline{\theta}_{k-1,1}$. If for i = 1 or i = 2, the values of the *j*-pulse Melnikov function $M_j(1, \overline{\theta}_{0,i}, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma)$, with $\overline{\theta}_{0,i} = \overline{\theta}_{k-1,i} + (k-1)\eta$ and $j = 1, \ldots, k-1$, are different from zero, and if k, η, α, β , and γ satisfy the inequality (13.11), then the stable and unstable manifolds $W^s(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ intersect transversely along a symmetric pair of two-dimensional, *k*-pulse homoclinic surfaces, $\Sigma_{\pm,\varepsilon}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\overline{\theta}_{k-1,i})$. In the phase space of the inner system (13.7), this pair collapses smoothly onto a pair of limiting *k*-pulse surfaces, $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\overline{\theta}_{k-1,i})$, parametrized by the expressions (13.3) with $I = 1, \theta_0 = \overline{\theta}_{k-1,i} + (k-1-2j)\eta$, where $j = 0, \ldots, k-1$, and arbitrary *h*. The sign in each of these expressions is determined by the sign of the corresponding *j*-pulse Melnikov function $M_j(1, \overline{\theta}_{0,i}, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma)$.

We now describe a new example of orbits homoclinic to the saddle s_{ε} , whose existence follows from Proposition 12.3, provided that we fix $0 < \eta \ll \beta < 1$ and $\tilde{\gamma} = \eta^2 \gamma = \mathcal{O}(1)$. If $5\alpha - 2\tilde{\gamma} = 0$, then for any $j = 1, \ldots, k$, the *j*-pulse Melnikov function (13.10) becomes equal to the difference in the values of the outer Hamiltonian (13.6) at the endpoints of the singular orbit along which this Melnikov function is calculated. This implies, in particular, that the *k*-pulse singular orbits picked out by the zeros of the Melnikov function must have both their endpoints at the same value of the outer Hamiltonian (13.6). Moreover, since $\eta \ll 1$, for all finite *k*, equation (13.10) becomes approximately $\sin \theta_{k-1} \approx -\beta$, so that $\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1} \approx - \arcsin \beta$ and $\bar{\theta}_{k-1,2} \approx -\pi + \arcsin \beta$, which are the θ coordinates of the center c_0 and the saddle s_0 , respectively.

From the discussion in the previous paragraph, it easily follows that for $\bar{\theta}_{0,i} = \bar{\theta}_{k-1,i} + (k-1-2j)\eta$, with i = 1, 2, the values of the *j*-pulse Melnikov functions $M_j(1, \bar{\theta}_{0,i}, \eta, \alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ are different from zero for all $j = 1, \ldots, k-1$, and are in fact of the same sign for all *j*. This sign is negative for $\bar{\theta}_{0,1}$ and positive for $\bar{\theta}_{0,2}$. Therefore, the *k*-pulse homoclinic surfaces $\Sigma_{\pm,\varepsilon}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1})$ and $\Sigma_{\pm,\varepsilon}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,2})$ indeed exist in this case for all *k*, and so do the limiting *k*-pulse surfaces, $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1})$ and $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,2})$. Since the regions enclosed by the two homoclinic manifolds $W_+(\mathcal{M})$ and $W_-(\mathcal{M})$ are both convex, and the normal $n = (p, -\eta^2 q (I - q^2), 0, 0)$ is easily seen to point out of them, it follows that orbits forming each of the surfaces $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1})$ are parametrized by expressions

184

(13.3) with alternating signs, and orbits forming each of the surfaces $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,2})$ are parametrized by expressions (13.3) with the same signs.

From the discussion in the previous two paragraphs, it follows that there exist an integer $n \ge 1$ and 2n symmetric pairs of k-pulse singular orbits $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$, with $k = 1, \ldots, n$, which lie on the *n* pairs of limiting intersection surfaces $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1})$, and connect 2n pairs of points on the separatrix on the cylinder \mathcal{M}_0 . The sign in the subscript of the symbol $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$ is the same as the sign of the corresponding surface $\Sigma_{\pm,0}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,1})$; the sign in the superscript is the same as the sign of the *h* coordinate along the singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$. As mentioned above, the *q* coordinates along the pulses of the orbit $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$ have alternating signs. The equality of the *k*pulse Melnikov function and the corresponding difference in the values of the outer Hamiltonian implies that for k > l, the takeoff point of the singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$ is to the right of the takeoff point of the singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm l}^{\pm}$ is to the left of the landing point of the singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm l}^{\pm}$. Moreover, the takeoff point of any singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm k}^{\pm}$ is to the right of the landing point of any other singular orbit $\Gamma_{\pm l}^{\pm}$.

We can now form a countable infinity of singular homoclinic orbits as follows. Each such orbit starts along the right-hand branch of the unstable manifold $\mathscr{W}(s_0)$ of the saddle s_0 on the annulus \mathscr{M}_0 . The singular homoclinic orbit then takes off from \mathscr{M}_0 along one of the singular k-pulse orbits $\Gamma^+_{\pm k}$, and lands back on \mathscr{M}_0 at a point on the separatrix that connects the saddle s_0 to itself. After following the separatrix for a while, the singular homoclinic orbit again takes off along some singular *l*-pulse orbit $\Gamma^+_{\pm l}$, and so forth. Eventually, the singular homoclinic orbit lands back on the separatrix and either follows it to the takeoff point of one of the two heteroclinic orbits $\Gamma^-_{\pm j}$, where it takes another excursion along one of them before returning to the saddle s_0 , or else proceeds directly to this saddle.

With each singular homoclinic orbit described in the previous paragraph, we can associate in a one-to-one fashion a sequence $S = \sigma_1 \sigma_2$, where σ_1 is either an empty sequence or else is a string of symbols $\Gamma_{\pm k}^+$ with various k, and σ_2 is either empty or equal to one of the symbols $\Gamma_{\pm k}^-$. Either σ_1 or σ_2 must be nonempty. We denote the singular homoclinic orbit corresponding to the sequence S by Γ_0^S . If we denote by -S the sequence obtained from S by interchanging the + and - signs, then the corresponding singular homoclinic orbit Γ_0^{-S} is the mirror image of the singular orbit Γ_0^S under the transformation $(p, q) \mapsto (-p, -q)$, which preserves equations (13.1).

Proposition 12.3 now implies

Proposition 13.1. Fix $0 < \eta \ll \beta < 1$ and $\tilde{\gamma} = \eta^2 \gamma = \mathcal{O}(1)$. Let the sequence *S* and its corresponding singular homoclinic orbit Γ_0^S be as in the preceding two paragraphs. Then, there exists a continuous function $\alpha_S(\varepsilon)$ with $5\alpha_S(0) - 2\tilde{\gamma} = 0$, such that for small positive ε and $\alpha = \alpha_S(\varepsilon)$, there exists an orbit Γ_{ε}^S , homoclinic to the saddle s_{ε} . The orbit Γ_{ε}^S is $\mathcal{O}(\delta(\varepsilon))$ -close to the singular orbit Γ_0^S , where $\delta(\varepsilon)$ is a function with $\delta(\varepsilon) \to 0$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Moreover, $\alpha_S(\varepsilon) = \alpha_{-S}(\varepsilon)$, and the orbit $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{-S}$ is the mirror image of the orbit Γ_{ε}^S under the transformation $(p, q) \mapsto (-p, -q)$.



Fig. 13.3. Multi-bump orbits for the sequence constructed using Proposition 13.1.

As noted above, the sign of the q coordinate along the pulses in each k-pulse stretch of the orbit Γ_{ε}^{S} alternates (see Figure 13.3).

In the same fashion, we can show the existence of *k*-pulse orbits homoclinic to the saddle s_{ε} that lie on the surface $\Sigma_{\pm,\varepsilon}^{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}(\bar{\theta}_{k-1,2})$. The *q* coordinate along all pulses of such an orbit has the same sign. The more complicated counterparts of these orbits consisting of several separate groups of pulses, such as the ones described in Proposition 13.1, do not exist.

Finally, we mention that we can use Propositions 12.4–12.6 to construct Šilnikov orbits [63–65] homoclinic to the spiral-saddle c_{ε} , heteroclinic connections between the saddle s_{ε} and c_{ε} , as well as orbits homoclinic to periodic orbits in the resonance band in the Hamiltonian case when $\alpha = \beta = \gamma = 0$. All of these homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits consist of several groups of consecutive bumps, separated by long stretches near the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$, and can be associated with symbol sequences.

14. Conclusions

The main result of this paper, Theorem 1, and its extensions presented in Section 10, consists of a tool that, for systems of the form (2.1), is comparable in its applicability and efficiency to the celebrated Melnikov method. As such, it is useful both for solving applied problems [6, 7, 38], and for unifying existing perturbation-theoretic approaches to detection of homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits in near-integrable systems. In this latter vein, this paper already develops a unifying approach to the results of references [6, 59, 23, 32]. We also believe that our paper may be used to provide an alternative derivation of the result presented in [21]. However, there are still many unresolved and challenging problems on the way to develop our tool to handle systems even more general than (2.1), thereby achieving the same level of generality that the Melnikov method has reached through years of investigation devoted to it. Moreover, our study raises new problems which further generalizations of the results described in this paper could help solve. Here we mention just some of the obstacles and problems, which we are planning to investigate in future work.

As we have mentioned immediately after Assumption 1, we impose this technical requirement that the unperturbed problem have an analytic right-hand side for the sole purpose of simplifying the presentation. There appear to be no major obstacles to generalizing our results to the case when the Hamiltonian function H(x, I) of the unperturbed system (2.4) has a finite degree of smoothness. This generalization may be achieved by using the Smooth Linearization Theorem for two-dimensional nonlinear saddle-type equilibrium points, described in [11, 61, 4, 67, 68], instead of the analytic theorems described in [49, 60, 62].

On the other hand, while the results of Section 10 show that Theorem 1 is also easily generalized to cover systems with several I and θ variables, the same is not true for systems in which the vector x has more than two components. There appear to be two major obstacles on the way towards achieving this generalization. The first is that, in general, smooth linearization is not possible for systems with multiple degrees of freedom [11, 61], and thus the results of Sections 4 and 5 cannot be immediately applied to this case. We do believe, however, that the situation should be different for integrable Hamiltonian systems. This is indicated, for example, in the results of [27, 12, 33], but this type of smooth linearization still needs to be formulated in the context of the systems of interest for our theory. Moreover, for multiple degrees of freedom, the situation is further complicated by the possibility of resonances.

The second obstacle is that, when the vector x has more than two components, certain orbits that enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the hyperbolic manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ close to its local stable manifold $W^s_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ may exit this neighborhood a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, with $\alpha \neq 1$, away from the local unstable manifold $W^u_{\text{loc}}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$. This property is not limited to complicated nonlinear and nonintegrable systems; it even occurs in simple four-dimensional linear models in which the role of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is played by the origin. In the problem of finding a Melnikov function for multi-pulse homoclinic orbits, this property is likely to introduce new singular submanifolds of the manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ which winds *n* times in and out of the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ and finally gives rise to an *n*-pulse homoclinic intersection surface. These singular submanifolds will probably have to be described by conditions somewhat analogous to the nonfolding condition (5.29), but these new conditions still need to be derived.

Other generalizations of our result include the case of equations (2.3), in which the perturbed system is also Hamiltonian. In this case, as mentioned in Section 10, the manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is filled by Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser tori, and the interesting question is not just whether the stable and unstable manifolds of $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ intersect along multi-pulse homoclinic intersection surfaces, but if this also happens to the stable and unstable manifolds of the individual tori. The answer will be provided by computing additional multi-pulse Melnikov functions in the direction of the *I* coordinates, as derived in [25, 26, 58]. Standard single-pulse versions of these Melnikov functions have the rather annoying property that the integrals defining them do not converge absolutely, and one must in fact choose special time sequences to make these integrals converge at all [58]. The time sequences that resolve this non-convergence property are closely related to the geometry of the phase space near the Kolmogorov-Arnold-Moser tori, and the fact that orbits wind densely on these tori. A careful study of this geometry may also be needed while deriving estimates analogous to those in this paper's Sections 7 and 8 for these additional Melnikov functions.

References [6, 48] study the limiting case in which one of the periodic orbits on the two-dimensional unperturbed hyperbolic annulus *M* degenerates into a saddle-center equilibrium point. A particular limit of Theorem 1 or its extensions in Section 10 could be developed to cover the general version of this limiting case.

A closely related problem is that of classifying homoclinic orbits as to whether they are "secondary" or "primary," that is, whether or not their existence is a consequence of the existence of some other homoclinic orbits. In particular, in timeperiodically modulated planar conservative systems which possess homoclinic tangles [52, 19], all 1-pulse homoclinic orbits are primary, and all multi-pulse homoclinic orbits are secondary. (Here, we do not make any distinction between "secondary," "tertiary," etc., which is sometimes made in the literature.) As stated in the introduction, the existence of these secondary homoclinic orbits follows directly from the topology of the homoclinic tangle, which is a direct consequence of the existence of a single simple zero of the 1-pulse Melnikov function. Some of these secondary homoclinic orbits can be shown to exist directly by using the method of [59] or that developed in this paper. However, it is not clear whether all the secondary homoclinic orbits in such perturbed planar conservative systems can be detected in this way, since the method only provides a sufficient condition for their existence. If the method fails to detect all secondary homoclinic orbits, an interesting question would be just what geometric property distinguishes the ones that are detected from the ones that are not.

A different case of distinction between primary and secondary homoclinic orbits occurs when the dynamics on the manifold $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is slow, such as in the case of orbits homoclinic to resonance bands discussed in Sections 12 and 13. In this case all multi-pulse orbits, which consist of a single group of fast consecutive pulses, are primary. Multi-bump orbits, which consist of several groups of fast consecutive pulses interspersed with slow segments that slowly travel along the hyperbolic annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$, are, on the other hand, secondary. The existence of these secondary orbits can be deduced from the existence of several zeros of the appropriate multipulse Melnikov functions, as discussed in Section 12 and [32]. This example also shows that, while secondary homoclinic orbits do come into being only because some primary homoclinic orbits already exist, the actual process of establishing the existence of secondary orbits from that of the primary orbits, developed in [32], need by no means be trivial.

The distinction between primary and secondary homoclinic orbits is much less clear in the model of an atmospheric slow manifold presented in Section 11. In this example, there are occasions in which 2-pulse homoclinic orbits exist without there being any 1-pulse homoclinic orbits nearby, yet, on the other hand, there exist near any *k*-pulse homoclinic orbit cascades of *n*-pulse homoclinic orbits with any n > k. It is quite clear that the 2-pulse homoclinic orbits with no nearby 1-pulse homoclinic orbits must be primary, but the answer to the general question of which of the multipulse orbits are primary or secondary is as yet unresolved. This question is even more interesting, because, as mentioned at the end of Section 3, a whole class of secondary multi-pulse homoclinic orbits in the model can be obtained by using the Exchange Lemma [31], a technique different from those used in this paper. More generally, in the context of the case when the dynamics on the normally hyperbolic manifold $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is fast, we notice that the folds of the winding piece \mathscr{L} of the unstable manifold $\mathcal{W}^{u}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$ certainly have implications on the multiplicity of the transverse intersections with the stable manifold $W^{s}(\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon})$. Since these intersections define higher-pulse homoclinic orbits are organized in the case when the dynamics on the annulus $\mathcal{M}_{\varepsilon}$ is fast. Exactly what this role is and its relation with the cascade of higher-pulse homoclinic orbits mentioned above have yet to be explored.

Finally, we point out that, apart from its main result, Theorem 1, and its generalizations given in Section 10, an interesting and potentially useful side result of this paper is Lemma 1. This lemma, whose predecessor was developed in [71], addresses the situation in which a manifold \mathscr{L} enters the small neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ of the hyperbolic annulus $\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon}$ a distance $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ close to the local stable manifold $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, and exits $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ the same distance from the local unstable manifold $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. The manifold \mathscr{L} must have the same dimension as the manifolds $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ and $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$. If the tangent spaces of the manifolds \mathscr{L} and $W^s_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ are also $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close when these two manifolds enter the neighborhood $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, Lemma 1 gives precise conditions for when the tangent spaces of the manifold \mathscr{L} and $W^u_{loc}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$ are almost $\mathscr{O}(\varepsilon)$ -close as these manifolds exit $U_{\delta}(\mathscr{M}_{\varepsilon})$, and locates folds on \mathscr{L} when these conditions are not met. We have already mentioned in the introduction that, while the tools used for establishing this lemma have much in common with those used for establishing the Exchange Lemma [28–31, 72, 70], the two lemmas describe complementary geometries. We believe that Lemma 1 and its usefulness go beyond the framework of this paper.

In conclusion, in this paper we have developed a new computable criterion that lets us establish the existence of multi-pulse homoclinic and heteroclinic orbits in a large class of near-integrable systems with many degrees of freedom. This criterion consists of finding simple zeros of the *k*-pulse Melnikov function $M_k(\varepsilon, I, \theta_0, \mu)$, and unifies several previously disjoint but related techniques. We have also developed a lemma that describes in detail the behavior of certain manifolds that fly very close to a hyperbolic manifold without intersecting its local stable and unstable manifolds.

Acknowledgment. We thank CHRIS JONES, NANCY KOPELL, and MARK LEVI for helpful discussions. R. CAMASSA acknowledges support by the U.S. Department of Energy through its CHAMMP program, its Office of Basic Energy Science program in Applied Mathematical Sciences under contract KC-07-01-01, and the Los Alamos National Laboratory under contract W-7405-ENG-36. G. KOVAČIČ thanks the Theoretical Division and Center for Nonlinear Science at the Los Alamos National Laboratory for their hospitality and support during the summers of 1992 through 1995, and acknowledges support from the U.S. Department of Energy through grant DE-FG02-93ER25154, the National Science Foundation through grants DMS-9403750 and DMS-9502142, and the Alfred P. Sloan Foundation through an Alfred P. Sloan Fellowship. S.-K. TIN acknowledges summer support of 1995 from University of Michigan.

References

- J. C. ALEXANDER & C. K. R. T. JONES [1993]. Existence and stability of asymptotically oscillatory triple pulses, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 44, 189–200.
- J. C. ALEXANDER & C. K. R. T. JONES [1994]. Existence and stability of asymptotically oscillatory double pulses, J. Reine Angew. Math. 446, 49–79.
- V. I. ARNOLD [1964]. Instability of dynamical systems with many degrees of freedom, Sov. Math. Dokl. 5, 581–585.
- 4. G. R. BELITSKII [1973]. Functional equations and conjugacy of diffeomorphisms of finite smoothness class, *Funct. Anal. Appl.* **7**, 268–277.
- G. D. BIRKHOFF [1935], Nouvelles recherches sur les systemes dynamiques, Mem. Pont. Acad. Sci. Novi Lyncaei S. 3, Vol. 1, 85–216. (Reprinted in Collected Mathematical Papers, George David Birkhoff, Dover, New York 1968.)
- 6. R. CAMASSA [1995]. On the geometry of an atmospheric slow manifold, *Physica* D 84, 357–397.
- 7. R. CAMASSA & S.-K. TIN [1994]. The global geometry of the slow manifold in the Lorenz-Krishnamurthy model, *J. Atmos. Sci.* 53, 3251–3264.
- M. L. CARTWRIGHT [1950]. Forced oscillations in nonlinear systems, *Contrib. to Theory of Nonlinear Oscillations*, Princeton University Press (Study 20), 149–241.
- 9. M. L. CARTWRIGHT & J. E. LITTLEWOOD [1945]. On nonlinear differential equations of the second order: I. The equation $\ddot{y} k(1-y^2)\dot{y} + y = b\lambda k \cos(\lambda t + \alpha)$, *k* large, *J. London Math. Soc.* **20**, 180–189.
- S. N. CHOW, J. HALE & J. MALLET-PARET [1980]. An example of bifurcation to homoclinic orbits, J. Diff. Eqns. 37, 351–373.
- 11. B. DENG [1989]. The Sil'nikov problem, exponential expansion, strong λ -lemma, C^1 -linearization, and homoclinic bifurcation, *J. Diff. Eqns.* **79**, 189–231.
- H. ELIASSON [1990]. Normal form of Hamiltonian systems with Poisson commuting integrals – the elliptic case, *Comm. Math. Helv.* 65, 4–35.
- 13. N. FENICHEL [1971]. Persistence and smoothness of invariant manifolds for flows, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 21, 193–225.
- 14. N. FENICHEL [1974]. Asymptotic stability with rate conditions, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **23**, 1109–1137.
- 15. N. FENICHEL [1977]. Asymptotic stability with rate conditions, II, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **26**, 81–93.
- N. FENICHEL [1979]. Geometric singular perturbation theory for ordinary differential equations, J. Diff. Eqns. 31, 53–98.
- P. GLENDINNING & C. SPARROW [1984]. Local and global behavior near homoclinic orbits, J. Stat. Phys. 35, 645–696.
- 18. J. GRUENDLER [1985]. The existence of homoclinic orbits and the method of Melnikov for systems in \mathbb{R}^n , SIAM J. Math. Anal. 16, 907–931.
- 19. J. GUCKENHEIMER & P. J. HOLMES [1983]. Nonlinear Oscillations, Dynamical Systems, and Bifurcations of Vector Fields, Springer: New York, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- G. HALLER [1995]. Diffusion at intersecting resonances in Hamiltonian systems, *Physics Letters A* 200, 34–42.
- G. HALLER [1998]. Multi-dimensional homoclinic jumping and the discretized NLS equation, *Comm. Math. Phys.* 193, 1–46.
- G. HALLER & S. WIGGINS [1993]. Orbits homoclinic to resonances: the Hamiltonian case, *Physica D* 66, 298–346.

- G. HALLER & S. WIGGINS [1995]. N-pulse homoclinic orbits in perturbations of resonant Hamiltonian systems, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 130, 25–101.
- P. J. HOLMES [1979]. A nonlinear oscillator with a strange attractor, *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A* 292, 419–448.
- P. J. HOLMES & J. E. MARSDEN [1982]. Horseshoes in perturbation of Hamiltonian systems with two degrees of freedom, *Comm. Math. Phys.* 82, 523–544.
- P. J. HOLMES & J. E. MARSDEN [1982]. Melnikov's method and Arnold diffusion for perturbations of integrable Hamiltonian systems, J. Math. Phys. 23, 669–675.
- H. ITO [1989]. Convergence of Birkhoff normal forms for integrable systems, Comm. Math. Helv. 64, 363–407.
- C. K. R. T. JONES, N. KOPELL & R. LANGER [1991]. Construction of the FitzHugh-Nagumo pulse using differential forms, in Patterns and Dynamics in Reactive Media, eds. H. SWINNEY, G. ARIS & D. ARONSON, IMA volumes in Mathematics and its Applications, 37, 101–116, Springer: New York.
- C. K. R. T. JONES & N. KOPELL [1994]. Tracking invariant manifolds with differential forms in singularly perturbed systems, *J. Diff. Eqns.* 108, 64–88.
- 30. C. K. R. T. JONES, T. J. KAPER & N. KOPELL [1996]. Tracking invariant manifolds up to exponentially small errors, *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 27, 558–577.
- C. K. R. T. JONES & S.-K. TIN [1995]. Generalized Exchange Lemmas and orbits heteroclinic to invariant manifolds, preprint.
- T. J. KAPER & G. KOVAČIČ [1996]. Multi-bump orbits homoclinic to resonance bands, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 348, 3835–3887.
- T. KAPPELER, Y. KODAMA & A. NÉMETHI [1996]. On the Birkhoff normal form of a completely integrable Hamiltonian system near a fixed point with resonance, preprint.
- G. KOVAČIČ [1992]. Hamiltonian dynamics of orbits homoclinic to a resonance band, *Phys. Lett. A* 167, 137–142.
- G. KOVAČIČ [1992]. Dissipative dynamics of orbits homoclinic to a resonance band, Phys. Lett. A 167, 143–150.
- G. KOVAČIČ [1993]. Singular perturbation theory for homoclinic orbits in a class of near-integrable Hamiltonian systems, J. Dyn. Diff. Eqns. 5, 559–597.
- G. KOVAČIČ [1995]. Singular perturbation theory for homoclinic orbits in a class of near-integrable dissipative systems, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 26, 1611–1643.
- G. KOVAČIČ & T. A. WETTERGREN [1996]. Homoclinic orbits in the dynamics of resonantly driven coupled pendula, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 47, 221–264.
- G. KOVAČIČ & S. WIGGINS [1992]. Orbits homoclinic to resonances with an application to chaos in a model of the forced and damped Sine-Gordon equation, *Physica D* 57, 185–225.
- 40. P. A. LAGERSTROM [1988]. Matched Asymptotic Expansions: Ideas and Techniques, Springer: New York, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- L. M. LERMAN & IA. L. UMANSKI [1984]. On the existence of separatrix loops in four-dimensional systems similar to integrable Hamiltonian systems, *PMM U.S.S.R.* 47, 335–340.
- N. LEVINSON [1949]. A second order differential equation with singular solutions, Ann. Math. 50, 127–153.
- J. E. LITTLEWOOD [1957]. On non-linear differential equations of second order: III. Acta. Math. 97, 267–308.
- J. E. LITTLEWOOD [1957]. On non-linear differential equations of second order: IV. Acta. Math. 98, 1–110.
- X.-B. LIN [1990]. Heteroclinic bifurcation and singularly perturbed boundary value problems, J. Diff. Eqns. 84, 319–382.
- E. N. LORENZ [1986]. On the existence of a slow manifold. J. Atmos. Sci. 43, 1547–1557.
- V. K. MELNIKOV [1963]. On the stability of the center for time periodic perturbations, *Trans. Moscow Math.* 12, 1–57.

- 48. A. MIELKE, P. J. HOLMES & O. O'REILLY [1992]. Cascades of homoclinic orbits to, and chaos near, a Hamiltonian saddle-center, *J. Dyn. Diff. Eqns.* **4**, 95–126.
- 49. J. MOSER [1958]. On the generalization of a theorem of Liapounoff, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **11**, 257–271.
- 50. J. MOSER [1973]. *Stable and Random Motions in Dynamical Systems*, Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- K. J. PALMER [1984]. Exponential dichotomies and transversal homoclinic points, J. Diff. Eqns. 55, 225–256.
- 52. H. POINCARÉ [1899]. Les Méthodes Nouvelles de la Mécanique Celeste, 3 vols., Gauthier-Villars: Paris.
- P. H. RABINOWITZ [1989]. Periodic and homoclinic orbits for a periodic Hamiltonian system, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré 6, 331–346.
- P. H. RABINOWITZ [1990]. Homoclinic orbits for a class of Hamiltonian systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh 114 A, 33–38.
- 55. P. H. RABINOWITZ [1992]. Heteroclinics for a reversible Hamiltonian system, preprint.
- 56. P. H. RABINOWITZ [1992]. Heteroclinics for a reversible Hamiltonian system, 2, preprint.
- C. ROBINSON [1983]. Sustained resonance for a nonlinear system with slowly varying coefficients, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 14, 847–860.
- C. ROBINSON [1988]. Horseshoes for autonomous Hamiltonian systems using the Melnikov integral, *Ergod. Th. Dynam. Sys.* 8^{*}, 395–409.
- 59. V. ROM-KEDAR [1994]. Secondary homoclinic bifurcation theorems, *Chaos* 5, 385–401.
- H. RÜSSMANN [1964]. Über das Verhalten analytischer Hamiltonischer Differentialgleichungen in der Nähe einer Gleichgewichtslösung, *Math. Annalen* 154, 285– 300.
- 61. G. R. SELL [1985]. Smooth linearization near a fixed point, Amer. J. Math. 107, 1035–1091.
- C. L. SIEGEL & J. K. MOSER [1971]. Lectures on Celestial Mechanics, Springer: New York, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- L. P. ŠILNIKOV [1965]. A case of the existence of a denumerable set of periodic motions. Sov. Math. Dokl. 6, 163–166.
- L. P. ŠILNIKOV [1967]. The existence of a countable set of periodic motions in the neighborhood of a homoclinic curve. Sov. Math. Dokl. 8, 102–106.
- L. P. ŠILNIKOV [1970]. A contribution to the problem of the structure of an extended neighborhood of a rough equilibrium of saddle-focus type, *Math. USSR Sb.* 10, 91– 102.
- S. SMALE [1963]. Diffeomorphisms with many periodic points, in *Differential and Combinatorial Topology*, S. S. CAIRNS (Ed.), 63–80, Princeton Univ. Press: Princeton.
- 67. S. STERNBERG [1957]. Local contraction and a theorem of Poincaré, *Amer. J. Math.* **79**, 809–824.
- 68. S. STERNBERG [1958]. On the structure of local homeomorphisms of Euclidean *n*-space, *Amer. J. Math.* **80**, 623–631.
- 69. D. TERMAN [1992]. The transition from bursting to continuous spiking in excitable membrane models, *J. Nonlin. Sci.* **2**, 135–182.
- 70. S.-K. TIN [1994]. On the dynamics of tangent spaces near a normally hyperbolic invariant manifold, Ph.D. thesis, Brown University.
- S.-K. TIN [1995] Transversality of double-pulse homoclinic orbits in the inviscid Lorenz-Krishnamurthy system, *Physica D* 83, 383–408.
- 72. S.-K. TIN, N. KOPELL & C. K. R. T. JONES [1994]. Invariant manifolds and singularly perturbed boundary value problems, *SIAM J. Num. Anal.* **31**, 1558–1576.
- C. TRESSER [1984]. About some theorems by L. P. Šilnikov, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré 40, 440–461.

- 74. S. WIGGINS [1988]. *Global Bifurcations and Chaos: Analytical methods*, Springer: New York.
- Y. LI, D. W. MCLAUGHLIN, J. SHATAH & S. WIGGINS [1996]. Persistent homoclinic orbits for a perturbed nonlinear Schroedinger equation, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 49, 1175–1255.

Mathematics Department University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599-3250

Mathematical Sciences Department Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute Troy, New York 12180-3590

and

Mathematics Department University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109

(Accepted December 2, 1996)